
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: Democratic Services, Democratic Services (01254) 

380116/380109/380184 
Email: memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Wednesday, 15 February 2023 

Page 1 of 3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Council 
 
Thursday, 23 February 2023 at 7.00 pm, 
Council Chamber, Town Hall, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Councillor Abdul Khan (Mayor) in the Chair,  
Councillors Judith Addison, Dominik Allen, Josh Allen, Mohammad Ayub, Noordad Aziz, 
Scott Brerton, Peter Britcliffe, Danny Cassidy, Andrew Clegg, Jodi Clements, Loraine Cox, 
Paul Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP, Bernard Dawson MBE, Peter Edwards, Melissa Fisher, 
June Harrison, Marlene Haworth, Susan Hayes, Carole Haythornthwaite, Eamonn Higgins, 
Terry Hurn, Zak Khan, Sajid Mahmood, Patrick McGinley, Colin McKenzie, Caroline Montague, 
Miles Parkinson OBE, Joyce Plummer, Kath Pratt, Paddy Short, Steven Smithson, Kate Walsh and 
Kimberley Whitehead 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1.   Apologies for absence   
 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
NOTE: All Councillors have been granted a dispensation to speak and vote in relation to 
the following matters, which are relevant to the business due to be conducted during the 
meeting: 
 

 Setting Council Tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 1992, 
as amended from time to time or any superseding legislation. 

 

3.   Announcements   
 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 3 

 

a) Mayor 
 
b) Leader of the Council 
 
c) Chief Executive 
 

4.   Confirmation of Minutes  (Pages 5 - 12) 
 
To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the Council meeting held on 12th January 
2023. 
 

5.   Prudential Indicators Monitoring and Treasury Management Strategy - Update as at 
30 September 2022  (Pages 13 - 20) 
 
To note the attached report which was approved by the Cabinet on 25th January 2023. 
 

6.   Medium Term Financial Strategy 2023/24 to 2025/26 - February 2023 Update  (Pages 
21 - 60) 
 
To note the attached report which was approved by the Cabinet on 8th February 2023. 
 

7.   Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management & Investment Strategy 2023/24 - 
2025/26 Including Capital Strategy  (Pages 61 - 130) 
 
To consider the attached report and recommendations which were considered by the 
Cabinet on 8th February 2023 and which are referred to Council for approval. 
 

8.   General Fund - Revenue Budget, Council Tax Levels and Capital Programme 
2023/24  (Pages 131 - 170) 
 
To determine the General Revenue Budget, Council Tax Levels and Capital Programme 
for 2023/24.  In order to enable the Council to make the required decisions, the following 
documents are submitted:- 
 
a) General Fund - Revenue Budget 2023/24 

 
The proposals put forward by the Cabinet on 8th February 2023 are set out in the 
attached report.  The final proposals of the controlling administration will be 
submitted in advance of the meeting. 

 
b) New Scheme Additions to the Capital Programme in 2023/24 

 
The proposals put forward by the Cabinet on 8th February 2023 are set out in the 
attached report.  The final proposals of the controlling administration will be 
submitted in advance of the meeting. 

 
c) Comments and Recommendations of Overview and Scrutiny 

 
The Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee will meet on 16th February 2023 to 



 

Page 3 of 3 

 

consider the budget proposals for 2023/24.  The Committee’s comments will be 
reported in advance of the meeting. 

 
NOTE: In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2014, a recorded vote will be required in respect of this 
decision. 
 

 
 
 

 
Chief Executive 
Scaitcliffe House, 
Ormerod Street, 
ACCRINGTON BB5 OPF 
 
Wednesday, 15 February 2023 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
COUNCIL 

 

 
Thursday, 12th January, 2023 

 
Present:  Councillor Abdul Khan (Mayor), Councillors Judith Addison, Dominik Allen, 

Mohammad Ayub, Noordad Aziz, Scott Brerton, Peter Britcliffe, 
Danny Cassidy, Andrew Clegg, Jodi Clements, Loraine Cox, Paul Cox, 
Munsif Dad BEM JP, Bernard Dawson MBE, Peter Edwards, 
Melissa Fisher, June Harrison, Marlene Haworth, Susan Hayes, 
Carole Haythornthwaite, Terry Hurn, Zak Khan, Caroline Montague, 
Miles Parkinson OBE, Joyce Plummer, Kath Pratt, Paddy Short, 
Steven Smithson, Kate Walsh and Kimberley Whitehead 
 

Apologies: Councillors Josh Allen, Eamonn Higgins, Sajid Mahmood and 
Colin McKenzie 

  

 
The Mayor wished all present a happy and prosperous New Year. 

 
243 Apologies for absence 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Josh Allen, 
Eamonn Higgins, Sajid Mahmood and Colin McKenzie. 
 

244 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no declarations of interest or dispensations notified. 
 

245 Announcements 
 
The Mayor made the following announcements: 
 
1) Christmas Events 
 
The Mayor considered that it had been a privilege to be able to attend a number of the 
Christmas lights switch-on events, including the main fireworks extravaganza in Accrington 
and some of the excellent celebrations in the Borough’s townships, such as the one in 
Great Harwood.  He acknowledged that many of the councillors present tonight had been 
involved in the arrangements for the local switch-ons and he thanked them all for making 
these events a great success.  The Mayor added that it had been a pleasure to be able to 
attend the Blessing of the Crib on the Town Square in Accrington and engagements with 
community groups such as Elmfield Hall Christmas Markets, the Visually Impaired Social 
Group Christmas Party and a Community Carol Service at St Pauls Oswaldtwistle, to name 
but a few. 
 
He also thanked the Market Hall and Events staff and the Council’s partners at Hyndburn 
Leisure and Amazing Accrington for the wonderful attractions laid on in Accrington Town 
Centre over the festive period. 
 
2) Queen’s Platinum Jubilee Awards 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

The Mayor had been delighted to host a presentation ceremony for the Queen’s Platinum 
Jubilee Awards on 8th December at the Haworth Art Gallery, which had been the perfect 
venue for this intimate event.  The awards had honoured around 20 unsung heroes 
nominated by the community who had all given up their time as volunteers across a wide 
range of activities.   Winners had demonstrated excellence in either supporting local people 
in need, or enhancing people’s lifestyles, or in contributing to the Borough’s rich cultural 
heritage. 
 
The evening had gone very well and the fact that their deeds were being recognised had 
really been appreciated by the award recipients.  Overall, it had been a great way to say 
thank you to just a few of Hyndburn’s huge army of volunteers. 
 
The Mayor also thanked his Mayoral Charity Committee, Sarah Barton, Rawden Kerr and 
Councillors Mohammad Ayub and Kimberley Whitehead, who had participated in the 
difficult process of selecting the winners from a long list of nominees.  Their support had 
been invaluable.  However, the Mayor expressed some sadness and disappointment that a 
number of his Committee Members had been unable to speak at the ceremony, due to 
circumstances beyond his control. 
 
3) Forthcoming Events 
 
The Mayor was now looking forward to getting back into the swing of things in 2023, with 
new engagement requests already starting to filter through.  He also highlighted his own 
Mayor’s Ball, which was due to take place on Friday 10th March from 6.15pm, in the Town 
Hall’s lovely Ballroom.  The event would be compered by BBC Radio Lancashire presenter, 
Stephen Lowe, and would feature Asian themed cuisine, an auction and live entertainment 
by accomplished singer, Gavin Young. 
 
The event should be a memorable occasion for all and would help to raise money for the 
Mayor’s chosen charities: 
 

 McMillan Cancer Research; 

 Lancashire Air Ambulance; 

 East Lancashire Hospice; and 

 Accrington & District Blind Society. 
 
Everyone was encouraged to attend and to spread the word among friends and family. 
 
4) Dress Code 
 
Finally, the Mayor remarked that he had noticed that Members were sometimes wearing 
more casual attire when attending Council meetings.  He reminded everyone that the 
Council’s Dress Code required councillors to respect the dignity of official meetings by 
wearing smart/formal clothing, which was considered appropriate for the occasion. 
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, made the following 
announcements. 
 
5) The Year Ahead 
 
The Leader of the Council also welcomed in the New Year.  He commented that this could 
be a difficult year for residents due to the cost of living increases.  Accordingly, the Council; 
aimed to set a 0% Council Tax rise at its February meeting.  This was possible due to good 
financial management by officers and the Portfolio Holder.  The Council Tax freeze was set 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
3 

against the backdrop of the rising cost of materials, energy prices and staffing costs, which 
were being absorbed by the Council.  More would be a said about this at the forthcoming 
Cabinet (Budget Meeting).  Hyndburn was one of only a few councils nationally who had 
committed to keeping Council Tax increases at less than the rate of inflation. 
 
6) Update on Working with Accrington Stanley FC 
 
The Leader referred to statements circulated recently, in which it had been announced that 
Accrington Stanley Football Club (ASFC) and Hyndburn Borough Council were committed 
to working in partnership to resolve complaints of noise disturbance, due to live bands at 
Coley’s Bar.  For several months officers at Hyndburn Borough Council had been working 
with ASFC and residents to ensure a positive outcome for all. 
 
A statement from Andy Holt, the club’s chairman and owner, noted: 
 
“My ambition for Accrington Stanley has always been to establish the club, and its facilities, 
as a place people are proud to visit and call home.  Coley’s bar has been a wonderful 
addition at the ground and in efforts to expand our offering we have recently run a series of 
new events, including live bands. 
 
This has caused some noise disturbance and we made the decision to cancel upcoming 
live music events until a solution could be found.  The club and its facilities are here to 
serve the community, for me that includes ensuring people can enjoy their homes when not 
attending events too. 
 
After discussion with leaders and officers at Hyndburn Council I am pleased to say progress 
has been made.  I am reassured that together we will find a solution that works for both the 
club and the community going forward.” 
 
Accrington Stanley had subsequently instructed sound experts, who would work alongside 
the Council, to offer advice and propose solutions.  In the coming weeks testing would take 
place to determine if the sound could be mitigated, through sound limiters or changing the 
location of the staging during events. 
 
A statement from Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of Hyndburn Council, added: 
 
“Leaders at Hyndburn Council have been working cross-party to find a solution to this issue.  
We know the work Stanley do is incredibly valuable to our community and economy, which 
is why we support their efforts at every opportunity.  As a local Authority we must adhere to 
our statutory duties, which includes investigating noise complaints and supporting 
organisations to find solutions to any issues.  I am very pleased that we are moving forward 
and hopeful for a resolution that works for everyone. 
 
We are grateful to Andy and the team at Accrington Stanley for everything they do in 
Hyndburn.  I am looking forward to seeing this important community venue go from strength 
to strength and we will continue to support their efforts.” 
 
7) King George V Playing Field 
 
A priority for 2023 was to return the King George V Playing Field back into use.  The 
facilities were set up for grass-surface sports, but following investigations, the drainage was 
no longer fit for purpose and, therefore, needed repairing and up-grading before the field 
could be used again. 
 

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
4 

The Leader would be inviting Cabinet and Council to consider allocating funds for the 
required drainage work as part of the 2023/24 budget setting process. 
 
Further to these plans to upgrade the playing fields, the Council was in discussion with 
Accrington Football and Sports Club about a potential new exciting partnership.  Accrington 
Football and Sports Club was a core part of the local community and the authority wanted 
to support its growth and the great work that it did.  The club currently ran the football 
facilities at Livingstone Road in Accrington.  
 
The proposed new partnership would see Accrington Football and Sports Club enter into a 
long-term agreement with the Council to provide football and potentially other sports 
opportunities that would be open to the whole community at King George V Playing Field.  
This partnership and relocation of the club would not only mean King George V Playing 
Fields were fully utilised going forward, but could create a potential opportunity for the 
Livingstone Road site, which could support Accrington Stanley FC.  
 
It was acknowledged that there were match day parking problems around the football 
grounds on Livingstone Road, especially when the opposition drew a large crowd.  The 
Council wanted to support the town’s local professional football team as much as possible.  
Accordingly, the Leader was keen to explore the option of the Livingstone Road site, which 
was close to the Wham Stadium, being utilised as coach and car parking on match days. 
 
The discussions with both Accrington Football and Sports Club and Accrington Stanley FC 
were in the early stages, but the Leader undertook to keep everyone updated as and when 
there were any developments. 
 
8) Hippings Vale Plans and Youth Vision 
 
There was some excellent news to share following a recent Cabinet meeting.  At that 
meeting various bids had been considered for the future use of Hippings Vale Community 
Centre, in Oswaldtwistle.  It had been agreed that a lease of the property would be awarded 
to NW RFCA (The Reserves Forces’ & Cadets’ Association for the Northwest of England & 
the Isle of Man).  This was subject to negotiations and a lease was planned to be finalised 
in the coming months.  
 
The lessees had been selected due to their long and successful track record of delivering 
training, mentoring and support to people in and around Hyndburn.  Currently their 
membership included over 60 young people, aged 12-18 from the community, and they 
planned to increase this.  The plans included giving those young people experience in 
various adventurous and military activities, delivered by Cadet Force volunteers.  
 
Supporting young people and creating new opportunities in the Borough was something 
that the Leader of the Council was committed to.  With this in mind, the Leader placed on 
record his commitment to working with the community and businesses to create a Youth 
Zone in the future.  It was recognised that Accrington Stanley had aspirations to enhance 
and increase the provision for young people in Hyndburn.  The Leader shared this vision 
and in the future hoped to see the Council working closely with a partner organisation to 
make this a reality. 
 
9) New Footpath and Cycleway 
 
The Council was continually looking into ways to improve wellbeing and healthy outcomes 
for all residents across Hyndburn and it was hoped to be able to share another update in 
the coming weeks about a proposed new 3.3km footpath and cycleway to connect Burnley 
Road and the bridge in Altham to the Borough boundary with Burnley.  This would be a 

Page 8



 
 
 

 

 
5 

fantastic addition to the Borough, providing off-road connectivity and adding to the canal 
towpath improvements that had already been completed in Hyndburn.  
 
10) Lancashire 2050 Strategic Framework 
 
Copies of a new publication setting out the Lancashire 2050 Strategic Framework were 
circulated.  The Leader reported that Councillor Marlene Haworth, Deputy Leader of the 
Council and Councillor Peter Britcliffe, Deputy Leader of the Conservative Group, had 
visited London recently to support the proposals.  All councils in Lancashire had signed up 
to this exciting vision.  The document was also available for the public to view on-line. 
 
11) Sale of Land to Local Mosque Committee 
 
An outline agreement had recently been reached to sell an area of Council owned land to 
the Local Mosque Committee, which would enable improvements around the Raza Jamia 
mosque for the benefit of the community. 
 
12) Accrington Stanley Community Trust – Extension to Facilities 
 
This morning, the Leader had visited Higham Playing Field to view the new building 
extension to the facilities provided by Accrington Stanley Community Trust.  It was hoped 
that the extension would be opened in March 2023.  The construction was part of around 
£3M overall investment in the site in recent years. 
 
The Leader summed up by acknowledging that the community and businesses were 
currently facing some economic challenges, but the Council was doing its best to provide 
support and there were plenty of good news stories to celebrate. 
 
The Chief Executive, Mr David Welsby, made the following announcement. 
 
13) Levelling Up Funding 
 
The MP for Hyndburn, Sara Britcliffe, had recently asked a question in the House of 
Commons about the likely date for a decision on the grant of Levelling Up Funding.  The 
relevant Minister had confirmed that councils would know who had been successful before 
the end of January.  Officers would let councillors know of any announcement, as soon as 
possible. 
 

246 Confirmation of Minutes 
 
The Minutes of the Council meeting held on 3rd November and the Special Council meeting 
held on 1st December 2022 were provided. 
 
In respect of Minute 178(4) – Leisure Transformation Programme, the Leader of the Council 
reminded Members that they were due to receive a presentation next week on behalf of the 
Hyndburn Leisure.  The improvement of leisure facilities was an important step towards 
enhancing the wellbeing of residents.  The area currently had one of the worst indicators of 
health in the country.  The proposals would involve some £12M investment in a new 
swimming pool at Wilsons Playing Field.  A planning application was due to be submitted 
shortly.  This would complement the two other pools in the Borough, comprising the one at 
Hyndburn Leisure Centre and a second one operated by Hyndburn Leisure at Accrington 
Academy.  The decision to close the pool at Mercer Hall had been difficult, as the facilities 
were well liked, but the building would be repurposed.  It was noted that Hyndburn 
compared favourably with Ribble Valley, which had only one public swimming pool at 
Edisford Bridge. 

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
6 

 
In addition, there was a lot of investment in sport planned in partnership with Lancashire 
County Council around youth sport.  Plans also included the rejuvenation of facilities in 
Rishton, with proposed investment in Hyndburn Academy. 
 
Overall, Hyndburn Leisure was working hard to attract investment into the Borough.  Few 
local authority areas were actively growing their leisure offer, but Hyndburn was planning to 
open new facilities and was seeking further investment. 
 
In connection with Minute 178(5) – Local Plan, the Leader remarked that the consultation 
stage was coming to an end. The last public engagement meeting in Huncoat had now 
taken place.  It was important for those who had not yet had their say to comment.  The 
Plan would be progressed further in March and would then be submitted to an Inspector, 
who might recommend further change prior to additional consultation and the final 
submission to the Secretary of State. 
 
Overall the Plan would deliver moderate growth in housing, mostly delivered within the 
existing urban boundaries and through use of brownfield land at the former Huncoat Power 
Station site.  In respect of employment land the situation was more difficult.  The authority 
did not want to allow significant development with the towns and the most favourable option 
was to focus on employment land close to the M65 junctions.  The original purpose of the 
motorway was to increase employment and the route of the motorway necessarily passed 
through green belt land.  Accordingly the major employment land development would need 
to be on green belt sites. 
 
The population figure for the Borough was now stabilising and had recently increased by 
around 1%.  There was a need to provide aspirational housing, which could be delivered 
with a net gain to the environment and which was of a high specification.  The Chair of the 
Board of Governors of the local school in Huncoat was enthusiastic about the proposed 
housing growth, although it was acknowledged that not everyone would be in favour. 
 
An overriding consideration of the Local Plan was, that if no new development took place, 
businesses would not be retained and residents would move away.  The new Local Plan 
would run until 2037.  Thereafter, the decisions about site allocations would be more 
difficult and it might become necessary to increase the size of the footprint of existing 
towns. 
 
It was likely that it would be a further year before the final Local Plan would be signed off. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes of the Council meetings held on 3rd 

November and 1st December 2022 be approved as 
correct records. 

 
247 Question Time 

 
The Mayor reported that no questions had been submitted under this Agenda Item. 

 
248 Appointments to Committees 

 
Members considered a request submitted by the Leader of the Labour Group, Councillor 
Munsif Dad BEM JP, on behalf of that group, to give effect to a change to the membership 
of the Planning Committee, to replace Councillor Jodi Clements with Councillor Kimberley 
Whitehead. 
 

Page 10



 
 
 

 

 
7 

The authority was under a duty in accordance with s.16(1) of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 to give effect to the wishes of the political group concerned in the filling of 
any seats allocated to it. 
 
Resolved - That a change to the membership of the Planning 

Committee, to replace Councillor Jodi Clements with 
Councillor Kimberley Whitehead, be approved with 
immediate effect. 

 
249 Minutes of Cabinet 

 
The minutes of the meetings of Cabinet held on 30th November and 7th December 2022 
were submitted. 
 
In respect of Minute 209 – Reports of Cabinet Members, The Leader reminded Members 
that, although the Lvelling Up Funding announcement was still awaited, the Council had 
already received the news of its successful bid under the UK Shared Prosperity Fund in the 
sum of around £3M.  The Leader outlined the various projects that would be supported by 
the funding and the grant amounts awarded.  The schemes supported included the 
following: 
 
Business Support: Growth and New Business 
 

 Boost (business support); 

 Economic Development Function; 

 International Trade Support; 

 Tourism Attractions/Marketing; 

 
Business Support: Low Carbon 
 

 Business Support for Net Zero and Transition & Decarbonisation; 

 New Low Carbon Technology; 

 
Regeneration 
 

 Support for proposals to ‘Green’ the town centre and improve the Accrington Pals 

Memorial Garden; 

 Offer £75k each to the Market Hall and Burtons Chambers as first-year 

incentive/promotion packages in advance of the buildings opening; 

 Support the Arts, Culture and Heritage package; 

 Support the Arndale Masterplan. 

 
In respect of the Arndale Masterplan, it was envisaged that the building would be 
repurposed.  Accordingly, the Council would seek to engage with the owners about the way 
forward. 
 
The above-mentioned projects and the anticipated Levelling Up monies would help to kick-
start the Accrington Town Centre Investment Plan.  The Plan was partnership-led and its 
ambitions were likely to take many years to come to fruition.  However, all of the projects 
had been costed up, so as to be ready to be rolled out.  Not every scheme could be tackled 
within the resources currently available, but the authority was actively seeking additional 
funding. 
 

Page 11



 
 
 

 

 
8 

The overall picture for the regeneration of the Borough was good news, with successful 
bids already achieved by Hyndburn Leisure and the Council and with optimism around 
complementary bids by Lancashire County Council.  A bid of around £30M would soon be 
submitted for the infrastructure required to realise the Huncoat Garden Village 
development.  The Leader urged all councillors to support the bids being submitted. 
 
The Leader also thanked Councillors Paul Cox and Marlene Haworth for their continuous 
support for rent concessions for the indoor Market Hall traders. 
 
The proof of a workable Plan for regeneration was plain for all to see. 
 
With regard to Minute 214 – Memorial Park Heritage Lottery Bid, the Leader thanked the 
community of Great Harwood and the Friends of Memorial Park for their support which had 
led to the current proposals.  The bid would be the first phase in the regeneration of the 
park and the Council was keen to work with the relevant partners to develop a second 
phase of improvements.  The Council’s overall plan was to refurbish other parks across the 
Borough and the various proposals were already fully detailed and costed. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and noted. 
 

250 Minutes of Committees 
 
The Minutes of the following meetings were submitted: 
 

Meeting (Municipal Year 2022/23) Date 

Standards Hearing Sub-Committee 20th October 2022 

Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 20th October 2022 

Cabinet (Street Naming) Committee 26th October 2022 

Planning Committee 1st November 2022 

Judicial Committee (Private Hire and Hackney Carriage licensing) 21st November 2022 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 14th December 2022 

 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and noted. 
 
The Mayor thanked all for their attendance and reminded Members that the next Council 
meeting would be the Budget meeting due to be held on 23rd February 2023. 
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
at which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 12



1 
 

   

REPORT TO: COUNCIL 

DATE: 23rd February 2023 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Joyce Plummer - Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: C Worthington – Principal Accountant / A Martin – 
Principal Accountant 

M Dyson  – Executive Director - Resources 

TITLE OF REPORT: Prudential Indicators Monitoring and Treasury 
Management Strategy Update 

EXEMPT REPORT:  No 
 

 

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

This report updates Cabinet on activities in this area since the start of this financial year.   
 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 
  
2.1 To note the report. 
 
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
3.1 To keep Cabinet updated on the activities in the report. 
 
4. BACKGROUND 
 
4.1       The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities requires the Council to set 

Prudential Indicators annually for the forthcoming three years to demonstrate that the Council’s 
capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable. The Council adopted its 
current prudential indicators at its meeting in February 2022. 

 
4.2        The Prudential Code requires the Council, having agreed at least a minimum number of 

mandatory prudential indicators (including limits and statements), to monitor them - in a locally 
determined format and frequency.  This half-year report to Cabinet complements a more 
regular review by the Deputy Chief Executive / Executive Director (Resources). 

 
4.3       The indicators are purely for internal use and not designed to be used as comparators between 

authorities.   If it should be necessary to revise any of the indicators during the year, the 
Executive Director of Resources will report and advise the Council further.  

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5.



2 
 

4.4       ‘Treasury Management’   relates to the borrowing and cash activities of the authority, and the   
effective management of any associated risks.    On 24th February 2022 in the same report 
referred to at 4.1 above the Council also set out and then approved its current Treasury 
Management Strategy.  This was in accordance with the CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance & Accountancy) code of practice on treasury management in public services, the 
Council having previously adopted, via Cabinet, the then revised code of practice.  Associated 
treasury management Prudential Indicators were included in the February 2021 report. 

 
5. PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS MONITORING  
 
5.1      Table 1 and Table 2 (Appendix 1) show the monitoring information for each of the prudential 

indicators, limits and statements.   They relate to: 

 External debt overall limits – Table 1    

 Affordability   (eg implications for Council Tax) – Table 2 

 Prudence and sustainability  (eg implications for external borrowing) 

 Capital expenditure  

 Other particular indicators for Treasury Management.   
 
6. TREASURY MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 
6.1      Current Treasury Position 
 

 
Portfolio Position 2022/23 
 

Original 
Estimate 
2022/23 

£000 

Projected 
Outturn 
2022/23 

£000 

External Debt 
Debt at 1st April 
Expected Change in Debt 
Other Long Term Liabilities 

 
9,595 

- 
612 

 
9,595 

- 
493 

Gross Debt at 31st March 10,207 10,088 

Capital Financing Requirement  (CFR) 8,776 8,657 

Under / (over) borrowing (1,431) (1,431) 

 
TOTAL INVESTMENTS (other than short-term) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
6.2 As can be seen from the above table we are performing within the original targets set at the 

start of the year.  Within the prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to ensure 
that the Council operates its activities within well-defined limits. In general the requirement is 
that CFR exceeds gross debt. However in 2022/23 the gross debt will exceed CFR.  This is due 
to the annual payment of Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). Other Liabilities reflect the 
transfer of contract hire leases to balance sheet to comply with IFRS16.  

 
6.3 The requirement to have CFR exceed Gross Debt centres around providing an assurance that 

borrowing is not taking place for Revenue purposes.  However, as the Council is not borrowing 
additional funds at this time, this is not an issue.  

6.4  The current position of the treasury function, and its expected change in the future, introduces 
risk to the Council from an adverse movement in interest rates.  The Prudential Code is 

Page 14



3 
 

constructed on the basis of affordability, part of which is related to borrowing costs and 
investment returns.   

 
6.5 The Capital Programme 2022/23 will be funded by the use of Government Grants (including 

New Homes Bonus Grant and S31 Grants) and other external financing. It will also be 
supported during the year by greater use of internal sources of capital finance (including capital 
receipts reserve) because of the reduced level of external grant allocation. It is not anticipated 
currently that any capital borrowing will be required. 

 
7 Expected movement in interest rates 
 
7.1 The Council appointed Link Asset Services as treasury adviser to the Council and part of their 

service is to assist the Council in formulating a view on interest rates.  The following table gives 
Link’s latest available view of the expected future movement in interest rates, from quarter 
ending 31st December 2022 (their Qtr3 2022) onwards.  

   

 Qtr 3 
2022 

Qtr 4 
2022 

Qtr 1 
2023 

Qtr 2 
2023 

Qtr 3 
2023 

Qtr 4 
2023 

Qtr 1 
2024 

Qtr 2 
2024 

Qtr 3 
2024 

Qtr 4 
2024 

Base 
Rate 

3.50% 4.25% 4.50% 4.50% 4.50% 4.00% 3.75% 3.50% 3.25% 3.00% 

5 yr 
PWLB 

4.30% 4.30% 4.20% 4.10% 4.00% 3.90% 3.80% 3.60% 3.50% 3.40% 

10 yr 
PWLB 

4.50% 4.50% 4.40% 4.30% 4.20% 4.00% 3.90% 3.70% 3.60% 3.50% 

25 yr 
PWLB 

4.70% 4.70% 4.60% 4.50% 4.40% 4.30% 4.10% 4.00% 3.90% 3.70% 

50 yr 
PWLB 

4.30% 4.40% 4.30% 4.20% 4.10% 4.00% 3.80% 3.70% 3.60% 3.40% 

 
7.2 The latest forecast sets out a view that both short and long-dated interest rates will be elevated 

as the Bank of England seeks to squeeze inflation out of the economy.  This has happened but 
the new Government’s policy of emphasising fiscal rectitude probably means the Bank Rate 
does not now need to increase to further than 4.5%. 

 
7.3 The Council’s exposure to interest rate movements is largely neutralised currently as our 

borrowings are effectively at a fixed rate until a trigger point is reached, where the lender 
believes a better rate can be achieved elsewhere.  Interest rates would have to exceed 4% and 
possibly 5% before this is likely to happen. The above table indicates that this is unlikely to 
happen in the next few years. 

 
7.4       The Council has invested relatively small amounts of surplus cash on a short-term, temporary 

basis. The interest received from these investments is above the budgeted expectations for the 
six months to 30 September, mainly due to the Bank of England increasing the interest rates.  
Our strategy continues to focus on the security of deposits and the liquidity of funds.  The 
additional interest generated as a result of rate increases is forecast to be in the region of £200k 
for the year ending March 2023.  This increase will offset the additional inflation pressures in the 
current year and future year’s financial forecasts. 

 
7.5       The Council continues to invest surplus cash in the top rated financial institutions.  We continue 

to spread our money around a number of institutions to ensure that we are not potentially 
damaged by the unforeseen collapse of any one bank.  Deposits are also held with banks 
where we believe that the respective governments are likely to be able to guarantee deposits in 
the event of bank failure.  This strategy is continuing to yield an appropriate rate of return, 

Page 15



4 
 

though at a lower rate, as there is less risk attached to these deposits.  We also operate a policy 
of holding no more than £2m in any one bank (with the exception of the liquidity account held 
with Nat West Bank where the limit is £3m) to ensure that the risk is spread.  

 
7.6 It is recommended that the policy on external investment is changed by increasing the 

maximum limit for investment with the Governments Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility 
(DMADF) from £2m to unlimited.  This will allow greater flexibility for placing of funds with 
potential for higher returns with minimal risk. This recommendation will be included in the 
updated Treasury Management Strategy to be approved at full Budget Council in February 
2023. 

 
8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REASONS FOR REJECTION 
             

None applicable. 
 
9.        CONSULTATIONS 
 

None applicable in this instance. 
 
10.        IMPLICATIONS 
    

Financial (Including 
any future financial 
commitments for the 
Council) 

There are none arising directly from this report. 

Legal and human 
rights implications 

The Local Government Act 2003 (part 1) and associated 
regulations gave statutory recognition to the Prudential Code - 
therefore there is a statutory backing to the background and local 
purpose of the report.   
Treasury Management activities of local authorities are prescribed 
by statute – the source of powers is, in England & Wales, the 
2003 Act.    ‘Statutory Guidance’ on investment is given by the 
MHCLG to local authorities.  

Assessment of risk There are inherent risks in capital finance and treasury 
management.  When appropriate the risks are identified and 
assessed as part of the various recommendations made on 
Prudential Capital Finance and in the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy. 

Equality and diversity 
implications 

There are no specific implications for customers’ equality and 
diversity arising directly from the recommendations in this report 

 
 

12. LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
 

 Background papers are the legislation referred to in section 10 above, and the report 
approved by Council on 24th February 2022. 

 Part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003 and related regulations 

 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (CIPFA 2017) 

 The Council’s Policy Statement on Treasury Management (Full Council February 2022) 

 The Councils Policy on Treasury Management Practices ( Full Council February 2022) 
 
 

Page 16

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/26/contents
http://www.cipfa.org/Policy-and-Guidance/Publications/T/The-Prudential-Code-for-Capital-Finance-in-Local-Authorities-2011-Edition-Book
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/documents/s15656/PIs%20and%20TMI%20Strategy%20202223-202425%20-%20Main%20Report%20and%20Appendices%201%202.pdf
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/documents/s15656/PIs%20and%20TMI%20Strategy%20202223-202425%20-%20Main%20Report%20and%20Appendices%201%202.pdf


5 
 

13. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 
 

The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 
 
Contact Officer(s):     
   Martin Dyson, Head of Accountancy Services,  tel  380973 (internal 2973) 
   Carol Worthington, Principal Financial Accountant, tel 380124 (internal 2124) 
   Amanda Martin, Principal Accountant (Capital),  tel  380668 (internal 2668) 
 
 

Page 17



6 
 

 
                                                                                                                                          Appendix  1                                                          
 

TABLE 1     
      

 TREASURY MANAGEMENT INDICATORS     

 Prudential Indicators – actual and projected 

Original 
Indicator 
Estimate 
2022/23 

£'000 

Actual 6 
months 
£'000 

Projected 
Outturn 
2022/23 

£'000 Note 

           

 External Debt - Gross Borrowing 10,207 10,088 10,088 1 

 Authorised limit for external debt 35,000 35,000 35,000   

 Operational boundary for external debt 20,000 20,000 20,000   

 Maximum principal sum invested >364 days 0 0 0   

 Limit on fixed interest rate for net borrowing 100% 57% 100%  2  

 Limit on variable interest rate for net borrowing 100% 43% 43% 2 

           

 Maturity structure of borrowing limits (Upper Limit)        

  Under 12 months 43% 43% 43% 3 

  12 months - 24 months 0% 0% 0%   

  24 months - 5 years 0% 0% 0%   

  5 years - 10 years 0% 0% 0%   

  10 years and above 57% 57% 100%   

      

 
1. Includes the minor portion of borrowing from Charities (Internal Borrowing) - approximately £70k.  The 

debt is based on the capital value of mainly loans outstanding and does not include accrued interest or 
effective rate of interest adjustment (accounting adjustments to be made).  
No temporary borrowing is expected. 
The figure also reflects the liability for finance leases. Several leases have had their terms extended 
rather than be replaced due to the Coronavirus situation. 
Contract hire leases are also included in this figure to comply with IFRS requirements 

 
2. In 2016/17 Barclays notified Hyndburn that they will class £5.4m LOBO debt as fixed rate debt.  The 

interest rate has remained the same.  The balance of debt outstanding remains as LOBO’s which are 
classed as variable.  It is not expected that these loans will be “called” and repaid during 2022/23.  
However the projection reflects that this may be a possibility (depending on movements within the 
market) and replaced with fixed rate debt. 

 
3. Borrowings of £4.12m are via LOBO agreements.  As they have a call period of 6 month intervals they 

are classed as borrowing under 12 months.  £5.4m former Barclays LOBO’s are classed as long term 
debt.  

Page 18



7 
 

 
 
 

                                                                                                                               Appendix 1 cont’d 
 
 

TABLE 2     

 CAPITAL FINANCE PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS    
 
 

 Prudential Indicators - Latest Estimate 

Original 
Indicator 
Estimate 
2022/23 

£'000 

Latest 
Estimate 
2022/23 

£'000 Note  

 Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 8,776 8,657 1  

 Estimated Capital Expenditure   38,594 7,242 2  

 Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream  4% 4%   

      

      
 

1. The capital financing requirement (CFR) includes the finance lease position for the Council. CFR is a 
prescribed measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by an authority which has to be 
financed. 
The increase in CFR reflects the transfer of contract hire leases to comply with IFRS16 requirements. 
 

2. Approved capital programme, including slippage b/fwd and additional fully funded schemes. 
The reduction in estimated capital expenditure reflects the expected slippage regarding schemes to be 
funded from levelling up funds. 
 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 4 
 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 8 February 2023 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Joyce Plummer - Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Martin Dyson 

Executive Director - Resources 

TITLE OF REPORT: Medium Term Financial Strategy  

2023/2024 to 2025/2026 

February 2023 Update 

EXEMPT REPORT  

(Local Government 

Act 1972, Schedule 

12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

1.1 The report informs the Cabinet of the 3-year projections of income and 
expenditure for the Council ahead of formulating its 2023/24 Revenue and 
Capital Budgets. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 The Cabinet approves the report and the accompanying Medium Term 

Financial Strategy (MTFS). 
 
3. SUMMARY  
 
3.1 The Medium Term Financial Strategy is attached to this report. 

4. DETAIL 
 
4.1 See the attached report on the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

5. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
5.1 The Cabinet requires an update on its medium term financial outlook ahead of 

setting the Budget for 2023/24 and determining the level of Council Tax for 
the new financial year.  This report also ensures those decisions are taken 
with a view to the overall position of the Council going forward and are not 
limited to a narrow one-year perspective. 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6.



Page 2 of 4 
 

6. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REASONS FOR 
REJECTION 

 
6.1 Not applicable  

7. IMPLICATIONS 

 

Issue Comments 

Financial (inc mainstreaming) As outlined in the report 

Legal (including Human 
Rights Act requirements) 

Not applicable  

Assessment of Risk The Report contributes to the effective risk 
management of the Council by contributing to the 
overall financial context in which the Council 
takes budgetary and other operational decisions. 

 
The MTFS is revised on a regular basis to ensure 
it remains current and that changes in the 
financial outlook of the Council over the Medium 
Term are communicated to Members and 
appropriate action taken. 
 

Equality : Customer First 
Analysis 

Not applicable as this report is for information 
only. 

Key Decision No 
 

 
8.  CONSULTATIONS 

 
8.1 Service Managers and their key staff are consulted during the early work on 

the compilation of the MTFS.  CMT and Senior Councillors are regularly 
engaged in formulating forward views and policy objectives and these are 
taken into consideration when formulating the MTFS.    

9. LINKS TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

 
The Medium Term Financial Strategy report links to all corporate priorities in 
determining the future revenue projections and risks to be considered in 
financial planning over the financial years ahead. 

10. LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 

 
10.1 List of Background Papers   

 Hyndburn BC Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2022/23 to          2024/25  Cabinet 9th February 
2022 Agenda Item X 
 

 

Page 22

https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/documents/b6829/Cabinet%20Supplemental%20Agenda%20-%2010th%20February%202021%2010th-Feb-2021%2015.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/documents/b6829/Cabinet%20Supplemental%20Agenda%20-%2010th%20February%202021%2010th-Feb-2021%2015.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/documents/b6829/Cabinet%20Supplemental%20Agenda%20-%2010th%20February%202021%2010th-Feb-2021%2015.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9


Page 3 of 4 
 

11. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 

 
11.1 The report does not contain any exempt information under the Local 

Government Act 1972; Schedule 12a and all information can be disclosed 
under the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

12.  Equality Impact Assessment 

 
12.1 There are no specific measures within the report that require an Equality 

Impact Assessment.  Individual proposals stemming from the budgetary 
process will be Equality Impact Assessed as required over the coming 
months. 

Page 23



1 
 

 
 
 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

MEDIUM TERM 

 

FINANCIAL STRATEGY 

 

February 2023 

 
 

Page 24



2 
 

1. SUMMARY  

1.1 The Council’s activities and finances have been dominated this year by the 

continuing impact of COVID 19 and the economic consequences of the 

Russian Invasion of Ukraine. 

1.2. It is expected that these two linked key events and their consequences will 

continue to have a major impact on the Council’s finances for at least the next 

financial year as a minimum, with the potential for the effects to continue 

much longer. 

1.3. In response to the great uncertainty the Council faces we will operate a roll 

forward Budget for 2023/24 based on the 2022/23 Budget adjusted for 

changes to salary and wages, energy and other cost pressures and 

anticipated changes to our income from the Government.  This provides 

Service Managers a fixed reference point from which to continue to respond 

to the inflationary pressures we now face and allows a degree of stability for 

one further year, while we recover from another year of significant challenges.  

To achieve a balanced Budget during the year the Council will need to 

generate £115,279 of internal savings during the year. Overall expenditure will 

need to be contained at around £14.38m in 2023/24 to set a balanced budget. 

1.4. If necessary, the Council may have to use some of its Reserves to help 

balance the Budget.  This is particularly likely if the Government reduces the 

amount of financial support, it provides the Council or reduces the amount of 

Business Rates it is allowed to retain.  Additionally, it may be necessary to 

use Reserves if it is believed that in the current economic climate it would be 

inappropriate to raise Council Tax. 

1.5. The Council will face significant financial challenges over the next three years 

as it overcomes the consequence of COVID 19 and the War in Ukraine.  

Addressing the impact of any proposed Government funding reforms and 

increased pressures on spending will present it with further challenges over 

this period.  As the extent of the Government financial reforms are unclear at 

this time and are unlikely to emerge until December 2023 at the earliest, this 

produces great uncertainty and potentially significant variance around the 

forecasts contained in the MTFS.  

1.6. Previously, for the last four years the expectation has been that the 

Government would implement what it termed as a “Fair Funding Review of 

Local Government Finance.” This proposal would effectively end the Revenue 

Support Grant to the Council and potentially redistribute the amount of 

Business Rates the Council is allowed to retain to other Councils.  The 

expected impact of these changes if they go ahead are expected to cause a 

significant decrease in the funding available to the Council.  In these 

circumstances the Council would need to make substantial reductions in its 

Page 25



3 
 

expenditure levels as a consequence.  The changes would need to be made 

either immediately in the aftermath of the announcement or over a short 

period, if some form of transitional arrangements accompanied these changes 

to assist those Councils most dramatically impacted. 

1.7. After 4 years in which these reforms have been postponed for various 

reasons and with a new Government with Rishi Sunak as Prime Minister, the 

certainty around the introduction of Fair Funding is no longer as sure as it 

once seemed and it may be the case these reforms are postponed for a 

number of years or dropped altogether.  This would allow the potential current 

levels of funding to the Council to continue. 

1.8. As a consequence, the modelling now recognises that there is a real 

possibility that continuation of Government funding at current levels may be 

the most likely outcome over the next few years of all the potential different 

scenarios that could occur.  However, many of the drivers around the need to 

reform the finances of Local Government still exist.  As such the strong 

prospect of a Fair Funding Review which significantly reduces the Council’s 

funding remains a very real prospect.  DLUHC officials continue to indicate 

they wish to introduce some kind of Fair Funding Review to re-shape Council 

finances and the prospectus of this occurring over the next few years remains 

a distinct possibility. 

1.9. This presents the Council with two very different future budget scenarios.  The 

first is a scenario in which funding from Government remains largely in its 

current shape and where the Council while under financial pressure from high 

pay inflation and a steep rise in its energy costs, should be able to largely 

cope.  While the second scenario, sees reform of local government finance, 

with a wide range of possible outcomes for the Council potentially occurring, 

from changes that are relatively small in consequence, all the way through a 

whole series of potential results some of which would be large and very 

dramatic in terms of the challenges it presented to the Council. 

1.10. These 2 scenarios are modelled within the report.  The more severe of the 

two, as the Pessimistic Scenario and the other as the Standard Model.  A third 

model is also presented which indicates the Council’s potential position if the 

Government chose to provide local government with an injection of cash over 

and above current levels and locally the Council was able to boost its own tax 

revenue as a consequence of a buoyant tax base.  This Optimistic model is 

considered to have a much lower probability of occurring compared to the 

other two models but is provided to illustrate the wide range of potential 

outcomes. 

1.11. In these circumstances it is prudent for the Council to look to increase its 

reserves and revenue streams such as Council Tax and Business Rates 

Page 26



4 
 

whenever it can and to avoid committing to any new revenue expenditure 

while continuing to concentrate on its work to reduce internal costs.  

2. INTRODUCTION 

 

This document sets out, for the next three years,  

 the way in which the Council goes about its financial planning 

processes, especially in relation to the corporate budget planning 

cycle, which is subject to the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 

Rules, 

 an updated action plan for the process and arrangements for reporting 

on progress to date in formulating and updating future years’ budgets.  

Specifically, this report updates the Medium Term Financial Strategy 

presented to Cabinet in October 2022. 

3. OBJECTIVES 
 
The objectives of the Medium Term Financial Strategy are:  
 

 to be the financial expression of the Corporate Plan; it is a financial 
strategy's role to provide the resources to deliver this plan, and in turn, 
the Corporate Plan and service plans need to be consistent with the 
Financial Plan, 
 

 to ensure that commitments do not exceed forecasted anticipated 
resources over the period and for each year,  

 

 that expenditure is increasingly focused on those areas which the 
Council has determined are its priority areas,  

 

 that the level of Council Tax is planned in line with what the Council 
and the community as a whole regard as being acceptable, albeit 
within the context of guidelines from Central Government,  

 

 to review the effectiveness of delivery of additional resources into 
priority areas, to ensure that the objectives set for these target areas 
are actually being achieved,  

 

 to ensure that the Council remains in a strong financial position as 
measured by the size of balances and reserves (consistent with the 
Chief Financial Officer’s recommendations), 

 

Page 27



5 
 

 to improve value for money assessments in all services by delivering 
increased efficiency savings, 

 

 to provide an early signpost for the potential levels and timings required 
for savings 

 

All of which must ensure compliance with the Council’s Budget and Policy 

Framework Procedure Rules. 

4. ELEMENTS OF THE MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 

 

The key elements of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) are:- 

4.1 Forecasting Resources 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy needs to be underpinned by sound 
forecasting mechanisms for the likely resources available to the Authority over 
a three year period. The Cabinet receives reports on the achievement of the 
financial plan with future projections for the following three years at regular 
intervals. 

 

4.2 Budget Monitoring & Forecasting Commitments 

Budget monitoring reports and forecast commitments are reported to Cabinet 
and are developed as the year progresses.  As are ways of balancing 
resources with any new commitment if they occur outside the original financial 
plan.   

 
4.3 Corporate strategic direction & priorities of the Council 
 

In the context of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) the Council has 
a clear hierarchy of strategy documents (see chart below) headed by the 
Corporate Strategy which sets out the vision and high level priorities for the 
Council.  The Corporate Strategy drives the MTFS with details of committed 
events and their budget implications.  These commitments are reflected in 
accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework Rules and consequently in 
Services’ Business Plans.  This hierarchy of plans gives clear direction on the 
Council's priorities and actions.   

 

It is for the Cabinet, subject to an overall decision by the Council, to 
recommend precisely which areas are their priorities to receive additional 
investment and which will receive less in the light of such priorities. This 
process reaches its natural conclusion in the Annual Budget Report.  

 

 

Page 28



6 
 

4.4 Strategy Hierarchy:- 

 

4.5 The Performance Management Framework  

The Performance Management Framework sets out how the Council delivers 

key outcomes and commitments for Hyndburn customers, providing a clear 

vision and a cycle of continuous planning, monitoring, scrutiny, learning and 

improvement. The Framework exists to help officers, elected members and 

partners to understand how the Council monitors performance and their 

individual role in achieving our priorities and commitments. 

 

The Performance Management Framework: 

 Helps the Council to be clear about its vision, values, objectives and 

priorities; 

 Helps us cascade these higher level objectives and priorities into our 

service delivery and plans; 

 Allows the Council to manage and report its performance; 

 Helps individuals to understand their contribution to higher level objectives; 

 The Performance Management Framework emphasis the direct link 

between an individual’s objectives and the corporate aims and priorities. 

 

Medium Term 

Financial 

Strategy 

Capital 

Programme 

Business 

Plans 

Revenue 

Budgets 

Other  

Corporate 

Strategies 

 

 

Corporate 

Strategy 

Page 29



7 
 

The Process 

 The strategic plan sets out the Council’s vision, priorities and long-term 

outcomes over a period of time. 

 The Council operates a Leader and Cabinet Executive model. The Leader 

allocates portfolios to each cabinet member and s/he is then responsible 

for delivery and providing direction in that area.  

 At the corporate level, the Corporate Management Team manages issues 

relating to performance management and translates the priorities and aims 

into measurable actions at the point of service delivery. 

 At service level, heads of service implement direction of portfolio holders 

and undertake day to day monitoring of performance, evaluate and report 

outcomes. 

 At the operational level, Performance Development reviews for staff 

ensures employees’ work task objectives are linked into the corporate 

strategy and they are monitored by line managers. 

 

 

Page 30



8 
 

5. SERVICE PLANNING TO SUPPORT THE OVERALL STRATEGY 

5.1 The Corporate Strategy, together with Service Business Plans, provides a 

service planning structure that translates the priorities and aims of the overall 

strategy into measurable actions at the point of service delivery.  

5.2 The Medium Term Financial Strategy, as it impacts on individual services’ 

budgets, is reflected in service plans so that proper planning can take place in 

line with available resources. The preparation of service plans is also required 

in parallel with future years' budget plans since realistic levels of savings have 

to be determined for services in line with any overall shortfall in corporate 

funding. 

5.3 The Government’s agenda since 2010 of substantially reducing public 

expenditure has added further pressures on Hyndburn to reduce its costs.  

The impact of these changes can be seen at Table 1 (para 49) later in the 

report and requires the Council to continue to make savings over the lifetime 

of the MTFS.  The situation has clearly been made more acute due to the 

impact of COVID 19. 

6. INTEGRATED RESOURCE PLANNING WITH SERVICE PLANS 

6.1 Growth items in future years (both revenue and capital schemes as 

applicable) and areas for savings, need to be identified in the Service Plans 

and Financial Plans should be developed consistently so that the impact of 

one on the other is fully appreciated, subject of course to Service Plans 

remaining within the limits allowed in the agreed Medium Term Financial 

Strategy.  This precludes bids for extra resources arising during the course of 

the year for implementation in that year unless other funding can be identified.  

Developments are planned in accordance with a timetable well ahead of the 

year of implementation.  They form part of an agreed strategy and need to be 

consistent with the priorities identified within the plan.  Individual bids for 

resources, taken in isolation from the overall planning process, should 

therefore not occur. 

7. BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

7.1 The MTFS covers the period from 2023/24 to 2025/26.  Our financial position 

was already set against a background of continuing global financial volatility 

stemming from the worldwide Recession that began as a result of the banking 

crisis in 2007/8.  Before the onset of COVID 19 there were some indications 

that parts of the Globe were successfully recovering and were achieving 

sustainable positive economic growth, but also contra indications of growing 

political and economic turbulence which could threaten another global 

financial crisis.  COVID 19 will have tapered down the growth in those areas 

Page 31



9 
 

achieving a positive economic outlook and accentuated the pressure in those 

areas that were volatile or struggling. 

7.2 The possibility of a major worldwide recession has been accentuated by the 

Russian invasion of Ukraine.  This has destabilised the previous world 

economic order that had emerged after the end of the Cold War.  This has led 

to a sharp rise in energy costs, major disruption to world trade, threats of 

severe shortages of food in certain parts of the world, sanctions on some 

goods between Russia and the West, scarcity of key minerals and products 

and a major re-assessment around securing vital strategic supplies—most 

notably energy—from known and predictable sources and a switch back to 

significant expenditure for military purposes.   

7.3 Even with a resolution to the Invasion of Ukraine over the next 12 months, the 

world continues to face a variety of conflicts any of which could lead to 

disruption to economic recovery, sanctions, trade wars or armed conflict. 

7.4 Tensions in the Middle East continue with escalated armed conflicts in Syria, 

Iraq and Yemen, with the ever- present threat that they could escalate into a 

major military conflict across the Region and beyond. 

7.5 The situation in Afghanistan remains unresolved after the withdrawal of 

Western powers and the establishment of the Taliban as the country’s 

government.  In recent years, the USA and Iran have seemingly become more 

hawkish towards each other, escalating the risk of serious conflict between 

these two nations and their respective allies.  It is still unclear if the Biden 

Administration can successfully achieve a de-escalation here and US 

Government policy in this area is now complicated further by the War in 

Ukraine. 

7.6 In the Far East, China and the USA appear to be locked into a trade dispute 

which will continue to impact on the world economy in unpredictable ways.  If 

it emerges at some later point the Chinese authorities were responsible or 

seriously negligent in relation to COVID 19, this is likely to cause a further 

hardening of relations between these two nations.  At the same time, China is 

indicating a more aggressive expansionist policy towards the Pacific and the 

potential for armed conflict here is also growing and may accelerate, 

particularly if China perceives the USA’s focus may be elsewhere.  Taiwan 

particularly is a potential flash point currently with both China and the USA 

ramping up diplomatic statements and military capabilities in the area.   

Additionally, the situation remains tense between North and South Korea 

especially after North Korea’s announcement that it is now openly a nuclear 

weapons power and continues to test fire missile capable of carrying nuclear 

warheads in the direction of South Korea and Japan. 

Page 32



10 
 

7.7 In Europe, the pandemic and the Russian Invasion of Ukraine have also 

added to the problems the European Union was already facing.  These 

include many countries within the EU and those in the surrounding countries 

facing limited economic growth and possible recession.  Germany’s financial 

strength and its ability to underwrite the European Union now looks fragile and 

with the end of the Merkel era its ability to provide the cohesive political 

leadership required is also in question.  Greece in particular, but also Spain 

and Italy, all have potential national economies that could fail if put under 

further economic pressure and Spain has the added complication of dealing 

with the separatist push from Catalonia, which could escalate into a problem 

with much wider European implications if the conflict continues to grow.  The 

UK’s exit from the EU will be watched by many countries to see whether it 

survives and thrives and if it does, this may strengthen political movements in 

other EU countries to seek similar arrangements, creating more political and 

economic turbulence across the continent. 

7.8 In Latin America, Argentina, Venezuela and Chile are all facing significant 

political and economic challenges and many other countries in the region are 

struggling to maintain a functioning government and economy. Brazil has 

emerged as one of the countries which has been hit the hardest so far by 

COVID 19.  Brazil and her neighbours across South America therefore remain 

significantly at risk that this health crisis pushes them into an economic 

decline which could impact the rest of the Globe including the UK. 

7.9 These events all squeeze the UK Government’s ability to finance domestic 

growth and invest in public services.  This reduces the likelihood that 

Hyndburn will receive the funding it needs from Government to meet the 

demands on it to provide services to the local community and cope with the 

challenges it faces.   

7.10 Additionally for a number of years the Government has been committed to the 

reform of Local Government finances and had looked to implement reforms in 

each of the last 4 years but failed to do so, due to external factors (Brexit and 

COVID 19).  It is expected that these proposals would see Hyndburn Council 

lose its Revenue Support Grant and other direct grant support it receives.  

These changes were also expected to be accompanied by reforms to the 

methodology used to distribute Business Rates to Councils.  Again, it is 

assumed that such a reform would see less business rates retained locally, 

thereby increasing the financial pressures on Hyndburn.  The estimate of the 

financial loss to Hyndburn ranged from £2m to £5m depending on the severity 

of the actions proposed.  The series of reforms proposed and then delayed 

each year were generally referred to as “Fair Funding Review”. 

7.11 The recent changes with two new Prime Ministers over the last six months, 

indicate a strong possibility that reforms to local government finance will not 

Page 33



11 
 

take place again this year.  With 2024/25 likely to be the first year in which 

any changes could come into effect but with an increased possibility that the 

reforms will be side-lined until after the next General Election. 

7.12 The Standard Model now assumes these reforms will not be implemented 

over the period of the MTFS.  While the Pessimistic Model envisages the 

reforms being announced and implemented for the financial year of 2024/25 

but with some reduction in the current level of support taking place in 2023/24.  

The Optimistic Model envisages that not only are these reforms not 

implemented but the Government increases rather than decreases direct 

financial support to the Council over this period. 

7.13 Therefore beyond 2023/24, we still face a high degree of uncertainty over the 

level of our funding, as we await the outcome of the Government’s 

deliberations around reshaping local government funding via their Fair 

Funding Review and the impact this has on the level of resources Hyndburn 

will receive in terms of its RSG and Business Rates. 

7.14 Until the Government provides local councils with information on how much it 

will receive and how the funds will be distributed, Hyndburn and all other local 

authorities are forced to rely on estimates of future revenue streams which 

may be wide of the mark.  Currently there is a wide divergence amongst 

commentators on the potential outcomes. These range from the very 

optimistic, heralding a new wave of public expenditure directed at the North, 

to the more austere, pointing to the limits of public finances currently, 

particularly in the aftermath of the pandemic, the threat to the economy from 

exiting the European Union and the political and economic turbulence across 

the Globe. 

7.15 Additionally, whatever path the Government might wish to pursue, it may be 

blown off course significantly if any one of the listed risks crystallises or other 

new shockwaves cause significant disturbance to the Global Economy or 

Britain’s overall financial position as has occurred over the last 24 months with 

the arrival of the pandemic and the Invasion of Ukraine. 

7.16 The Medium Term Financial Strategy usually assumes that the Council is able 

to deliver its current year Budget as planned.  Despite the continuing 

extraordinary budget pressures on the Council in 2022/23, the Council looks 

as if it will be able to deliver its Budget within the planned resources.  Having 

managed to deliver a balanced budget for 2021/22 and it now appearing we 

can deliver one again in 2022/23, the Medium Term Financial Strategy 

assumes we will be able to continue to do so over the next three years. 

7.17 Appropriate levels of reserves remain critically important to the Council, as the 

last 2 years has demonstrated.  The same potential wide range of potential 

threats to our long term financial viability remain with the threat of the impact 

Page 34



12 
 

of a resurgent pandemic now added to them along with the impact of the 

Russian Invasion of Ukraine.  A reserve level of around £2m therefore 

remains important for the Council to maintain given the potential for:- 

 large reductions in Central Government support for the next few years 

continuing and the prospect of a major review of local government 

finances,  

 Cost inflation continuing while overall revenue growth is downward, 

 the need to incur upfront costs to secure long term savings,  

 the potential economic instability stemming from Brexit, 

 the ongoing economic impact of COVID 19 and the War In Ukraine, 

 as well as the much more volatile financial climate in which we now 

operate. 

7.18 The format of the Medium Term Financial Strategy considers the current 

estimated resources available for 2023/24 and builds upon anticipated 

changes to income and costs over the following 2 years.  At this stage, the 

Medium Term Financial Strategy considers the broad strategic impact of 

known changes.  As always, it is possible for new events to affect the budget 

position and these will be considered in future revisions to the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy.  It is anticipated that the next update to the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy will occur in October 2023, immediately ahead of the 

Council commencing the process of setting its Budget for 2024/25. 

7.19 Despite the difficulties over the last 9 financial years caused by substantial 

reductions in our funding from Government, the Council has continued to 

maintain its finances and provide value for money services.  Balances were in 

excess of £2.3m at the end of the 2021/22 financial year and we have 

generated significant savings in each of the last 15 financial years.  It will 

remain important to the Council in the future that we continue to generate 

savings each year so that we can fund future capital spend and further 

investment. 

8. FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 2023/24 to 2025/26 

8.1 This report at Appendices 1, 2 and 3 sets out the numerical values of the 

combined impact of the different financial assumptions for the next 3 years.  

Detailed commentary on the assumptions and their financial value is provided 

below.  The report looks at the strategic shift in a number of the largest areas 

of the Council’s Budget, before examining those changes which are a more 

persistent element within our financial forecasts. 

Page 35



13 
 

9. RESOURCES 

9.1 From April 2011 the Council faced major changes in how it is funded as a 

result of Central Government decisions taken to reduce overall public sector 

spending in light of the worldwide recession and pressure to reduce the 

national deficit.  These changes include:-  

 The ending of the system of direct government funding to local 

government based on need; 

 The introduction of a new system centred around how much revenue is 

collected locally as business rates, adjusted via a series of tariffs and top-

ups; 

 The transfer of the risk of non-collection of business rates and the cash 

flow impact away from HM Treasury to local government; 

 The ending of the national universal system for Council Tax benefit and its 

replacement by locally determined schemes with an accompanying 10% 

reduction in funding at a national level in the first year and subject to 

further grant reductions in subsequent years. 

9.2 These changes effectively signalled a period of significant decline in the 

overall resources available to the Council in the period after 2010/11, as the 

Government withdrew a large proportion of our funding with only small 

amounts of respite occurring in recent years due to some additional grants 

provided in the wake of COVID 19.  The expectation remains that the 

downward trend in direct Government support for the Council will be resumed 

at some point in the future further, reducing the resources the Council has to 

continue to provide services. 

9.3 The changes also create a much greater risk of volatility between years as 

business rate collection is much more prone to fluctuate than the previous 

system of government grants and Council Tax Support levels may vary 

significantly depending on the state of the economy and the number of 

claimants. 

10. GOVERNMENT GRANT 

10.1 The Council has been one of the hardest hit by Government from reductions 

in financial support since 2010/11.  The cuts in the early part of the decade 

were substantially accelerated in 2016/17 with a number of further 

adjustments the Government introduced to the funding model to distribute 

financial support to local councils.  Table 1 below shows the impact of the 

reduction in Revenue Support Grant on the Council over this period.  

 

Page 36



14 
 

Table 1 Changes in Revenue Support Grant (RSG) 

2010/11 to 2023/24  

 

10.2 From a position in which Hyndburn was receiving over £7.1m in Revenue 

Support Grant in 2010/11, the amount of funding had been reduced to £1.5m 

by 2019/20.  A small increase in funding occurred after 2019/20 as the 

Government provided some extra cash linked to Brexit and then COVID 19. 

10.3 After a number of major reforms of Local Government finance under the 

Premiership of David Cameron, the Government of Theresa May indicated 

that it intended to undertake further wholesale reforms of Council funding via 

a Fair Funding Review.  The expectation was that these reforms would 

remove all the Council’s direct Revenue Support and other revenue grants for 

the 2020/21 financial year. 

10.4 Details of the reforms were due to be announced in the Autumn of 2019 and 

were thought to involve a major redistribution of funds away from District 

Council to Upper Tier authorities in an attempt to deal with the funding crisis 

of Social Care.  However, the exact details never emerged after the 

replacement of Theresa May as Prime Minister by Boris Johnson in the 

Summer of 2019 leading to the General Election in December 2019.  Reports 

have indicated that DLUHC still intended to progress these reforms after the 

General Election in 2019, but they were shelved again without any more detail 

emerging in 2020 and 2021 due to COVID 19.  It is generally now thought that 

the plans will not be brought forward again in 2023, given the change in 

leadership again of the Government with the election of Liz Truss in 

September 2022 and her then sudden resignation and the further election of 

Rishi Sunak as the new Conservative Prime Minister in late October 2022. It 

is possible that plans to reform may emerge again within 12 months’ time. 

Page 37



15 
 

10.5 However, it is no longer, as certain as it once seemed that the reforms will go 

ahead as originally articulated and if they do, they may be severely water 

downed compared to some of the initial forecasts, delayed for a number of 

years or abandoned altogether.  This possibility is now reflected in the 

Standard Model which sees Government Grants continuing at current levels 

for a number of years. 

10.6 The Pessimistic Model does however recognise that there is a persistent 

element within DLUHC that advocates the need for this type of reform and 

that it has been able to persuade Ministers in the past that it is a sensible 

policy option to be seriously considered.  It therefore remains something that 

could return over the next couple of years, particularly given the need to 

balance the overall Government Budget during a difficult time of major 

spending pressures and a desire to reduce the burden of tax across the 

country.  The Pessimistic Model therefore shows the removal of all 

Government Grant supporting the Revenue Budget from 2024/25. 

10.7 The Optimistic Model reflects the Government accepting that local 

government needs an injection of additional resources from Central 

Government if it is to continue to effectively function and provide the support 

local communities need in the aftermath of the COVID 19 pandemic and cost 

of living crisis stemming from the Russian invasion of Ukraine. 

11. BUSINESS RATES 

11.1 In addition to the substantial alterations to local government funding created 

by the withdrawal of Revenue Support Grant, the Government introduced 

major changes to Council funding from April 2013, which ended the previous 

system of business rates collected locally but pooled nationally and 

redistributed by the Government via an assessment of “need”.   

11.2 The new system from April 2013 attempts to allow Councils to retain the 

business rates raised locally.  However, the implementation of the new 

system was significantly altered from the original aspiration of local business 

rates retained locally and the current system sees the vast majority of 

business rates transferred away from Hyndburn.  This is due to Government 

rules which firstly top-sliced 50% of locally collected business rates into a 

Central Government pot to support a variety of Government policies across 

Local Government.  A further 10% of the monies collected are transferred to 

Lancashire County Council and the Lancashire Combined Fire Authority, 

leaving Hyndburn with only 40% of the locally raised business rates.  The 

40% remaining in Hyndburn is then further reduced under the rules introduced 

by the Government to further redistribute funds between local Councils.  In a 

system called “Top-Ups and Tariffs” the Government determines amounts to 

be deducted from “Tariff” Councils to help fund Councils which did not have 

sufficient funding in their view to meet their expenditure needs. 

Page 38



16 
 

11.3 As a consequence, Hyndburn only retains about 25% from this source of 

funding to use locally, with the remainder transferring to the Government or 

other local authorities. 

11.4 The Government has indicated that it wished to move to a system of 100% of 

Business Rates going directly to Local Government, expanding upon an 

earlier decision to earmark 50% of Business Rate income to be retained by 

local government.  After that announcement, unfortunately the Government 

made almost no progress towards its implementation as various difficulties in 

devising and introducing such a scheme emerged. 

11.5 Hyndburn participated in a Pilot Scheme in 2019/20 to increase the amount 

distributed locally from 50% to 75%.  However, the Government announced in 

late 2019 that the Pilot’s would not be renewed for 2020/21 and Pools would 

revert back to a 50% share of growth and this position has been confirmed for 

2023/24.  We wait to see whether the new Government will move to increase 

the amount of business rates retained locally above the current 50% level and 

whether any such change has an overall positive financial impact for the 

Council or whether it simply offsets losses in this area from other funding 

reforms.  The impact around the level of business rates retention is therefore 

expected to be subsumed within the wider reforms to local authority finances. 

11.6 The forecast level of business rates in the future will therefore depend on two 

major factors.  How much the Government determines a Council should 

receive as a baseline from business rates and how much additional income is 

achieved and retained. The general view is that these changes are expected 

to redistribute funds away from District Councils.  The Standard Model 

assumes Business Rates will grow at 3% over the period of the MTFS. 

11.7 The Pessimistic Model assumes the revenue stream from Business Rates 

stagnates over the second and third year of the MTFS as increases are low 

and any growth in the tax base stemming from new businesses or the 

expansion of existing businesses is offset by the impact of appeals, business 

closures and increased non-payment.  The Optimistic Model assumes we can 

achieve a 5% increase in each year beyond 2023/24.  However, at this stage, 

there is no way of assessing what the actual change will be and it is likely we 

will only see the actual figures late in the year before setting the 2023/24 

Budget.  The assumptions used are therefore more illustrative than scientific 

at this stage and while we will need to plan on the basis of the Standard 

Model until we receive real information, we will also need to develop financial 

flexibility to be able to respond to the potential major swings in funding that 

could occur either way. 

Page 39



17 
 

12. COUNCIL TAX 

12.1 With the significant decline of Government Grant from 2010/11, Council Tax 

became much more significant in terms of the Council’s finances.  The 

Council is rightly proud of its record as a Council that thinks very carefully 

over increasing the burden on local people’s spending power through tax 

increases and has over the last 20 years kept its average Council Tax 

increases below the rate of inflation.  Until recently Hyndburn was only one of 

7 councils to have this distinction and the only one north of Watford to do so.  

This is a remarkable achievement given that in Hyndburn’s case it will have 

not been able to replace the lost income from below inflation Council Tax 

increase via rises the growth of housing numbers and Hyndburn will have 

effectively had to deliver more efficiencies from within its expenditure, to 

maintain its Balanced Budget position. 

12.2 Now faced with the potential loss of some or all of its funding from 

Government in the future, the Council needs to look to increases in Council 

Tax to partly fill the gap.  The Medium Term Forecast therefore assumes for 

the years 2024/25 and 2025/2026, the Council will increase Council Tax by 

the maximum allowed by the Government under its capping regulations.  The 

capping level for a District Council in recent years has been an increase up to 

a maximum of £5.00 or not above 3%, whichever is the greater.  This rule is 

expected to remain in force for the remainder of the MTFS.  For 2023/24 we 

are forecasting Council Tax revenues of £5,719,745 based on a Council Tax 

of £260.64, which would rise to £5,950,239 the following year based on a 

1.99% increase each year.  In 2025/26, the forecast is that revenue will grow 

by a further 1.99% under the existing Capping rules with £6,190,098 of 

revenue achieved. 

12.3 It is not expected that Council Tax income will decline over the coming period, 

but the Pessimistic Scenario reflects that there will be no increase in the 

Council Tax Band charge in each of the next 3 years and this will therefore 

limit the resource available from this area to £5,719,745 in each year. 

12.4 Compared to the Standard Model, the Council loses over £230,000 of income 

in 2024/25 by not increasing Council Tax and is £470,000 worse off in 

2025/26 under these assumptions.  The cumulative impact over the 3 years is 

a loss of £700,000 of revenue to the Council that it would be able to use to 

support local services. 

12.5 The Optimistic Scenario shows a more buoyant second and third year in 

terms of Council Tax income with £117,000 of extra income stemming from 

housing developments etc. in 2024/25 and further increases from Council Tax 

of £245,000 in 2025/26.  This would reflect above average growth in the local 

housing market and potentially the early dividends from the proposed 

development at Huncoat starting to impact on the Council’s finances. 

Page 40



18 
 

13. EXPECTED LOSS OF INCOME 

13.1 The Government is continuing with its proposed reforms to the national 

Welfare Benefits System and plans to consolidate most benefit payments into 

a single system called Universal Credit.  As part of this process Housing 

Benefit, which is administered by local authorities will end, at least for those of 

working age.  As such the Government is substantially reducing the amount it 

pays local councils to undertake this work and the funds the Council receives 

back from these payments is also declining.  The Government announced an 

original timetable in which it envisaged that all working age Housing Benefit 

Claims will cease by the start of the financial year 2018/19.  This deadline has 

now been moved back again and the potential for further delay in its roll out 

remains.  The MFTS therefore adjusts the loss of this income over the next 

three years by £150,000 in the first year, followed by reductions of £125,000 

and £100,000.  The Pessimistic Scenario recognises the potential for 

reduction in financial support to be maintained at the full level of £150,000 

over the 3 years.  While the Optimistic Scenario shows the reduction in 

funding for 2023/24 only being £75,000 and it only falling by this same amount 

each subsequent year, reflecting a more gradual transition of claimants to the 

new benefit. 

14. CHANGES IN COSTS 

14.1 Salaries Costs 

14.1.1 As an individual line across all budget areas the cost of employing staff at 

nearly £12m is the largest expense faced by the Council. 

14.1.2 Between 2010/11 and 2018/19 wage increases in local government were 

limited to 1% or lower as the country recovered from the 2008 Recession.  In 

2018/19 the national wage settlement was agreed for 2 years with most staff 

receiving 2% each year, but with higher percentage increases for those on 

the lowest pay.  The 2020/21 wage settlement was agreed just before the 

pandemic at 2.7% and the 2021/22 wage settlement was agreed during the 

pandemic at 1.75%, reflecting concerns at the time over public finances, the 

onset of a recession and job insecurity. 

14.1.3 The 2022/23 pay award was agreed at a rate of £1,925 for all employees, 

regardless of grade. After a long period of low inflation and general wage 

restraint across the economy for over a decade, rising inflation, skill 

shortages in the workforce and other economic factors have seen wage 

settlements significantly up and trade unions pressing for much higher pay 

awards across the public sector.  The 2022/23 wage settlement for Local 

Government workers averaged at 6.6% increase to the overall wage bill for 

the Council and that this level of rise will be the norm for the next 3 years as 

inflationary pressures in the general economy continue and skill shortages 

Page 41



19 
 

and recruitment difficulties continue to be experienced.  In addition to the 5% 

pay award costs for each of the three years, the Council needs to adjust its 

Budget in 2023/24 to meet the cost of the unexpectedly high increase for 

2022/23 compared to the forecast at the time of setting the Budget for that 

year.  The impact of the 2022/2023 added around £390,000 to the Budget for 

2023/24 on top of the £430,000 of costs for the 2023/24 pay award.  Future 

years sees the pay award adding over £500,000 per year to our costs. 

14.1.4 Clearly with inflation currently running at around 10%, current difficulties filling 

key posts across the whole economy, a series of national strikes in major 

public sector organisations and a Government challenged in a number of key 

areas, it is possible we will experience wage settlements at levels 

significantly above the 5% used in the Standard Model.  The Pessimistic 

Model therefore outlines the impact on the Council’s finances if Wage 

Settlements were at 10% for each of the next three years and the wage 

settlement for 2022/23 is higher than currently predicted. 

14.1.5 This level of wage settlement is a major contributor to pushing the savings 

target under the Pessimistic Model to over 20% in both 2024/2025 and 

2025/2026 and would force the Council to take major actions to reduce its 

costs and re-prioritise services in these circumstances. 

14.1.6 The Optimistic Model assumes that a degree of wage restraint can be 

achieved over the next 3 years at around 2.5% per year.  This is still above 

the historic levels of recent years and might be difficult to achieve in the 

current climate without strong Government intervention. 

15. PENSION COSTS 

15.1 Pension Costs are expected to be stable over the period of the MTFS.  The 

Council has substantially reduced its Employer Contributions from a peak of 

28% a few years ago and contributions rates are now 13.6%, saving the 

Council over £1m a year.  This improvement has been achieved by the 

Council taking positive action to reduce early retirements, funding additional 

retirement costs as they occur and making additional payments into the 

Pension Fund whenever possible. Continuing these actions in the future will 

further reduce the employer pension contribution as we move forward and 

should be maintained as a normal facet of overall financial management. 

16. SUPPLIES AND SERVICES COSTS 

16.1 The Office for National Statistics shows that Retail Price Index (RPI) has been 

on a strong upward trajectory since April 2021 when it breached 2% for the 

first time for 12 months and had hit 13.9% by October 2022, before falling 

back to 13.0% in December 2022.  The Government’s preferred measure of 

inflation in the economy Consumer Price Index (CPI) hit 10.7% in November 

2022 before falling slightly back to 10.5% in December 2022 after having 

Page 42



20 
 

been only 5.4% 12 months before.  The slight easing is mainly attributed to a 

drop in fuel prices as demand and supply started to converge and wholesale 

prices dropped.  Rises in Global Energy prices initially sparked by the 

recovery of economic activity post pandemic lockdowns and then 

supercharged by the Russian invasion of Ukraine has undoubtedly been the 

major driver of the inflation we have seen over the 12 months.  While there 

are expectations that inflation may now have peaked and will begin to fall it is 

not expected that they will quickly return to the benign levels we have seen 

since 2011 when they last exceeded 5%. 

16.2 The MFTS therefore anticipates that inflationary pressures, particularly around 

energy costs will force up our non-salary costs on services and supplies by 

5% in 2023/24 before easing slightly to 4% in 2024/25 and 2025/26.  As with 

Salary costs, the Council will also need to make an adjustment to its Budget 

position for 2023/24 to recognise the need to reset Budgets that have 

experienced significant inflationary pressure beyond what was anticipated 

when the 2022/23 Budget was set.  The MFTS Standard Model therefore 

predicts Budget growth of around £2,163,500 is needed to maintain the 

current level of activity in 2023/24, before falling back to annual increases of 

around £850,000 per year therefore to keep up with inflation.  This also 

assumes that energy contract renewals occurring in 2023/24 and beyond 

return to close to pre 2022 prices. 

16.3 The Pessimistic Model assumes that energy prices do not subside in 2024/25 

and that inflation is 5% rather than 4% at that point and a similar pattern 

continues into 2025/26. 

16.4 The Optimistic Model assumes a rapid de-escalation in world energy prices 

over the coming months and inflation dropping to 3% to markedly reduce the 

impact from inflation on the goods and services we purchase. 

17. EXTERNAL AUDIT CONTRACT COST INCREASE 

17.1 The provision of External Audit Services to Local Government has undergone 

a series of reforms in recent years.  Initially this led to a reduction in fees 

charged by Audit firms to Local Government in 2017.  However recent years 

have seen a decline in the performance of audit firms and rising costs, as 

audit firms indicate that they are unable to deliver the audit for the original 

contracted price due to increased compliance requirements placed on them 

by their regulator, as well as difficulties in retaining and recruiting staff suitably 

skilled staff.  

17.2 Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA), the organisation the Council uses 

to secure its audit appointments has just completed its first phase of 

contracting for new audit appointments for the 5 year period beginning with 

the audit year 2023/24.  PSAA struggled to recruit sufficient bids to allow it to 

Page 43



21 
 

fully tender all the audit work necessary to provide all local government bodies 

with auditors over the next contract period starting in 2023/24 and had to 

undertake a second round of tendering to attract additional bidders to the 

contract. 

17.3 PSAA have now indicated that their procurement exercise is complete but that 

it is likely to lead to increased fee levels of 150% across local government as 

a result of the audit firms indicating recruitment and retention problems 

continue and the regulatory risk is even more pronounced than over previous 

years and their bids reflect their higher costs.  The estimated impact on the 

Council of this price rise is £100,000 a year. 

18. CAPITAL COSTS 

18.1 The Council has over the last 14 years maintained a strong commitment not 

to borrow to finance Capital Expenditure. In doing so, it has ensured that it 

has not added to the burden of its revenue budget by having to pay increased 

loan costs.  The intention within the MTFS is to maintain that commitment.  

The Capital Programme will be funded from a mixture of carry forward 

receipts from the Housing Market Renewal Programme, the use of one-off 

grants from the Government, surpluses, external funding and existing Capital 

resources. 

18.2 The Council’s 2022/23 Capital Programme was a significant departure from 

the much smaller levels of expenditure in this area the Council has made over 

the preceding 10 years.  The Capital Programme for 2022/23 was approved at 

over £38m mainly due to the expected funds from Government in relation to 

Levelling Up Projects and the Council’s Leisure Estate Investment 

Programme.  The 2023/24 Capital Programme is expected to return to the 

more modest programmes of previous years.  Though of course the Council 

will be delivering the major programmes approved in 2022/23 during and 

beyond. 

18.3 As in earlier years it remains critically important for the Council to limit its 

spend on Capital Projects to the resources it has available and to avoid 

borrowing to finance expenditure as this has a damaging knock on impact on 

the Revenue Budget, causing it to generate greater savings pressure across 

the whole Council and forcing tougher decisions around key service priorities. 

18.4 To assist our Capital Programme we will therefore continue to earmark time 

limited and one-off grants such as New Homes Bonus for Capital and we will 

also support the Capital Programme from any additional revenue, from 

surpluses on the Collection Fund or the Pooling of Business Rates etc. when 

these are available and don’t need to be used to underpin the Revenue 

Budget as well as any in-year savings that are generated and capital receipts. 

Page 44



22 
 

18.5 This will enable us to limit the need to borrow to the Leisure Estate Project 

and therefore not increase the pressure on the Revenue Budget over the 

period. 

18.6 The Capital Programme is always oversubscribed and the Council will 

continue to have to make tough choices over which projects to support in line 

with its key objectives.  It should however be able to fund its highest priority 

projects over the coming 3 years, without burdening future taxpayers with an 

increased legacy of unaffordable debt and interest payments. 

18.7 Current predictions indicate the Council has sufficient funds to finance its 

capital expenditure plans over the next 3 years.  This is however reliant on the 

achievement of significant capital receipts over the period and continuing to 

only fund the Council’s highest priority projects.  If the sale income from 

anticipated disposals is delayed or sales in the pipeline do not mature, 

decisions around curtailing capital expenditure or using some stop gap 

funding including short term borrowing may be necessary.  Recent indications 

from the Government that New Homes Bonus might be reduced or abolished 

may add to our difficulties in this area as it would remove a source of funding, 

we have previously used to assist in financing our capital expenditure. 

18.8 The Pessimistic Scenario deals with the impact of having to fund Capital 

Expenditure from Revenue by £500,000 in 2025/26.  This could occur if the 

Council is unable to limit its capital expenditure commitments to less than £1m 

each year or there is a drop in sales receipts or other funding we use for 

Capital Expenditure.  This scenario increases the saving pressures within the 

Pessimistic Scenario substantially. 

19. GROWTH 

19.1 Over the past 15 years the Council’s Budget has been set with very little 

accommodation for growth items beyond such pressures as salary and wages 

increases and other significant external pressures.  The Medium Term 

Financial Strategy recognised in 2022/23 Budget the need to allow some 

Growth as the Council exited the immediate aftermath of the COVID 19 

pandemic.  However, this year with significant cost pressures from staff pay 

demands and inflation at high levels impacting the supplies and services we 

buy, it is important to return to our earlier practice of only approving only those 

items absolutely necessary. 

19.2 The assumption across all three Scenarios within the MTFS is that the only 

Growth Item likely to be approved would be £500,000 for Capital Spend in 

2025/26 under the Pessimistic Model.  With the advice being that everything 

should be done by the Council to avoid this situation occurring if possible. 

Page 45



23 
 

20. RESERVES 

20.1 Over the last 14 years, the Council has been able to rebuild its Revenue 

Reserves.  This has seen the negative position of 2003/04 replaced by 

Balances at the 31st March 2022 of just over £2.3m.  This level of Reserve 

would normally be viewed as healthy given an overall spend of between £14m 

to £15m.  However, the level of challenges faced by the Council would 

indicate that this level of Reserve may only be a minimum level of what is 

needed given the significant increase in costs and the reduction to its revenue 

funding that it faces.  It is therefore recommended that Reserves are 

maintained at a minimum of £2.0m or strengthened whenever possible to 

meet any major challenges which might occur over the next 3 years, which 

could not be dealt with via the normal budgetary process. 

20.2 The threats to the Council outside its normal budgetary pressures include, 

 the continuing financial impact of COVID 19 

 continuing high energy prices 

 high levels of wage settlement  

 inflation remaining higher than anticipated 

 the continuation over a long period of the War in Ukraine and the 

escalation or developments in other conflict zones around the world, which 

destabilise the Global Economic Order and place pressure on the finances 

of Western Countries 

 the proposal by the Government to conduct a Fair Funding Review and 

implement its findings in the near future, which might further substantially 

reduce the monies the Council currently expects to have at its disposal 

 the continuing economic uncertainty which may lead to the Government 

having to reduce public sector expenditure further or requiring the Local 

Government sector to shoulder more of the burden 

 the impact of Brexit and any potential downturn in the economy that would 

impact on commercial, housing and land development and thereby 

supress fees the Council earns from providing services to the business 

and local community such as planning fees, land search fees etc. 

 the Government’s transfer of responsibility to local Councils for 

determining Council Tax Benefit and capping the amount it will reimburse 

in the future regardless of whether there is a surge in the numbers 

claiming the benefit 

Page 46



24 
 

 the continuing risk of challenges to planning decisions and the costs of 

defending these through the legal process 

 the threat of substantial claims under employment law  

 the increased threat of industrial action during a period of public sector pay 

restraint and job losses 

 emergency spend pressures in-year, due to one-off items of capital or 

revenue spend 

 risks around the conclusion of the Housing Market Renewal Programme 

 the continuing trading difficulties experienced by Hyndburn Leisure and the 

financial pressures on partner organisations and the third sector in general 

 insurance claims for which cover is not in place, in particular claims 

relating to items formerly covered by Municipal Mutual Insurance which 

went into liquidation in the 1990s and historic employee health claims 

dating back to the 1960s, 1970s and 1980s. 

 supplier failure during an elongated period of uncertainty 

 environmental warranties on our land and guarantees provided to 

Hyndburn Homes over land transferred to them  

 continuing reductions in our income from fees and charges as the 

economy continues to struggle 

 the need to meet the cost of land acquisitions under the Community Right 

to Purchase legislation. 

 Fines stemming from breaches around data protection under the new 

General Data Protection Regulations. 

21. OTHER ASSUMPTIONS 

21.1 The MTFS assumes that the Council is able to present a balanced budget 

each year and operate within that budget and that it does not need to draw 

upon reserves or overspend within any financial year.   

21.2 It assumes that any draw down of reserves which drops us below the 

minimum level required is either immediately replenished within the financial 

year or a top slice of funding from the next year’s budget is made to ensure 

they remain at the stated level. 

21.3 It assumes that service provision remains largely within the current confines 

and that no major initiatives are imposed upon the Council without suitable 

funding provision.  For instance, the MTFS does not allow for the return to 

Page 47



25 
 

weekly refuse collection without the Government providing the necessary 

funds not only to manage the change process, but also to meet the additional 

on-going revenue costs.   

22. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

22.1 There are no specific proposals within the MTFS that would require the 

completion of an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA).  This document remains 

a high-level strategic overview.  Individual EIAs will be completed for relevant 

policy developments, service alterations and saving plans as they occur, as a 

response to the overall financial plans of the Council. 

23. SCENARIOS  

23.1 As with the previous MTFS we have attempted to outline the potential range 

of scenarios around the Council’s Finances over the next few years, by 

varying some of the key assumptions.  In order to avoid a myriad of possible 

scenarios, we have presented in Appendix 2 and Appendix 3, two scenarios 

towards either extreme side of the MTFS forecast.  This allows the potential 

maximum and minimum range of savings required over the next 3 years to be 

broadly established.  Due to the delay and the potential unknown impact at 

this time of the Fair Funding Review, the range and accuracy of these 

forecasts is more limited than in previous years.  It is hoped that once the Fair 

Funding Review discloses the new financial settlement these forecasts can 

return to their previous degree of rigor.  

23.2 The MTFS has therefore been developed around key assumptions of what is 

most likely to occur and then two scenarios produced showing what might 

occur should these assumptions be confounded by other events, all moving in 

one particular direction or the other.  Appendix 1 to this report sets out the 

scenario which it is believed is the most likely to occur and is labelled the 

Standard Model.  Appendix 2 shows what might occur if many of the negative 

things that could happen did actually occur and this is labelled the Pessimistic 

Model.  Appendix 3 shows the opposite situation in which the Council benefits 

from a series of good outcomes with resources growing and downward 

pressure on spending occurs.  This is the Optimistic Model. 

23.3 This approach produces a spectrum of the possible ranges in which the 

Council’s finances will have to operate over the next 3 years.  It does not 

cover every eventuality and there are possible outcomes outside of the 

ranges shown, though these are deemed to have only a small chance of 

occurrence. 

23.4 It is possible the Council could emerge with a stronger financial position as a 

result of a combination of these volatile factors going in its favour.  A strong 

financial position for the Council could emerge for instance if: 

Page 48



26 
 

 The economic recovery from COVID 19 is strong and the War in Ukraine 

ends swiftly and the plan to recover public finances from the additional 

costs incurred in addressing the pandemic and the War in Ukraine do not 

involve a period of austerity. 

 The Government decides to boost the economy by an injection of cash 

into the country and expanding expenditure on public services particularly 

in the North with Hyndburn receiving extra revenue as a result.   

 The exit from Brexit going much better than most commentators have 

predicted and the country thriving outside of the European Union.  

 Political tensions across the globe subside. 

 The global economy avoids recession and begins a steady period of 

growth 

23.5 The Optimistic Model shows a scenario in which the Council’s revenues grow 

throughout the period and spending pressures can largely be easily dealt with 

over the next 3 years with the opportunity for the Council to run a surplus 

Budget in each of the next 3 years.  The Optimistic Scenario which shows 

strong levels of revenue growth for the Council from additional grant funding 

from Government along with buoyant tax revenues from Business Rates and 

Council Tax and expenditure only rising at low inflation rates is however 

viewed as significantly the least likely scenario to occur. 

23.6 The Standard Model which shows the most likely single position, predicts that 

the Council after a facing a relatively modest saving target in 2023/24 of just 

over £115,279, needs to generate savings of around 2.5% of its Budget in 

each of the next two financial years. 

23.7 The key assumption around the Standard Model is that the Government 

determines it is not an appropriate time to radically alter the funding 

mechanisms for local councils and that it will continue to support them at 

existing levels over the next three years along with some uplift in resources to 

help offset some of the cost pressures they are facing.  This appears to have 

been the thinking at least in the short term for the Government under Boris 

Johnson and it would appear this has not changed to date through the recent 

Prime Minister changes of Liz Truss and now Rishi Sunak. We will need to 

wait and see if this is position is maintained over the next two years.  Given 

the many significant challenges now being faced, maintaining the current 

status quo in local government might be the most appealing way forward and 

this is why this is modelled as the most likely outcome at this time. 

23.8 The potential for the Council to face severe financial pressure over the 3 

years is shown in the Pessimistic Model.  This model assumes a backdrop of 

Page 49



27 
 

fragmented global economic growth and potential recession, heightened 

political turbulence across the world accentuating a decline in economic 

growth and a UK Government limiting public sector spending and switching 

money away from District Councils, particularly in the North of England.  The 

level of savings required to be generated each year by Hyndburn in these 

circumstances are significantly higher in each year than the other models and 

are likely to be very challenging for the Council to deliver. 

23.9 The Pessimistic Scenario presented at Appendix 2 looks at the baseline 

assumptions for the MTFS and adjusts them for the following reasons.  

23.10 In terms of income the Pessimistic Scenario indicates that revenue could be 

lower in 2024/25 compared to the Standard Scenario due to the RSG not 

being uplifted in 2024/25 and other Government Grants being withdrawn.  

This sees Government Support for the Council down over £140,000 

compared to the assumed levels in the Standard Model.  The Pessimistic 

Model also assumes that in the following year the Government removes the 

remaining Revenue Support to the Council and therefore our Revenue falls by 

a further £1,891,616 in that year. 

23.11 It is also assumed that Council Tax Revenues do not increase from an uplift in 

the amount charged per household.  This limits revenue from Council Tax to 

£5,719,745 over the three year period and likewise it is assumed that 

Business Rate income flat lines over the period, due to any increase in the 

Business Rate multiplier or new property growth, being offset by business 

closures, successful appeals against previous rating levels, business closures 

and continuing high levels of default due to economic stagnation.  Overall 

resources available to the Council are down over £2.5m in 2024/25 in this 

scenario and by 2025/26, the gap has widened to over £5.5m. 

23.12 The impact of funding from the Department of Work & Pensions in relation to 

Housing Benefit Grant is shown to be £75,000 more over the 3 years, as the 

programme to implement Universal Credit continues to impact at the 2023/24 

levels rather than beginning to taper downwards in subsequent years.  

23.13  In our Standard Model we have assumed a 5% increase in payroll cost as a 

result of the annual pay award over each year of the three years of the 

forecast.  The Pessimistic Scenario allows for a 10% increase in wage cost 

over the 3 years.  This adds nearly £1.8m of extra costs into the Budget over 

the 3 years. 

23.14 Pay awards of this level at a time when the Council was struggling with 

depleted levels of income would add substantially to the pressure to reduce 

the size of the workforce. 

Page 50



28 
 

23.15 General inflation continues to be difficult to predict.  For the Pessimistic 

Scenario an assumption has been made that the costs of supplies and 

services rise to by £363,000 in 2023/24 compared to the Standard Model and 

they outstrip the same position again in 2024/25 by a further £198,000 and by 

£198,000 again in 2025/26. 

23.17 The final factor considered in the Pessimistic Scenario is the need to finance 

part of the Capital Programme in 2025/26 from Revenue.  This assumes that 

the Council is unable to generate sufficient sales of its land and property over 

the next 3 years or that it spends significantly above the current forecast and 

therefore needs to set aside some of its Revenue in 2025/26 to fund its capital 

spend in that year.  Current estimates are that sufficient resources are 

available to fund capital expenditure through 2025/26.  However, if spend 

exceeds the available amounts the Council has available, it will need to use 

its Revenue Budget to fund capital spend.   A figure of £500,000 has been 

added to the Pessimistic Scenario in in 2025/26. 

23.18 The combined impact of all these potential changes is illustrated at Appendix 

2 and shows that the savings target for 2023/24 would be over 7.25% at 

£894,000 and that the savings target would increase to £4.5m or 31.2% in 

2024/25 and a further £3.1m or 25.3% in 2025/2026 requiring over £8.5m of 

in-year savings to be made over the next 3 years. 

23.19 While it is viewed as unlikely, though possible, that all these factors would 

combine against the Council, the Pessimistic Scenario at Appendix 2 

indicates the Council does face a number of potential challenges, which would 

require the Council to take a series of much tougher decisions around its 

spending plans and priorities if these assumptions materialised. 

23.20 The level of savings required under the Pessimistic Scenario would put the 

Council’s finances under severe strain and it is likely it would need to use a 

considerable amount of its reserves while it attempted to reconfigure its 

operations so that it could achieve the cost reductions necessary to continue 

to set a long-term balanced budget, particularly as it is unlikely to know its 

Government Grant or Business Rate figure for 2023/24, at the time it is 

making its key budget decisions and therefore will not be able to develop 

meaningful savings proposals of the magnitude required to balance the 

Budget in 2023/24 with any degree of accuracy. 

23.21 The Optimistic Scenario is presented at Appendix 3.  The major assumptions 

here are that the Government continues to provide Government Grants to the 

Council at the level they did in 2022/23 with a significant level of uplift and that 

this continues over the following 2 years.  The Scenario also assumes 

buoyant tax revenues from Council Tax and Business Rates with 5% growth 

in the Council Tax Revenues each year after 2023/24 and similar levels of 

Page 51



29 
 

increases achieved in Business Rates income.  With the increases coming 

from a mixture of growth and tax increases. 

23.22 These assumptions boost the Council’s overall revenues by £1.4m over the 3 

years up to 2025/26 compared to the Standard Model.  With the financial 

pressures from changes around Housing Benefit being lower by £75,000 over 

the 3 years in this scenario and wage inflation almost £1m lighter and supplies 

and service costs £234,000 less.  

23.23 As with the Pessimistic Scenario, the Optimistic Scenario painted here would 

be at the extreme end of the potential range of upside events that could occur 

to the Council’s financial position and is therefore viewed as unlikely to occur 

in its entirety. 

23.24 In these circumstances, given the existing uncertainties it is not possible to 

predict which scenario is more or less likely to occur from the wide range of 

potential options.  It is clear however, that the downside risk is far more 

damaging to the Council’s wellbeing and on the balance of probabilities the 

Council’s financial situation will lie somewhere between the Standard Model 

and the Pessimistic one.  Therefore, a course of action which values financial 

prudence at this time, seeking to continue to maintain Reserves at high levels, 

boosting income streams whenever possible, particularly from growth in 

council tax, business rates and fees and charges and avoiding committing to 

any additional on-going revenue spending will provide the Council with the 

best chances of overcoming the challenges currently presented.   Otherwise, 

the Council will face significant challenges in maintaining its ability to present 

and operate a balanced budget and deliver its key services. 

23.25 In these circumstances, given the existing uncertainties it is not possible to 

predict which scenario is more or less likely to occur from the wide range of 

potential options.  It is clear however, that the downside risk is far more 

damaging to the Council’s wellbeing and on the balance of probabilities the 

Council’s financial situation will lie somewhere between the Standard Model 

and the Pessimistic one.  Therefore, a course of action which values financial 

prudence at this time, seeking to continue to maintain Reserves at high levels, 

boosting income streams whenever possible, particularly from growth in 

council tax, business rates and fees and charges and avoiding committing to 

any additional on-going revenue spending will provide the Council with the 

best chances of overcoming the challenges currently presented.   Otherwise, 

the Council will face significant challenges in maintaining its ability to present 

and operate a balanced budget and deliver its key services. 

23.26 There is significant divergence in the financial predictions for the 3 years 

between the Pessimistic and Optimistic Models.  The diagram below shows 

Page 52



30 
 

the potential range from the most pessimistic to the most optimistic put 

forward in this document. 

Table 2 Cumulative Savings Required with Different Modelling  

Assumptions  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

23.27 The divergence between the Pessimistic and Optimistic Models in terms of 

annual savings that need to be identified is £1.2m for 2023/24, £5.1m for 

2024/25 and £3.5m in 2025/26.  The cumulative difference is almost £9.9m 

over the three years.  The wide range in the cumulative impact between the 

difference scenarios underlines the degree of uncertainty that exists in making 

accurate forecasts around the impact of local government funding, the growth 

in local revenues, the future rate of inflation and pay settlements, pressures 

on Revenue and Capital spending and the on-going financial impact of COVID 

19 and the War in Ukraine.  Given the level of uncertainty it will be necessary 

for the Council to hold strong reserves over this period and hold off making 

any major commitments on expenditure until after the Government announces 

its decision on the future amounts the Council can expect to receive from 

2024/25 onwards. 

 

Page 53



31 
 

23.28 The Pessimistic and Optimistic Scenarios are meant to show the outer limits 

of what might occur and what the Council would face in these circumstances.  

The reality is that the Council is very unlikely to suffer from all bad news or all 

good news over the next 3 years and its fortunes will therefore lie somewhere 

between the two scenarios. 

23.29 The figures in Appendix 1 therefore illustrate the best estimated position if the 

Government chooses not to go forward with major reforms of local 

government finance and the status quo is maintained, while the space 

between the Standard Model prediction and the Pessimistic Scenario 

indicates the range of challenges the Council could face if the Government 

commences a review of local authority finances and various other economic 

pressures continue to manifest themselves. 

23.30 This Standard Model indicates a balanced budget can be achieved in 

2023/24, with a relatively small savings target for the year of £115,279.  The 

savings requirement for the following year is much larger at £355,518 and 

£342,902 the following year.  The latter two years’ target require savings to 

balance the Budget of just below 2.5% in both years.  The Council has 

achieved such levels of savings in the past, but it needs to be recognised the 

cumulative impact of delivering savings over a long period of time makes this 

more difficult each year. 

23.31 If major changes to the way local government is funded do occur and the 

current financial pressure remain, then there is potential for savings 

requirements to escalate all the way up to £4.4m in 2024/25 and £3.1m in 

2025/26. 

23.27 The Pessimistic and Optimistic Scenarios at Appendix 2 and Appendix 3 

provide the most likely boundaries within which the savings target will 

fluctuate over the coming three years.  There remains a potential for the 

savings target to fall outside these boundaries, though this is viewed as 

remote. 

24. ROBUSTNESS OF THE FORECAST 

24.1 The robustness of the forecasts beyond 2023/24 is severely diminished due to 

the uncertainties around the funding decisions made by the Government in 

relation to local government.  The Council could lose or gain significant funds 

from these changes and there is little current evidence on which to make 

appropriate forecasts and therefore the MTFS has made assumptions at 

hopefully either end of the spectrum of possibilities.   

24.2 The uncertainty stemming from these decisions will necessitate the Council 

taking a defensive position in managing its finances and having to lock more 

Page 54



32 
 

funds into Reserves to cope with any negative dramatic swings from the 

Government’s financial review. 

24.3 Usually, we would expect a great deal of the uncertainty within these 

forecasts to be considerably eased in December each year, as the 

Government announces its funding plans for local government.  However, this 

year with a new Prime Minister in post and with high levels of political, military 

and economic turbulence across the world, it is possible the Government will 

only wish to address the next immediate 12 months and leave the 

development of a longer vision until next year. 

25. OVERALL NET POSITION 

25.1 The Council faces continuing pressure on its finances over the next 3 years.  

The potential reductions in the level of government grant are significant and 

the Council will need to take tough decisions over service provision to 

maintain a balanced budget if these changes are introduced. 

25.2 The key to the future financial wealth of the Council remains tied to the 

performance of the national economy and Central Government finances but a 

significant additional risk has been transferred to local government around the 

level of business rates generated and retained locally. 

25.3 The Council therefore needs to continue to manage its revenue costs 

aggressively over the next 3 years.  The single largest area of influence the 

Council can directly exert action over, is the size of its Capital Programme.  If 

it can maintain this spend within its available resources and avoid having to 

finance Capital Expenditure from its Revenue Budget it will greatly assist its 

overall financial position and ease the cumulative financial pressures on the 

Council over the 3 years of the MTFS and into the future. 

25.4 The Council also needs to protect its Reserves and the flexibility it has in its 

current financial position until it is clear that it fully understands the outcome of 

any changes to local government financing that the Government proposes 

and brings forward the detail of what they intend to implement.   

Page 55



33 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendices to the Report 

Page 56



34 
 

Appendix 1 

 
Three Year Standard Model  

Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2023/24 to 2025/26  

 

 

Page 57



35 
 

Appendix 2 

Three Year Pessimistic Model 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 

2023/24 to 2025/26   
 

Page 58



36 
 

Appendix 3 

Three Year Optimistic Model 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 

2023/24 to 2025/26   
 

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

Page 1 of 17 

REPORT TO: CABINET;    COUNCIL 

DATE: 8 FEBRUARY 2023;    23 FEBRUARY 2023 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Joyce Plummer – Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Martin Dyson – Executive Director - Resources  

Carol Worthington – Principal Accountant 

Amanda Martin – Principal Accountant 

TITLE OF REPORT: PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS AND TREASURY 
MANAGEMENT & INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2023/24 
– 2025/26 
 
MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION POLICY 
STATEMENT 2023/24. 
 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT 
2023/24. 
 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 2023/24 
 
CAPITAL STRATEGY 2023/24 
 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No The report does not contain exempt information under 
the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A and all 
information can be disclosed under the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000. 

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

        
 
1. 

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

1.1 To set out the Council’s policy and objectives with respect to treasury management, to 
explain how it will achieve its objectives and manage its activities; and to agree an 
investment strategy for 2023/24. 

  

Page 61

Agenda Item 7.



  
 

Page 2 of 17 

 
   

2 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet are requested to recommend Council to: 
 

(i) adopt the prudential indicators and limits detailed in the report 
(ii) approve the treasury management strategy, and associated indicators, as set out 

in section 8 of the report 
(iii) approve the investment strategy as set out in section 13 of the report 
(iv) approve that the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) for year 2023/24 – 

Appendix 1 
(v) approve the Treasury Management Policy Statement 2023/24 – Appendix 2 
(vi) approve the Treasury Management Practices Statement 2023/24 – Appendix 3 
(vii) approve the Capital Strategy 2023/24 – Appendix 4                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

 
 

3 
 
3.1 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS   
 
Treasury management is defined as: 
 
The management of the Council’s investment and cash flows, its banking, money market 
and capital market transactions; 
 
The effective control of the risks associated with these activities; 
 
And the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. 
 

3.2 
 
 
 
 
3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
3.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Council is required to operate a balanced budget which means that cash raised during 
the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of treasury management is to ensure the cash 
flow is properly planned with cash available when needed. Surplus monies are invested in 
line with the Council’s low risk preferences. 
 
The second function of treasury management is funding the Council’s capital plans. The 
plans give a guide to the future borrowing need of the Council. The management of this 
longer term cash flow may involve arranging long or short term loans or using longer term 
cash flow surpluses. Occasionally outstanding debt may be restructured to reduce Council 
risk or meet cost objectives. 
 
The report has been prepared in line with the Treasury Management Code and Guidance 
(2017) written by The Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (Cipfa). In the 
case of local authorities in England and Wales, the Code is significant under the provisions 
of the Local Government Act 2003. This requires local authorities ‘to have regard (a) to 
such guidance as the Secretary of State may issue, and (b) to such other guidance as the 
Secretary of State may by regulations specify’. The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 in paragraph 24 require local authorities to have 
regard to this guidance. Acceptance of this report fulfills those obligations.  
CIPFA published revised codes on 20th December 2021 and has stated that formal 
adoption is not required until the 2023/24 financial year.  

Page 62



  
 

Page 3 of 17 

 
4 

 
THE PRUDENTIAL CODE AND PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 
 

4.1 The Prudential Code is a professional code that sets out the framework for self-regulation 
of capital spending and financing.   This allows councils to invest in capital projects without 
any limit as long as such investment is affordable, prudent and sustainable.   The Code 
was produced by Cipfa. 
 

4.2 The Code requires the Council to agree and monitor a minimum number of prudential 
indicators (including limits and statements).  They relate to affordability, prudence, capital 
expenditure, external debt and treasury management. 
 

4.3 
 

The indicators are purely for internal use and are not designed to be used as comparators 
between councils. 

 
5 

 
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND THE CAPITAL FINANCING REQUIREMENT 
 

5.1 There is currently no specific restriction by the Government on Local Authorities’ capital 
investment, subject to reserve powers.  The Government has withdrawn the use of Capital 
Grants for capital expenditure purposes since 1st April 2011 as part of its measures to 
reduce public sector expenditure.  Hyndburn Council’s future financial plans assume no 
reliance on any direct capital grants from Government; expenditure will be funded by 
external funding, section 106 monies, capital receipts and contributions from revenue. 

5.2 The projections in these tables are based on current continuing operations and no 
assumptions have been included for availability of new external finance for capital schemes 
or assessment for major organisational restructure.   

  
  

ESTIMATED CAPITAL EXPENDITURE  
 

  
2021/22 
Actual 
£000 

2022/23 
Revised 
Estimate 

£000 

 
2023/24 

Estimate 
£000 

 
2024/25 

Estimate 
£000 

 
2025/26 

Estimate 
£000 

General Fund 4,906 7,242 46,262 2,051 1,456 

  
The programme for 2023/24 reflects slippage of additional grant funding available to be 
used for the Town Centre plus the rejuvenation of the Leisure Estate. The programme in 
2024/25 and beyond is reducing due to the reduction in external funding and capital 
receipts which are available.  
 

5.3 The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) represents the Council’s outstanding capital 
expenditure which has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital resources.  It is 
essentially a measure of the Council’s underlying need to borrow.  Any capital expenditure, 
which has not immediately been paid for, will increase the CFR. 
 

5.4 The movement in the CFR over the next three years is dependent on capital expenditure 

Page 63



  
 

Page 4 of 17 

decisions. The CFR is currently reducing due to the payment of Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP), a statutory annual revenue charge, which broadly reduces the borrowing 
need. 
However, potentially, HBC will have to borrow up to £5m to fund the costs of the Leisure 
Estate. 
The borrowing costs using current PWLB rates would increase CFR by approximately 
£235k pa over a 30 year period. 
 

5.5 The limiting factors on the Councils ability to finance additional capital expenditure are: 
 

o Whether the revenue resource is available to support in full the implications of both 
resource and running costs. 

o Use of Government reserve powers.   
 

5.6 The Council’s expectations for the CFR in the next three years are shown in the table 
below.  The table also shows the expected external debt for each year. This may increase 
if the borrowing costs in 5.4 are required.  
 

5.7 A key risk for these indicators is that the level of government support and other funding 
sources may change. 
 

5.8 If and when borrowing is used to finance the Authority’s additional spend, the full cost of 
the borrowing will be included within the revenue budget and forecasts. 
 
 

 

  
2021/22 
Actual 
£000 

2022/23 
Revised 
Estimate 

£000 

 
2023/24 

Estimate 
£000 

 
2024/25 

Estimate 
£000 

 
2025/26 

Estimate 
£000 

Capital Financing 
Requirement 

     

CFR – General Fund 9,380 8,657 8,381 8,405 8,348 

 
External Debt 

     

Borrowing 9,595 9,595 9,595 9,595 9,595 

Other Long Term Liabilities 876 493 544 881 1,125 

Total Debt 31st March 10,471 10,088 10,139 10,476 10,720 

 
 Borrowing outstanding as at year-end 2021/22 and 2022/23 is based on, respectively, the 

Council’s actual /revised estimated gross borrowing.  The borrowing amount is also within 
the Operational Boundary (as defined below). 
The above table does not reflect potential £5m borrowing re Leisure Estate as final 
confirmation of the required value is not currently available. 
 
Other long-term liabilities relate to finance leases.  

Page 64



  
 

Page 5 of 17 

 
6 
 

MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION 
  

6.1 
 
 
 
6.2 
 
 
 
 
 
6.3 
 
 
6.4 
 
 
 
6.5 

Local Authorities are required each year to set aside an amount within their accounts to 
meet the cost of borrowings. This is historically known as the minimum revenue provision 
(for capital). 
 
The MRP system was revised in March 2008 by regulation, which provides a duty on local 
authorities to make a prudent provision in respect of their debt levels rather than following a 
nationally set amount. In the statutory guidance issued by the Department for Communities 
& Local Government (DCLG), authorities were asked to prepare an Annual Minimum 
Revenue 
Provision (MRP) policy for approval by the Council. The four options are set out in 
(Appendix 1). 
 
For year 2022/23, the Council’s Budget has provided for MRP to be calculated on the 
regulatory basis (option 1).  This will continue for 2023/24 for all current outstanding 
borrowing. 
 
If and when the Council reconsiders the options (3) or (4), estimated life periods will be 
determined on a basis which most reasonably reflects the anticipated period of benefit that 
arises from the expenditure. 
 
The Council reserves the right to determine useful life periods and prudent MRP in 
exceptional circumstances where the recommendations of the DCLG guidance would not 
be appropriate. 
 

7 AFFORDABILITY PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 
 

7.1 Within the prudential code framework, the Council is required to assess the affordability of 
the capital investment plans. These provide an indication of the impact of capital 
investment plans on the Councils overall finances. 
 

7.2 Actual and Estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 
This indicator identifies the ratio of financing costs as a percentage of the net revenue 
budget. 
 

Ratio of Financing Costs to net revenue stream 
 

  
2021/22 
Actual 
£000 

2022/23 
Revised 
Estimate 

£000 

 
2023/24 

Estimate 
£000 

 
2024/25 

Estimate 
£000 

 
2025/26 

Estimate 
£000 

General Fund 4% 4% 3% 3% 3% 

 
If £5m borrowing was required financing costs attributable to general fund would increase to 
5.25% for 2023/24 and future years. 
 

Page 65



  
 

Page 6 of 17 

8 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2023/24 – 2025/26 
 

8.1 The importance of treasury management has increased as a result of the freedoms 
provided by the Prudential Code.  Treasury Management covers the borrowing and 
investment activities and the effective management of associated risks;   and the activities 
are strictly regulated by statutory requirements and a professional code of practice (CIPFA 
Code of Practice on Treasury Management in public services, as revised or supplemented 
by CIPFA from time to time).    
 

8.2 This strategy covers the: 

 current treasury position; 

 expected movement in interest rates; 

 Council’s borrowing and debt strategy; 

 Treasury Management indicators; 

 Debt re-scheduling;    and the 

 Council’s investment strategy.  
 
8.3 Current Treasury Position 
  

  2021/22 
Actual 
£000 

2022/23 
Estimate 

£000 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£000 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£000 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£000 

External Debt 
Debt at 1st April 
Other long-term liabilities 

 
9,595 

876 

 
9,595 

493 

 
9,595 

544 

 
9,595 

881 

 
9,595 
1,125 

 

Actual Gross Debt at 31st March 

 

10,471 

 

10,088 

 

10,139 

 

10,476 

 

10,720 

The Capital Financing 

Requirement 

 

9,380 

 

8,657 

 

8,381 

 

8,405 

 

8,348 

 
Under / (Over) Borrowing 

 
(1,091) 

 
(1,431) 

 
(1,758) 

 
(2,071) 

 
(2,372) 

 
8.3.1 

 
The current position of the treasury function, and its expected change in the future, 
introduces risk to the Council from an adverse movement in interest rates.  The Prudential 
Code is constructed on the basis of affordability, part of which is related to borrowing 
costs and investment returns. 
 

8.3.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.3.3 
 

Within the prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to ensure that the 
Council operates its activities within well-defined limits.  In general the requirement is that 
CFR exceeds gross debt. However in 2022/23 and future years the gross debt will exceed 
CFR.  This will be due to the annual payment of Minimum Revenue Provision. The 
remaining debt would attract excessive premiums if it were prematurely repaid.  
 
The requirement to have CFR exceed gross debt centers around providing an assurance 
that borrowing is not taking place for revenue purposes.  However, as the Council is not 
borrowing any additional funds at this time, this is not an issue. 

Page 66



  
 

Page 7 of 17 

 
8.4 
 
8.4.1 

Expected movement in interest rates 
 
The Council appointed Link Asset Services as treasury advisor to the Council and part of 
their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates.  The following 
table gives Link’s view of the movement in interest rates. 

 

 Qtr 1 
2023 

Qtr 2 
2023 

Qtr 3 
2023 

Qtr 4 
2023 

Qtr 1 
2024 

Qtr 2 
2024 

Qtr 3 
2024 

Qtr 4 
2024 

Qtr 1 
2025 

Qtr 2 
2025 

Qtr 3 
2025 

Base 
Rate 

 
4.50
% 

 
4.50
% 

 
4.50
% 

 
4.00
% 

 
3.75
% 

 
3.50
% 

 
3.25
% 

 
3.00
% 

 
2.75
% 

 
2.50
% 

 
2.50
% 

5 yr 
PWL
B 

 
4.20
% 

 
4.10
% 

 
4.00
% 

 
3.90
% 

 
3.80
% 

 
3.60
% 

 
3.50
% 

 
3.40
% 

 
3.30
% 

 
3.20
% 

 
3.10
% 

10 yr 
PWL
B 

 
4.40
% 

 
4.30
% 

 
4.10
% 

 
4.00
% 

 
3.90
% 

 
3.80
% 

 
3.60
% 

 
3.50
% 

 
3.40
% 

 
3.30
% 

 
3.30
% 

25 yr  
PWL
B 

 
4.60
% 

 
4.50
% 

 
4.40
% 

 
4.20
% 

 
4.10
% 

 
4.00
% 

 
3.90
% 

 
3.70
% 

 
3.60
% 

 
3.50
% 

 
3.50
% 

50 yr 
PLW
B 

 
4.30
% 

 
4.20
% 

 
4.10
% 

 
3.90
% 

 
3.80
% 

 
3.70
% 

 
3.60
% 

 
3.50
% 

 
3.30
% 

 
3.20
% 

 
3.20
% 

 
 
8.4.2 

 
 
Link has also provided comprehensive economic forecasts which are available for 
inspection if required. 
 

8.5 Borrowing and Debt Strategy  2023/24 – 2025/26 
 

8.5.1 The Prudential Code and the uncertainty over future interest rates increases the risks 
associated with the treasury strategy.  As a result the Council needs to take a cautious 
approach to its treasury strategy. 
 

8.5.2 Borrowing interest rates have increased in 2022/23 with Bank of England Base rates 
expected to peak at 4.5% with an expected fall by the end of the current financial year. 
Bank rates are expected to be elevated for some time as the Bank of England seeks to 
squeeze inflation out of the economy. The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running 
down spare cash balances has served well over the last few years. However, this needs to 
be carefully reviewed to avoid incurring higher borrowing costs in the future when the 
authority may not be able to avoid new borrowing to finance capital expenditure and/or the 
refinancing of maturing debt. 
 

8.5.3 
 

The borrowing strategy for 2023/24 should be set to take short dated borrowings at any 
time in the financial year.  Short term borrowing is expected to be cheaper than long term 
borrowing and will therefore be attractive throughout the financial year compared to simply 
taking long term fixed rate borrowing.   

Page 67



  
 

Page 8 of 17 

 
8.5.4 The borrowing strategy will be to borrow on fixed rate terms rather than variable. 
 
 
9 EXTERNAL DEBT OVERALL LIMITS 

 
9.1 There are two Prudential Indicators which control the overall level of borrowing.  These are: 

 
o The authorised limit 
o The operational boundary 

 
9.2 The authorised limit represents the Councils total borrowing limit, covering short and long 

term debt.  It is the maximum level of borrowing which the authority is expected to 
experience at any point within the year, inclusive of headroom for unexpected movements.  
This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003 
and needs to be set by Members and later (if necessary) revised by Members. 
 

9.3 The operational boundary is the anticipated level of external debt during the course of the 
year.  This indicator is primarily an internal monitoring tool that provides a warning of the 
potential breach of the Authorised Limit for External Debt;   and it also informs whether the 
plans regarding capital expenditure are on target and whether cash flows are proceeding 
as planned. 
 
 

Authorised limit for external debt 

2022/23 
Revised 
Estimate 

£000 

 
2023/24 

Estimate 
£000 

 
2024/25 
Estimate 

£000 

 
2025/26 
Estimate 

£000 

Borrowing 35,000 35,000 35,000 35,000 

Other long term liabilities 0 0 0 0 

Total 35,000 35,000 35,000 35,000 

 
Operational boundary for external 
debt 

    

Borrowing 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 

Other long term liabilities 0 0 0 0 

Total 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 

 
 
9.4 
 
 

 
The Authorised Limit includes the borrowing requirement for unexpected cash movements, 
which is permitted under the Code.  Examples of unexpected cash movements include 
service delivery failure, or possible clawback of government monies. 

 

Page 68



  
 

Page 9 of 17 

 
10 EXTERNAL v INTERNAL BORROWING 
 

  
2021/22 
Actual 

2022/23 
Probable 
outturn 

 
2023/24 
Estimate 

 
2024/25 
Estimate 

 
2025/26 
Estimate 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Actual external 
Debt 

10,471 10,088 10,139 10,476 10,720 

Cash balances 52,679 39,200 50 50 50 

Net Debt (42,208) (29,112) 10,089 10,426 10,670 

 
10.1 The Council currently has a difference between gross debt and net debt (after deducting 

cash balances) of £29.112m. 
 
In 2023/24 and beyond it is assumed that during this period of uncertainty, all current 
investments will be repaid and used for cash flow purposes. There will be no surplus cash 
held in investments at 31st March. 
 

10.2 The general aim of this treasury management strategy is to reduce the difference between 
the two debt levels in order to reduce the credit risk incurred by holding investments.  
However, measures previously taken have already reduced substantially the level of credit 
risk so another factor which will be carefully considered is the difference between 
borrowing rates and investment rates to ensure the Council obtains value for money once 
an appropriate level of risk management has been attained to ensure the security of its 
investments. 
 

10.3 The next financial year is expected to continue with higher interest rates. A high degree of 
caution will be adopted with the 2023/24 treasury operations.  The Executive Director of 
Resources will monitor the interest rate market and adopt a pragmatic approach to 
changing circumstances, reporting any decisions to the appropriate decision making body. 

  
11 LIMITS ON ACTIVITY 
  
11.1 The aim of the prudential indicators is to contain the activity of the treasury function within 

certain limits, thereby reducing the risk or likelihood of an adverse movement in interest or 
borrowing decisions which could impact negatively on the Council’s overall financial 
position. 
 

11.2 The proposed local limit of 100% on variable rate loan debt, as shown in the following 
table, relates to the potential situation where maturing fixed rate is not replaced.  

 

Page 69



  
 

Page 10 of 17 

Treasury Management Indicators 
 

 2022/23 
Upper 

2023/24 
Upper 

2024/25 
Upper 

Limits on fixed interest rates 100% 100% 100% 

Limits on variable interest rates 100% 100% 100% 

Maximum principal sums invested for 
over 365 days 

 
£3m 

 
£3m 

 
£3m 

 
 

 

11.3 The Council must set upper and lower limits for the maturity structure of its borrowings. 
 
 
Proposed limits for Maturity Structure of Borrowing 
 

Period to maturity of debt Upper Limit Lower Limit 

Under 12 months 43% 0% 

12 months and within 24 months 0% 0% 

24 months and within 5 years 0% 0% 

5 years and within 10 years 0% 0% 

10 years and above 57% 0% 

 
The maturity in the under 12 month period relates to Lender Option, Borrower Option (LOBO) 
loans.  From 2011/12 the maturity date of a LOBO is now deemed to be the next call date. 
The LOBO’s have six monthly call dates. 
 
 
12 DEBT RESCHEDULING 

 
12.1 CIPFA issued an updated Statement of Recommended Accounting Practice (SORP 2007) 

incorporating, for financial instruments, Financial Reporting Standard 25 (Presentation & 
Disclosure), FRS 26 (Recognition & Measurement) and FRS 29 (replacement disclosure 
requirements).  This presented major potential changes in the treatment of the valuation of 
debt and investments, the calculation of interest and the treatment of premiums and 
discounts arising from debt rescheduling. The SORP removed the ability to spread 
premiums and discounts arising under debt rescheduling over the life of replacement 
borrowing. 
 
In the main, the above mentioned financial reporting standards have converged with 
international standards for 2011/12 and onwards reporting. 

 In exceptional circumstances the Deputy Chief Executive / Executive Director (Resources) 
may approve rescheduling under emergency powers, e.g. where swift action is required to 
secure favourable rates.   
  
This action would be reported to Cabinet. 
 

Page 70



  
 

Page 11 of 17 

 
13 INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

 
13.1 The Council will have regard to the MHCLG revised guidance on Local Government 

Investments; and CIPFA’s Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and 
Cross Sectoral Guidance notes revised in 2017.  The Council’s investment priorities are:- 
 

o The security of capital 
o The liquidity of its investments 

 
The Council will also aim to achieve optimum return on its investments commensurate with 
proper levels of security and liquidity. 
 

13.2 The borrowing of monies purely to invest or on-lend and make a return is unlawful and the 
Council does not engage in the activity.  
 

13.3 If the Council is in a position where it has surplus funds for a period of time, competitive 
quotations will be sought from a range of institutions with a view to making a temporary 
investment.  Investments will be placed with the most cost-effective institution, taking 
dealing costs into account.  The Council uses the services of City brokers to identify the 
optimum investment opportunities. 
 

13.4 The Council uses the credit ratings available from the three major credit rating agencies; 
Fitch, Moodys and Standard & Poor, to derive its lending criteria.  All credit ratings will be 
monitored weekly.  The Council is alerted to changes in Credit ratings through its use of the 
Link Asset Services Ltd creditworthiness service.  The creditworthiness service uses a 
sophisticated modeling approach with credit ratings from all three credit rating agencies.  If 
a downgrade results in the counterparty no longer meeting the Councils minimum criteria, 
its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn immediately.  If required new 
counterparties which meet the criteria are added to the list.  The Credit ratings are 
supplemented by use of Credit Default Swap (CDS) spreads which give an early warning of 
likely changes in credit ratings. 
 

13.5 
 

Fully Nationalised Banks in the UK have credit ratings which do not conform to the credit 
criteria usually used by local authorities to identify banks which are of high credit 
worthiness.  In particular, as they are no longer separate institutions in their own right, it is 
impossible for Fitch to assign to them an individual rating for their stand alone financial 
strength.  Accordingly, Fitch have assigned an F rating which means that at a historical 
point of time, this bank has failed and is now owned by the Government.  However, these 
institutions are now recipients of an F1+ short term rating as they effectively take on the 
credit worthiness of the Government itself i.e. deposits made with them are effectively 
being made to the government.  They also have a support rating of 1; in other words, on 
both counts, they have the highest rating possible. 
 
The other situation which could arise is where the Bank hasn’t been fully nationalised but 
receives support from the UK Government, in which case the individual rating is E i.e. the 
Fitch definition is “A bank which requires external support”. 

  
13.6 Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are classified as ‘Specified’ 

Page 71



  
 

Page 12 of 17 

and ‘Non-Specified’ Investments.  Counterparty limits will be as set through the Council’s 
Treasury Management Practices. 

13.7 Specified Investments are sterling investments of not more than one-year maturity.  These 
are low risk assets and the possibility of loss of principal or investment income is very low.  
The investments are defined as: 
 

1. The UK Government (such as the Debt Management Office, UK Treasury Bills or a 
gilt with less than one year to maturity). 

2. A local authority, parish council or community council. 
3. An investment scheme that has been awarded a high credit rating by a credit rating 

agency such as Standard and Poor, Moody’s or Fitch. 
4. Pooled Investment Vehicles (such as Money Market Funds) that have been awarded 

a high credit rating by a credit rating agency. 
5. A body that has been awarded a high credit rating by a credit rating agency (such as 

a bank or building society). 
 
 

13.8 Non Specified Investments include any other type of investment (i.e. not defined as 
specified above).  These are sterling investments with: 
 

1. Securities admitted to the Official List of the Stock Exchange, which are guaranteed 
by the UK Government (such as supranational bonds). 

2. Gilt edged securities with a maturity of greater than one year. 
3. Institutions not meeting the basic security requirements under the specified 

investments. 
4. A body that has been awarded a high credit rating by a credit rating agency (such as 

a bank or building society), for deposits with a maturity of more than one year. 
 
At the present time, the Council has no immediate plans to invest in non specified 
investments, in order to maintain the high security and liquidity of Council funds. 
 

 

Page 72



  
 

Page 13 of 17 

 
14 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES (TMP) 
 
CIPFA recommend that all of the following TMPs should be adopted, with the schedules 
where appropriate to the scope and nature of the treasury management activities 
undertaken: 
 
TMP1 Risk Management 
 
The Deputy Chief Executive / Executive Director (Resources) will implement and monitor 
all arrangements for the identification, management and control of treasury management 
risk, reporting at least annually on this; relevant issues include liquidity risk management, 
interest rate risk management, security of investments, refinancing risk management, legal 
and regulatory risk management, fraud error and corruption issues, market risk 
management. 
TMP2 Best Value and Performance Measurement 
 
Commitment to best value and performance measurement in treasury management 
activities. 
 
TMP3 Decision-making and Analysis 
 
Full records to be maintained. 
TMP4 Approved Instruments, Methods and Techniques 
 
To list the instruments, methods and techniques that the authority will use to ensure that 
any risks involved are fully understood and evaluated. 
TMP5 Organization, clarity, segregation of responsibilities, dealing arrangements.  
 
Clear written statements of responsibilities, and arrangements for absence cover. 
 
TMP6 Reporting requirements and management information arrangements 
 
As a minimum, reports to be submitted to the Executive and Council on the strategy and 
plan to be pursued in the coming year, and on performance in the past year. 
 
TMP7 Budgeting, accounting and audit arrangements 
 
To be fully documented. 
 
TMP8 Cash and cash flow management 
 
Unless statutory or regulatory requirements demand otherwise, all monies in the hands of 
this organisation will be under the control of the Deputy Chief Executive / Executive 
Director (Resources) and aggregated for cash flow and investment management purposes. 
Cash flow projections to be prepared on a regular and timely basis. 
 
TMP9 Money laundering 
 

Page 73



  
 

Page 14 of 17 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
15 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Where appropriate, to be alert to the possibility of money laundering, and to maintain 
procedures for verifying and recording the identity of counterparties etc. 
 
TMP10 Staff training and qualifications 
 
Recognising the importance of ensuring that staff involved in the treasury management 
function are fully equipped to undertake the duties and responsibilities allocated to them. 
 
TMP11 Use of external service providers 
 
Recognising the potential value of employing external providers of treasury management 
services in order to access specialist skills and resources, subject to evaluation of costs 
and benefits and proper documentation. 
 
TMP12 Corporate governance 
 
Commitment to the pursuit of proper corporate governance and the key recommendations 
of this Code; accordingly, the treasury management function to be undertaken with 
openness and transparency, honesty, integrity and accountability. 
 
A full description of each TMP is at appendix 3. 
 
POLICY ON THE USE OF EXTERNAL SERVICE PROVIDERS 
 
The Council uses Link Asset Services, as its external treasury management advisor. 
 
The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management remains with the 
organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon external 
service providers. 
 
It also recognises there is value in employing external providers of treasury management 
services in order to acquire specialist skills and resources. 
 

16 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY IN-YEAR AND YEAR-END REPORTING 

 As well as the half-year update report to Cabinet , treasury management features, when 
appropriate, in revenue budget monitoring reports during the year; and the annual outturn 
of treasury management and indicators is reported to Cabinet as soon as practicable after 
the year end.  In addition, in light of the revised code of practice,  the Resources Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee was given by the Full Council, from March 2010 via addition to 
terms of reference, a role to monitor and review the Council’s treasury management 
strategy and policies;  and changes made to the Financial Procedures Rules include for 
that. 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 74



  
 

Page 15 of 17 

 
17 

 
IMPLICATIONS 

Issue Comments 

Financial Implications 
(including any future 
financial implications for 
the Council) 

There are none arising directly from this report. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 

The Local Government Act 2003 (part 1) and associated 
regulations gave statutory recognition to the Prudential Code.  
Therefore there is a statutory backing to the background and 
local purpose of the report. 
Treasury Management activities of local authorities are 
prescribed by statute – the source of powers is, in England & 
Wales, the 2003 Act.  ‘Statutory Guidance’ on investment is 
given by the MHCLG to local authorities. 

Assessment of Risk There are inherent risks in capital finance and treasury 
management.  When appropriate the risks are identified and 
assessed as part of the various recommendations made on 
Prudential Capital Finance and in the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy. Risks arising from Financial Instruments 
are also described and addressed in the Statement of Accounts’ 
related note. 

Equality and diversity 
implications 
A Customer First 
Analysis should be 
completed in relation to 
policy decisions and 
should be attached as 
an appendix to the 
report.  

There are no specific implications for customers’ equality and 
diversity arising directly from the recommendations in this report. 

18 
 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
 
List of Background Papers:   

 Part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003 and related regulations 

 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (CIPFA 2021) 

 CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in Public Services (revised 2021) 

 The Council’s Policy Statement on Treasury Management (Full Council February 
2022) 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2023/24 to 2025/26 

 General Revenue Budget 2023/24 

 New Additions to the Capital programme  
 

19 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 
The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information Act 
2000. 

Page 75

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407
http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/26/contents
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/documents/s14336/Pls%20and%20TMI%20Strategy%20Report%20with%20Appendices%201%202.pdf


  
 

Page 16 of 17 

Appendix 1 
 

Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2023/24 
 

Options in statutory guidance 

 
Option 1: Regulatory method 
 
Under the previous MRP regulations, MRP was set at a uniform rate of 4% of the adjusted 
CFR (i.e. adjusted for “Adjustment A”) on a reducing balance method (which in effect meant 
that MRP charges would stretch into infinity). This historic approach must continue for all 
capital expenditure incurred in years before the start of this new approach. It may also be 
used for new capital expenditure up to the amount which is deemed to be supported by 
Government through the ‘SCE allocation’ (supported capital expenditure). 
 
Option 2: Capital Financing Requirement method 
 
This is a variation on Option 1 which is based upon a charge of 4% of the aggregate CFR 
without any adjustment for Adjustment A, or certain other factors which were brought into 
account under the previous statutory MRP calculation. The CFR is the measure of an 
authority’s outstanding debt liability as depicted by their balance sheet. 
 
Option 3: Asset Life method. 
 
Under this option, it is intended that MRP should be spread over the estimated useful life of 
either an asset created, or other purpose of the expenditure. 
There are two methods of calculating charges under option 3: 
a. equal instalment method – equal annual instalments; 
b. annuity method – annual payments gradually increase during the life of the asset. 
 
Option 4: Depreciation Method 
 
Under this option, MRP charges are to be linked to the useful life of each type of asset using 
the standard accounting rules for depreciation (but with some exceptions) i.e. this is a more 
complex approach than option 3. 

Page 76



  
 

Page 17 of 17 

Appendix 2 
 

Treasury Management Policy Statement 2023/24 
 

Hyndburn Borough Council defines its treasury management activities as follows:- 
 
1.   The management of the authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money 

market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated 

with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those 

risks. 

2. The Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to be 

the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management activities will 

be measured. Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury management 

activities will focus on their risk implications for the organisation, and any financial 

instruments entered into to manage these risks.  

3. The Council acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide support 

towards the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is therefore 

committed to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury management, and 

to employing suitable comprehensive performance measurement techniques, within 

the context of effective risk management. 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



          Appendix 3  
             
             
            

 Hyndburn Borough Council     
 Treasury Management Practices 2023/24 
             
             
             
             

Page 79



Treasury Management Practices  
2 

Contents   

  Paragrapgh 

TMP 1 Treasury risk management 1.1 – 1.8.1 

TMP 2   Performance measurement 2.1 – 2.3.5 

TMP 3   Decision–making and analysis 3.1 – 3.1.3.3 

TMP 4 
Approved instruments, methods and 
techniques 

4.1 – 4.6 

TMP 5 
Organisation, clarity and segregation of 
responsibilities, and dealing 
arrangements 

5.1 – 5.10 

TMP 6 
Reporting requirements and 
management information arrangements 

6.1 – 6.9 

TMP 7   
Budgeting, accounting and audit 
arrangements 

7.1 – 7.4 

TMP 8 Cash and cash flow management    8.1 – 8.6 

TMP 9 Money laundering  9.1 – 9.6 

TMP 10 Training and qualifications 10.1 – 10.7 

TMP 11 Use of external service providers  11.1 – 11.2 

TMP 12 Corporate governance  12.1 

  

  

  

   

 

Page 80



Treasury Management Practices  
3 

TMP1 Risk Management 

The responsible officer – Deputy Chief Executive -  will design, implement and monitor all 
arrangements for the identification, management and control of treasury management risk, will 
report at least annually on the adequacy/suitability thereof, and will report, as a matter of 
urgency, the circumstances of any actual or likely difficulty in achieving the organisation’s 
objectives in this respect, all in accordance with the procedures set out in TMP6 Reporting 
requirements and Management Information Arrangements. In respect of each of the following 
risks, the arrangements which seek to ensure compliance with these objectives are set below. 

  

1.1 Credit and Counterparty Risk Management 

Credit and counter-party risk is the risk of failure by a counterparty to meet its contractual 
obligations to the organisation under an investment, borrowing, capital project or partnership 
financing, particularly as a result of the counterparty’s diminished creditworthiness, and the 
resulting detrimental effect on the organisation’s capital or current (revenue) resources. 

 
This organisation regards a key objective of its treasury management activities to be the security 
of the principal sums it invests. Accordingly, it will ensure that its counterparty lists and limits 
reflect a prudent attitude towards organisations with whom funds may be deposited, and will limit 
its investment activities to the instruments, methods and techniques referred to in TMP4 
Approved Instruments Methods And Techniques. It also recognises the need to have, and will 
therefore maintain, a formal counterparty policy in respect of those organisations from which it 
may borrow, or with whom it may enter into other financing arrangements. 
 
 
 
1.1.1 Creditworthiness Policy    

This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Group.  This service employs a 
sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three main credit rating agencies - 
Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s.  The credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented with 
the following overlays:  

 credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies; 

 CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings; 

 sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries. 

 
This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit Watches and credit Outlooks in a weighted 
scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of CDS spreads for which the end product is a 
series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  These 
colour codes are used by the Council to determine the suggested duration for investments.  The 
Council will therefore use counterparties within the following durational bands : 
 

 Yellow 5 years (UK Government debt, or its equivalent, money market funds 
 Dark pink 5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.25 
 Light pink 5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.5 
 Purple  2 years 
 Blue  1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks) 
 Orange 1 year 
 Red  6 months 
 Green  100 days   
 No colour  not to be used  

 

Page 81



Treasury Management Practices  
4 

 
 
The Link Group creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information than just primary ratings. 
Furthermore, by using a risk weighted scoring system, it does not give undue preponderance to just 
one agency’s ratings. 
 
Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a Short Term rating (Fitch or 
equivalents) of   F1 and a Long Term rating of A-. There may be occasions when the counterparty 
ratings from one rating agency are marginally lower than these ratings but may still be used.  In these 
instances consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or other topical market 
information, to support their use. 
 
All credit ratings will be monitored weekly. The Council is alerted to changes to ratings of all three 
agencies through its use of the Link Group creditworthiness service.  

 if a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer meeting the 
Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn immediately. 

 in addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of information in movements 
in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and other market data on a daily 
basis via its Passport website, provided exclusively to it by Link Group. Extreme market 
movements may result in downgrade of an institution or removal from the Council’s lending list. 

Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition this Council will also use 
market data and market information, information on any external support for banks to help support its 
decision making process.  

Country and sector limits 

The Council has determined that due to the uncertainty of Brexit it will use any UK bank regardless 
that the sovereign credit rating may be reduced from its current AA rating position.  It will only use 
approved counterparties from other countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch. 
The list of countries that qualify using this credit criteria as at the date of this report are shown below.  

This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AA- or higher (at the date of 
this report) and also have banks operating in sterling markets which have credit ratings of green or 
above in the Link Group credit worthiness service. 
 

AAA                      
 Australia   

 Denmark 

 Germany 

 Luxembourg 

 Netherlands 

 Norway 

 Singapore 

 Sweden 

 Switzerland 

 

AA+ 

 Canada 

 Finland 

 U.S.A. 

 

 

 Page 82



Treasury Management Practices  
5 

 

AA 

 Abu Dhabi (UAE) 

 France 

 

AA- 

 Belgium  

 Hong Kong 

 Qatar  

 UK 

 

 This list will be added to, or deducted from, by officers should ratings change in accordance with this 
policy. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 83



Treasury Management Practices  
6 

Maximum maturity periods and amounts to be placed in different types of investment instrument 
are as follows: - 

 

 Maturities up to a maximum of 1 year 

Organisation 
Minimum ‘High’ Credit 
Criteria 

Max 
Amount 

Max Period 

Debt Management 
Agency Deposit 
Facility 

- 
 

Unlimited 
6months (max 
is set by the 
DMO) 

Term Deposits  - Local 
Authorities 

-  £2m 1 year 

Term Deposits – 
Banks & Building 
Societies  

Short-term, Long-term, 
Viability, Support. 

£2m 
Colour Code 
Dependant but 
max of 1 year 

Liquid  Deposits - Nat 
West Bank  

Short-term, Long-term, 
Viability, Support. 

£3m 1 year 

Lancashire County 
Council – Call Account 

Short-term, Long-term, 
Viability, Support 

£2m 1 year 

Money Market Funds AAA long-term rating  £2m 1 year 

UK Government 
Support to the banking 
sector  

Sovereign Rating £2m 1 year 

  

 

 Maturities in excess of 1 year 

 

Organisation Minimum ‘High’ Credit Criteria 

Debt Management Agency 
Deposit Facility 

- 
 

Term Deposits  - Local 
Authorities 

-  

Term Deposits – Banks & 
Building Societies ** 

Short-term, Long-term, Viability, 
Support. 

Money Market Funds AAA long-term rating  

UK Government Support to the 
banking sector  

Sovereign Rating 

 Page 84



Treasury Management Practices  
7 

 

 

1. Diversification: this organisation will avoid concentrations of lending and borrowing by 
adopting a policy of diversification.  It will therefore use the following: - 

 Maximum amount to be placed with any one institution - £2m - with the exception of a 
deposit in Nat West Liquidity Account where the investment will not exceed £3m and 
the Debt Management Agency Deposit Faciltiy which is unlimited. 

 Group limits where a number of institutions are under one ownership – maximum of 
£10m. 

2.  Investments will not be made with counterparties that do not have a credit rating in 
their own right. The definition of ‘high credit quality’ in order to determine what are 
specified investments as opposed to non specified investments which do not have 
high credit ratings is set out at the end of  TMP1 in schedule 1.   

 
 
1.2 Liquidity Risk Management 
 
This is the risk that cash will not be available when it is needed, that ineffective management 
of liquidity creates additional unbudgeted costs, and that the organisation’s business/service 
objectives will be thereby compromised. 

 
This organisation will ensure it has adequate though not excessive cash resources, 
borrowing arrangements, overdraft or standby facilities to enable it at all times to have the 
level of funds available to it which are necessary for the achievement of its business/service 
objectives. This organisation will only borrow in advance of need where there is a clear 
business case for doing so and will only do so for the current capital programme or to finance 
future debt maturities. 

 
 

1.2.1. Amounts of approved minimum cash balances and short-term investments 

 The Treasury Management section shall seek to minimise the balance held in the 
Council’s main bank accounts at the close of each working day. Borrowing or lending 
shall be arranged in order to achieve this aim. 

 
1.2.2. Details of: 

a. Standby facilities 
At the end of each financial day any unexpected surplus funds are transferred to the 
Nat West Liquidity Account which is available from the Council’s main bank.  The 
balance on this account is instantly accessible if the group bank account becomes 
overdrawn. 

 

b. Bank overdraft arrangements 
There is no overdraft arrangement for the Council’s accounts. Bank Charges will be 
calculated on overdrawn amounts at 15% on any amount over the Net limit. 

 
c. Short-term borrowing facilities 

The Council may access temporary loans through approved brokers on the London  
money market. The approved borrowing limit for short term debt is £10m. 
 

d. Insurance/guarantee facilities 
There are no specific insurance or guarantee facilities as the above arrangements  
are regarded as being adequate to cover all unforeseen occurrences. 

 
Page 85



Treasury Management Practices  
8 

                               
 
 
 
1.3 Interest Rate Risk Management 

There is a risk that fluctuations in the levels of interest rates would create an unexpected or 
unbudgeted burden on the organisation’s finances, against which the organisation has failed 
to protect itself adequately. 
 
This Council will manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view to 
containing its interest costs, or securing its interest revenues, in accordance with the amounts 
provided in its budgetary arrangements as amended in accordance with TMP6 Reporting 
requirements and management information arrangements. 
 
It will achieve this by the prudent use of its approved financing and investment instruments, 
methods and techniques, primarily to create stability and certainty of costs and revenues, but 
at the same time retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of unexpected, 
potentially advantageous changes in the level or structure of interest rates. This should be 
the subject to the consideration and, if required, approval of any policy or budgetary 
implications. 
 
1.3.1 Details of approved interest rate exposure limits   

The Treasury Indicators for 2023/24 include a figure of £35 million for External Debt – 
Authorised Limit. 

 

1.3.2 Trigger points and other guidelines for managing changes to interest rate      
levels 

The Treasury Indicators for 2023/24 include a figure of £20 million for External Debt – 
Operational Boundary. 

 

1.3.3 Upper limit for fixed interest rate exposure  

The Prudential Indicators for 2023/24 include an estimated exposure of 100% of 
principal sums outstanding in respect of borrowing at fixed interest rates. 

  

1.3.4 Upper limit for variable interest rate exposure 

The prudential Indicators for 2023/24 include an estimated exposure of 100% of 
principal sums outstanding in respect of borrowing at variable interest rates. 

 

1.3.5 Policies concerning the use of instruments for interest rate management. 

a. Forward Dealing   
 Consideration will be given to dealing from forward periods dependent upon market 

conditions.  
 
b. Callable Deposits   
 The Council may use callable deposits as part as of its Annual Investment Strategy 

(AIS).  The credit criteria and maximum periods are set out in the Schedule of 
Specified and Non Specified Investments appended to the AIS.  

 
c. LOBOS (borrowing under lender’s option/borrower’s option) 
 Use of LOBOs are considered as part of the annual borrowing strategy. All 

borrowing for periods in excess of 365 days must be approved by the Deputy Chief 
Executive. 

  
 Page 86



Treasury Management Practices  
9 

 
 
 
 
1.4 Exchange Rate Risk Management 

The risk that fluctuations in foreign exchange rates create an unexpected or unbudgeted 
burden on the organisation’s finances, against which the organisation has failed to protect 
itself adequately. 
 
The Council will manage its exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates so as to minimise any 
detrimental impact on its budgeted income/expenditure levels. 
 
 

1.5 Refinancing Risk Management 

The risk that maturing borrowings, capital, project or partnership financings cannot be 
refinanced on terms that reflect the provisions made by the organisation for those refinancing, 
both capital and current (revenue), and/or that the terms are inconsistent with prevailing 
market conditions at the time. 
 
This Council will ensure that its borrowing, private financing and partnership arrangements 
are negotiated, structured and documented, and the maturity profile of the monies so raised 
are managed, with a view to obtaining offer terms for renewal or refinancing, if required, 
which are competitive and as favourable to the organisation as can reasonably be achieved 
in the light of market conditions prevailing at the time. 
 
It will actively manage its relationships with its counterparties in these transactions in such a 
manner as to secure this objective, and will avoid overreliance on any one source of funding 
if this might jeopardise achievement of the above. 

 

1.5.1. Debt/Other Capital Financing, Maturity Profiling, Policies and Practices 

The Council will establish through its Prudential and Treasury Indicators the amount of 
debt maturing in any year/period.   
 
Any debt rescheduling will be considered when the difference between the refinancing 
rate and the redemption rate is most advantageous and the situation will be continually 
monitored in order to take advantage of any perceived anomalies in the yield curve.  
The reasons for any rescheduling to take place will include: 

a) the generation of cash savings at minimum risk; 
b) to reduce the average interest rate; 
c) to amend the maturity profile and /or the balance of volatility of the debt portfolio. 

 
All rescheduling will be reported to the Cabinet at as soon as possible after the debt 
rescheduling exercise. 

 
1.5.2. Projected Capital Investment Requirements 

The Deputy Chief Executive will prepare a three year plan for capital expenditure for 
the Council. The capital plan will be used to prepare a three year revenue budget for all 
forms of financing charges.   
In addition the Deputy Chief Executive will draw up a capital strategy report which will 
give a longer term view. 
 
The definition of capital expenditure and long term liabilities used in the Code will follow 
recommended accounting practice as per the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting. 

Page 87



Treasury Management Practices  
10 

 
 
 

 
1.5.3. Policy Concerning Limits on Affordability and Revenue Consequences of Capital 

Financing 

In considering the affordability of its capital plans, the Council will consider all the 
resources currently available/estimated for the future together with the totality of its 
capital plans, revenue income and revenue expenditure forecasts for the forthcoming 
year and the two following years and the impact these will have on council tax.  It will 
also take into account affordability in the longer term beyond this three year period.  
 
The Council will use the definitions provided in the Prudential Code for borrowing (65), 
capital expenditure (66), capital financing requirement (67), debt (68), financing costs 
(69), investments (70), net borrowing (71), net revenue stream (72), other long term 
liabilities (73).   

 
 
1.6 Legal and Regulatory Risk Management 

The risk that the organisation itself, or an organisation with which it is dealing in its treasury 
management activities, fails to act in accordance with its legal powers or regulatory requirements, 
and that the organisation suffers losses accordingly. 
 
The Council will ensure that all of its treasury management activities comply with its statutory 
powers and regulatory requirements. It will demonstrate such compliance, if required to do so, to 
all parties with whom it deals in such activities. In framing its credit and counterparty policy under 
TMP1[1] credit and counterparty risk management, it will ensure that there is evidence of 
counterparties’ powers, authority and compliance in respect of the transactions they may effect 
with the organisation, particularly with regard to duty of care and fees charged. 
 
The Council recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact on its treasury 
management activities and, so far as it is reasonably able to do so, will seek to minimise the risk 
of these impacting adversely on the organisation. 

 
 

1.6.1. References to Relevant Statutes and Regulations 
The treasury management activities of the Council shall comply fully with legal 
statute, guidance, Codes of Practice and the regulations of the Council.  These are: 

 
English Authorities: - 

 Local Government Finance Act 1988 section 114 – duty on the responsible officer to 
issue a report if the Council is likely to get into a financially unviable position 

 Requirement to set a balanced budget – Local Government Finance Act 1992 section 32  

 Local Government Act 2003   

 S.I. 2003 No.2938 Local Government Act 2003 (Commencement No.1 and Transitional 
Provisions and Savings) Order 2003  13.11.03 

 S.I. 2003 No.3146 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
Regulations 2003 and associated commentary    10.12.03 

 S.I. 2004 No.533 Local Authorities (Capital Finance) (Consequential, Transitional and 
Savings Provisions) Order 2004    8.3.04  

 S.I. 2004 No.534 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) 
(England) Regulations 2004    8.3.04 

 S.I. 2004 no.3055 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) 
(England) (No.2) Regulations 2004 Page 88



Treasury Management Practices  
11 

 S.I. 2006 no.521 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) 
(England) Regulations 2006   

 S.I. 2007 no. 573 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) 
(England) Regulations 2007  

 Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 s238(2) – power to issue 
guidance; to be used re: MRP 

 S.I. 2008 no. 414 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) 
(England) Regulations 2008 

 S.I. 2009 no. 321 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) 
(England) Regulations 2009 

 S.I. 2009 no. 2272 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance And Accounting) (England) 
(Amendment) (No.2) Regulations 2009 

 S.I. 2009 no. 3093 The Local Government Pension Fund Scheme (Management and 
Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009 

 S.I. 2010 no. 454 (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 
2010 

 Localism Act 2011 

 S.I. 2012 no.265 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2012 

 S.I.2012 no 711 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
(Amendment) (No.2) Regulations 2012 

 2012 no.1324 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
(Amendment) (No.3) Regulation 2012 

 S.I. No 2269 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
(Amendment) (No.4) Regulations 2012 

 S.I. 2013 no 476 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2013 

 S.I. 2015 no.234 Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 

 S.I. 2017 no. 536 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2017 

 S.I. 2018 no. 1207 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2018 

 Statutory Guidance on Investments  2018 

 Statutory Guidance on MRP  2018 

 2019 No. 394 Exiting the European Union financial services: The Money Market Funds 
(Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019 

 S.I. 2019 no. 396 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2019 

 

Guidance and codes of practice 

 CIPFA Local Authority Capital Accounting – a reference manual for practitioners latest 
year edition 

 CIPFA Guide for Chief Financial Officers on Treasury Management in Local Authorities 
1996 

 CIPFA Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management 2002 

 CIPFA Standard of Professional Practice on Continuous professional Development 2005 

 CIPFA Standard of Professional Practice on Ethics 2006 

 The Good Governance Standard for Public Services 2004 

 CIPFA’s Treasury Management Codes of Practice and Guidance Notes 2021. 

 Page 89



Treasury Management Practices  
12 

 CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities – guidance notes for 
practitioners 2021. 

 LAAP Bulletins  

 IFRS - Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom: A 
Statement of recommended Practice 

 PWLB circulars on Lending Policy 

 The UK Money Markets Guide (was formerly known as Financial Conduct Authority’s 
Code of Market Conduct) 

 The Council’s Standing Orders relating to Contracts 

 The Council’s Financial Regulations 

 The Council’s Scheme of Delegated Functions  

 

Page 90



Treasury Management Practices  
13 

1.6.2. Procedures for Evidencing the Council’s Powers/Authorities to Counterparties 

The Council’s powers to borrow and invest are contained in legislation.   
 

Investing:    Local Government Act 2003, section 12   
Borrowing:  Local Government Act 2003, section 1   
 
Required Information on Counterparties  
Lending shall only be made to counterparties on the Approved Lending list. This list 
has been compiled using advice from the Council’s treasury advisers based upon 
credit ratings supplied by Fitch, Moodys and Standard & Poors. 

 
 

1.6.3 Statement on the Council’s Political Risks and Management of Same 

The Deputy Chief Executive shall take appropriate action with the Council, the Chief 
Executive and the Leader of the Council to respond to and manage appropriately 
political risks such as change of majority group, leadership in the Council, change of 
Government etc. 

 
1.6.4 Monitoring Officer 

The monitoring officer is the Executive Director – Legal & Democratic Services; the 
duty of this officer is to ensure that the treasury management activities of the Council 
are lawful. 

 
1.6.5. Chief Financial Officer 

The Chief Financial Officer is the Deputy Chief Executive; the duty of this officer is to 
ensure that the financial affairs of the Council are conducted in a prudent manner and 
to make a report to the Council if he has concerns as to the financial prudence of its 
actions or its expected financial position. 

 
 
1.7 Fraud, Error and Corruption, and Contingency Management 

There is a risk that an organisation could fail to identify the circumstances in which it may be 
exposed to the risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its treasury 
management dealings, and fail to employ suitable systems and procedures and maintain 
effective contingency management arrangements to these ends. This is commonly referred to 
as operational risk. 

 
The Council will ensure that it has identified the circumstances which may expose it to the 
risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its treasury management 
dealings. Accordingly, it will employ suitable systems and procedures, and will maintain 
effective contingency management arrangements, to these ends. 

 
The Council will therefore:- 

a) Seek to ensure an adequate division of responsibilities and maintenance at all times of 
an adequate level of internal check which minimises such risks.   

b) Fully document all its treasury management activities so that there can be no possible 
confusion as to what proper procedures are.   

c) Staff will not be allowed to take up treasury management activities until they have had 
proper training in procedures and are then subject to an adequate and appropriate level 
of supervision.   

d) Records will be maintained of all treasury management transactions so that there is a 
full audit trail and evidence of the appropriate checks being carried out. 

 
 
 Page 91



Treasury Management Practices  
14 

1.7.1. Details of Systems and Procedures to be Followed, Including Internet Services 

 
 Authority 

 The Scheme of Delegation to Officers sets out the delegation of duties to officers.  
 All loans and investments are negotiated by the responsible officer or authorised 

persons.  
 Loan procedures are defined in the Council’s Financial Regulations. 
 
 Procedures 

 Electronic Banking procedures – A password and PIN number is required to access 
the Bankline system which is used to make electronic payments. 

 CHAPS payments – Payments can only be authorised by agreed officers who have 
been notified to the current provider of our banking services. 
 

 
 Investment and borrowing transactions 

 A detailed register of all loans and investments is maintained by the treasury team. 
This is regularly checked to the ledger. 

 Adequate and effective cash flow forecasting records are maintained on 
spreadsheets to support the decision to lend or borrow. 

 A written acknowledgement of each deal is sent promptly to the lending or borrowing 
institution.  

 Written confirmation is received and checked against the dealer’s records for the 
transaction. 

 Any discrepancies are immediately reported to the Principal Accountant for 
resolution. 

 All transactions placed through brokers are confirmed by a broker note showing 
details of the loan arranged. Written confirmation is received and checked against 
the dealer’s records for the transaction.  Any discrepancies are immediately reported 
to the Principal Accountant for resolution. 

 
Regularity and security 

 Lending is only made to institutions on the Approved List of Counterparties.  
 All loans raised and repayments made go directly to and from the bank account of 

approved counterparties. 
 Counterparty limits are set for every institution that the Council invests with. 
 Brokers have a list of named officials authorised to agree deals.. 
 There is a separation of duties in the section between dealers and the checking and 

authorisation of all deals. 
 The Council’s bank holds a list of Council officials who are authorised signatories for 

treasury management transactions. 
  Payments can only be authorised in a formal letter by an authorised signatory, the  

list of signatories having previously been agreed with the current provider of our 
banking services. 

 There is adequate insurance cover for employees involved in loans management and 
accounting. 

 
Checks 

 The bank reconciliation is carried out monthly from the bank statement to the financial 
ledger. 

 A debt charge/investment income listing is produced monthly when a review is 
undertaken against the budget for interest earnings and debt costs.   

 
   

Page 92



Treasury Management Practices  
15 

Calculations 

 The calculation of repayment of principal and interest notified by the lender or 
borrower is checked for accuracy against the amount calculated by the Treasury 
Team. 
 

 
1.7.2. Emergency and Contingency Planning Arrangements 

Disaster Recovery Plan. 
 
Treasury Management related files (word and excel) are stored on the Council’s ‘H’ 
Drive with arrangements for contingency/back-up.  Backup facilities can be accessed 
off site.  
 
In the event of a ‘Bankline System’ failure, manual procedures would be followed with 
information being provided from the Council’s Bankers by telephone. 
 
All members of the treasury management team are familiar with this plan and new 
members will be briefed on it.   
 

   
1.7.3. Insurance Cover Details  

Crime Insurance 
The Council has ‘Crime’ insurance cover with Zurich Municipal Insurance. This covers 
the loss of cash by fraud or dishonesty of employees.  
This cover is limited to £2m per employee with an overall policy aggregate limit of 
indemnity of £2m. There is an excess of £5,000 for any one claim. 
 
Officials Indemnity Insurance 
The Council also has an ‘Officials Indemnity’ insurance policy with Protector which 
covers loss to the Council from the actions and advice of its officers in the course of 
their duty which are negligent and without due care. This cover is limited to £5m for 
any one event with an excess of £25,000 for any one event.  
 
Business Interruption 
The Council also has a ‘Business Interruption’ cover as part of its property insurance 
with Zurich Municipal Insurance.  

 
1.8  Market Risk Management 

The risk that, through adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums an 
organisation borrows and invests, its stated treasury management policies and objectives 
are compromised, against which effects it has failed to protect itself adequately. 

 
The Council will seek to ensure that its stated treasury management policies and objectives 
will not be compromised by adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums it 
invests, and will accordingly seek to protect itself from the effects of such fluctuations. 

 
1.8.1. Details of Approved Procedures and Limits for Controlling Exposure to 

Investments Whose Capital Value May Fluctuate (Gilts, CDs, Etc.) 
 These are controlled through setting limits on investment instruments where the 

principal value can fluctuate.  The limits are determined and set through the Annual 
Investment Strategy.  

 
 
 
 

 Page 93



Treasury Management Practices  
16 

TMP 1 SCHEDULE 1 – SPECIFIED AND NON SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS 
The guidance and CIPFA TM Code distinguishes between specified and non-specified 
investments, as follows:- 
 

 Specified Investments: All such investments will be sterling denominated with maturities 
up to a maximum of 1 year, meeting the minimum ‘high’ quality criteria where applicable. 

 Non-Specified Investments: These are investments which do not meet the Specified 
Investment Criteria. 

 
 
 

Organisation – 
Specified unless 
otherwise stated 

Minimum credit criteria / 
colour band 

Max Amount Max Period 

Term deposits with 
UK Clearing Banks 

 
Blue 
Orange 
Red 
Green 
No Colour 

£2m 
 

 
Up to 1 year* 
Up to 1 year 
Up to 6 months 
Up to 100 days 
Not for use 

Liquid deposits with 
Nat West Liquidity 
Account  

 
Blue 
Orange 
Red 
Green 
No Colour 

 
£3m  

 
Up to 1 year* 
Up to 1 year 
Up to 6 months 
Up to 100 days 
Not for use 

Term deposits with 
UK Building 
Societies 

 
Blue 
Orange 
Red 
Green 
No Colour 

£2m 
 

 
Up to 1 year* 
Up to 1 year 
Up to 6 months 
Up to 100 days 
Not for use 

 
UK Local Authorities 
 

N/A £2m Up to 1 year 

 
Money Market Funds 
CNAV 
 

Minimum AAA £2m Up to 1 year 

 
Money Market Funds 
LVNAV 
 

Minimum AAA £2m Up to 1 year 

 
Money Market Funds 
VNAV 
 

Minimum AAA £2m Up to 1 year 

 
 * Nationalised and part Nationalised banks 

Page 94



Treasury Management Practices  
17 

TMP 2 Performance Management 
 
2.1 Evaluation and Review of Treasury Management Decisions 

The Council has a number of approaches to evaluating treasury management decisions: - 
a. reviews with our treasury management consultants 
b. annual review after the end of the year as reported to full council 
c. half yearly reports to Cabinet 

 

 
2.1.1 Reviews with our treasury management consultants 

The treasury management team holds reviews with our consultants every 12 months to 
review the performance of the investment and debt portfolios.   

 
2.1.2 Review reports on treasury management 

An Annual Treasury Report is submitted to the Council each year after the close of the 
financial year which reviews the performance of the debt and investment portfolios. 
This report contains the following: - 

 
a. total debt and investments at the beginning and close of the financial year and 

average interest rates 
b. borrowing strategy for the year compared to actual strategy 
c. investment strategy for the year compared to actual strategy 
d. explanations for variance between original strategies and actual 
e. debt rescheduling done in the year 
f. actual borrowing and investment rates available through the year 
g. compliance with Prudential and Treasury Indicators 
h. other 

 
 

2.1.3 Half Yearly Monitoring Reports 

A half yearly Report on Treasury Management is submitted to Cabinet in December 
which reviews the performance of the debt and investment portfolios.  This report 
contains the same information as the annual report but only includes information for the 
first 6 months 
 
 

2.1.4 Comparative reviews 

When data becomes available, comparative reviews are undertaken to see how the 
performance of the authority on debt and investments compares to other authorities 
with similar size portfolios (but allowing for the fact that Prudential and Treasury 
Indicators are locally set).  Data used will be sourced from: - 

 
 CIPFA Treasury Management statistics published each year for the last complete 

financial year  
 CIPFA Benchmarking Club 
 other 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 95



Treasury Management Practices  
18 

2.2 Benchmarks and Calculation Methodology: 

2.2.1 Debt management 

 Average rate on all external debt 
 Average rate on external debt borrowed in previous financial year 
 Average rate on internal borrowing 
 Average period to maturity of external debt  
 Average period to maturity of new loans in previous year 
 

2.2.2 Investment. 

  The performance of investment earnings will be measured against the following 
benchmarks: - 

 
a. in house investments  
b. Link Group model   
 
Performance may also be measured against other local authority funds with similar 
benchmark and parameters managed by other fund managers. 

 
2.3 Policy Concerning Methods for Testing Value for money in Treasury Management 

 
2.3.1 Frequency and processes for tendering 
 Tenders are normally awarded on a 3 year basis.  The process for advertising and 

awarding contracts will be in line with the Council’s Contract Standing Orders. 
 
2.3.2 Banking services 
 The Council’s banking arrangements are to be subject to competitive tender unless it is 

considered that there will be changes in the volume of transactions in the foreseeable 
future which renders a shorter period appropriate. 

  
2.3.3 Money-broking services 
 The Council may use money broking services in order to make deposits or to borrow, 

and will establish charges for all services prior to using them.   
  
2.3.4 Consultants’/advisers’ services 
 This Council’s policy is to appoint full-time professional treasury management 

consultants (Link Group) and separate leasing advisory consultants (Chrystal Medical 
Ltd). 

  
 
2.3.5  Policy on External Managers (Other than relating to Superannuation Funds) 
   

The Council’s policy is not to appoint external investment fund managers.   

Page 96



Treasury Management Practices  
19 

TMP 3 Decision-Making and Analysis 

3.1  Funding, Borrowing, Lending, and New Instruments/Techniques: 
 

3.1.1 Records to be kept 
All loan transactions are recorded on a spreadsheet. 
The following records will be used relative to each loan or investment. 
 Daily cash balance forecasts 
 Money market rates obtained by telephone and e-mail from brokers or direct 
 Dealing slips for all money market transactions 
 Brokers’ confirmations for investment and temporary borrowing transactions 
 Confirmations from borrowing /lending institutions where deals are done directly 
 PWLB loan confirmations 
 PWLB debt portfolio schedules.  
 Certificates for market loans, local bonds and other loans 

 
3.1.2 Processes to be pursued 

 Cash flow analysis. 
 Debt and investment maturity analysis 
 Ledger reconciliation 
 Review of opportunities for debt restructuring (if applicable) 
 Review of borrowing requirement to finance capital expenditure (and other forms of 

financing where those offer value for money) 
 Performance information (e.g. monitoring of actuals against budget for debt 

charges, interest earned, debt management; also monitoring of average pool rate, 
investment returns, etc). 

 
3.1.3 Issues to be addressed. 

 
3.1.3.1. In respect of every treasury management decision made the Council will: 

a) Above all be clear about the nature and extent of the risks to which the Council 
may become exposed 

b) Be certain about the legality of the decision reached and the nature of the 
transaction, and that all authorities to proceed have been obtained 

c) Be content that the documentation is adequate both to deliver the Council’s 
objectives and protect the Council’s interests, and to deliver good 
housekeeping 

d) Ensure that third parties are judged satisfactory in the context of the Council’s 
creditworthiness policies, and that limits have not been exceeded 

e) Be content that the terms of any transactions have been fully checked against 
the market, and have been found to be competitive. 

 

Page 97



Treasury Management Practices  
20 

3.1.3.2 In respect of borrowing and other funding decisions, the Council will: 
a) consider the ongoing revenue liabilities created, and the implications for the 

organisation’s future plans and budgets 
b) evaluate the economic and market factors that might influence the manner and 

timing of any decision to finance capital schemes 
c) consider the merits and demerits of alternative forms of funding, including 

funding from revenue, leasing and external grant providers 
d) consider the alternative interest rate bases available, the most appropriate 

periods to fund and repayment profiles to use.  
 
 
3.1.3.3 In respect of investment decisions, the Council will: 

a) Consider the optimum period, in the light of cash flow availability and 
prevailing market conditions; 

b) Consider the alternative investment products and techniques available, 
especially the implications of using any which may expose the Council to 
changes in the value of its capital.  

 

Page 98



Treasury Management Practices  
21 

TMP 4 Approved Instruments, Methods and Techniques 

4.1 Approved Activities of the Treasury Management Operation 

 borrowing; 
 lending; 
 debt repayment and rescheduling; 
 consideration, approval and use of new financial instruments and treasury management 

techniques; 
 managing the underlying risk associated with the Council’s capital financing and surplus 

funds activities; 
 managing cash flow; 
 banking activities; 
 leasing. 

 
 
4.2 Approved Instruments for Investments  

Refer to the Annual Investment Strategy (updated February 2022) 

 
 

4.2.1 Implementation of MIFID II Requirements  

Since 3 January 2018, UK public sector bodies have been defaulted to “retail” status under the 
requirements of MiFID II. However, for each counterparty it is looking to transact with, (e.g. 
financial institution, fund management operator, broker), there remains the option to opt up to 
“professional” status, subject to meeting certain requirements specified by MIFID II and that it has 
the appropriate level of knowledge and experience and decision making processes in place in 
order to use regulated investment products.  
  
MIFID II does not cover term deposits so local authorities should not be required to opt up to 
professional status. However, some non-UK banks do not have the necessary regulatory 
permissions to deal with retail clients, so opting up to professional status would be required.   
  
For investing in negotiable investment instruments, (e.g. certificates of deposit, gilts, corporate 
bonds), money market funds and other types of investment funds, which are covered by MIFID II, 
a schedule is maintained of all counterparties that the treasury management team are authorised 
to place investments with. This specifies for each investment instrument and for each 
counterparty, whether the authority has been opted up to professional status. (N.B. some money 
markets funds will deal with both retail and professional clients.) 
 
A file is maintained for all permissions applied for and received for opt ups to professional status 
specifying name of the institution, instrument, date applied for and date received.   
 
 

4.3 Approved Techniques 

 Forward dealing  
 LOBOs – lenders option, borrower’s option borrowing instrument 
 The use of structured products such as callable deposits 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 99



Treasury Management Practices  
22 

4.4 Approved Methods and Sources of Raising Capital Finance 

Finance will only be raised in accordance with the Local Government Act 2003, and within 
this limit the Council has a number of approved methods and sources of raising capital 
finance.  These are: 

 
On Balance Sheet Fixed Variable  
  

PWLB    

Market (long-term)    

Market (temporary)   

Market (LOBOs)   

Local authorities   

Local temporary   

Local Bonds  

Banks  

Overdraft    

Internal (capital receipts & revenue balances)   

Leasing (not operating leases)   

Deferred Purchase   

  

 Other Methods of Financing 

 Government and EC Capital Grants 

 Lottery monies 

 Operating leases 

 
Borrowing will only be done in Sterling.  All forms of funding will be considered dependent on 
the prevailing economic climate, regulations and local considerations. The Deputy Chief 
Executive has delegated powers in accordance with Financial Regulations, Standing Orders, 
the Scheme of Delegation to Officers Policy and the Treasury Management Strategy to take 
the most appropriate form of borrowing from the approved sources. 

 
 
 
4.5 Investment Limits 

The Annual Investment Strategy sets out the limits and the guidelines for use of each type of 
investment instrument.   

 
 
4.6 Borrowing Limits 

See the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Prudential and Treasury Indicators.  

Page 100



Treasury Management Practices  
23 

TMP 5  Organisation, Clarity and Segregation of Responsibilities, 
and Dealing Arrangements 

 
5.1  Allocation of responsibilities 

 
(i) Full Council 

 receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices and 
activities 

 approval of annual strategy. 

 approval of capital strategy 
 

 
(ii) Full Council / Cabinet 

 approval of amendments to the organisation’s adopted clauses, treasury 
management policy statement and treasury management practices 

 budget consideration and approval 

 approval of the division of responsibilities 

 receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on recommendations 

 approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of 
appointment. 

 
(iii) Resources Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

 reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making 
recommendations to the responsible body. 

 
 
5.2 Principles and Practices Concerning Segregation of Duties 

5.2.1 The following duties are undertaken by separate officers: - 

Dealing  

 

Negotiation and approval of deal. 

Receipt and checking of brokers confirmation 
note against loans diary. 

Reconciliation of cash control account. 

Bank reconciliation 

 

Accounting Entry Processing the expenditure or income 
i.e.posting the entries into the accounting 
system. 

 

Authorisation/Payment of Deal Entry onto system. 

Approval and payment. 

Approval of deals 
 

Page 101



Treasury Management Practices  
24 

5.3 Treasury Management Organisation Chart 

 
  Deputy Chief 

Executive   
(S151 Officer) 

  

  I   
  Head of Accounts   
                 I   
  Accounts Manager   
                 I   
  Principal 

Accountant 
  

                 I   
  Senior Accountant 

/ Accountancy 
Assistant 

  

 
5.4 Statement of the treasury management duties/responsibilities of each treasury post 
 

5.4.1. The responsible officer  
The responsible officer is the person charged with professional responsibility for the 
treasury management function and in this Council is the Deputy Chief Executive   (This 
post is also the S151 officer.)   This person will carry out the following duties: - 
 

a) Recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance 

b) Submitting regular treasury management policy reports 
c) Submitting budgets and budget variations 
d) Receiving and reviewing management information reports 
e) Reviewing the performance of the treasury management function 
f) Ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 

effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function 
g) Ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit 
h) Recommending the appointment of external service providers. 

i) The responsible officer has delegated powers through this policy to take the 
most appropriate form of borrowing from the approved sources, and to make 
the most appropriate form of investments in approved instruments. 

j) The responsible officer may delegate his power to borrow and invest to 
members of his staff. The Accounts Manager, the Principal Accountant or the 
Accountancy Assistant Treasury Management Team must conduct all dealing 
transactions, or staff authorised by the responsible officer to act as temporary 
cover for leave/sickness.  All transactions must be authorised by at least two of 
the named officers above. 

k) The responsible officer will ensure that Treasury Management Policy is adhered 
to, and if not will bring the matter to the attention of elected members as soon 
as possible.  

l) Prior to entering into any capital financing, lending or investment transaction, it 
is the responsibility of the responsible officer to be satisfied, by reference to the 
Council’s legal department and external advisors as appropriate, that the 
proposed transaction does not breach any statute, external regulation or the 
Council’s Financial Regulations 

m) It is also the responsibility of the responsible officer to ensure that the Council 
complies with the requirements of The UK Money Markets Code (formerly 
known as the Non Investment Products Code) for principals and broking firms in 
the wholesale markets. Page 102



Treasury Management Practices  
25 

 
5.4.2. Accounts Manager / Principal Accountant 
 The responsibilities of this post will be: - 

a) Execution of transactions 
b) Adherence to agreed policies and practices on a day-to-day basis 
c) Maintaining relationships with counterparties and external service providers 
d) Supervising treasury management staff 
e) Monitoring performance on a day-to-day basis 
f) Submitting management information reports to the responsible officer 
g) Identifying and recommending opportunities for improved practices 

 
5.4.3. The Head of the Paid Service – the Chief Executive 
 The responsibilities of this post will be: - 

a) Ensuring that the system is specified and implemented 
b) Ensuring that the Deputy Chief Executive reports regularly to the full Council and 

Cabinet on treasury policy, activity and performance. 
 
5.4.4. The Monitoring Officer – Executive Director – Legal & Democratic Services 
 The responsibilities of this post will be: - 

a) Ensuring compliance by the Deputy Chief Executive with the treasury 
management policy statement and treasury management practices and that they 
comply with the law. 

b) Being satisfied that any proposal to vary treasury policy or practice complies with 
law or any code of practice. 

c) Giving advice to the Deputy Chief Executive when advice is sought. 
 
5.4.5. Internal Audit 
 The responsibilities of Internal Audit will be: - 

a) Reviewing compliance with approved policy and treasury management practices. 
b) Reviewing division of duties and operational practice. 
c) Assessing value for money from treasury activities. 
d) Undertaking probity audit of treasury function. 

 
5.5 Absence Cover Arrangements 

The Head of Accounts is also the deputy S151 Officer. 
 
5.6 Dealing Limits 

The following posts are authorised to deal: -  

 Head of Accounts 

 Accounts Manager 

 Principal Accountant 
 
The dealing limits are set out in TMP 1.1.1 

 
 

5.7 Direct Dealing Practices 

The Council will consider dealing direct with counterparties if it is appropriate and the 
Council believes that better terms will be available.  At present, most deals are arranged 
through brokers.  There are certain types of accounts and facilities, however, where direct 
dealing is required, as follows; 

 Business Reserve Accounts: 

 Call Accounts: 

 Money Market Funds. 
 
 Page 103



Treasury Management Practices  
26 

 
5.8 Settlement Transmission Procedures 

For payments a transfer will be made through the CHAP’s system or Faster Pay system to 
be completed by the appropriate bank deadlines in place that day. 

 
5.9 Documentation Requirements 

For each deal undertaken a record should be prepared giving details of dealer, amount, 
period, counterparty, interest rate, dealing date, payment date(s), broker.   

 
5.10 Arrangements Concerning the Management of Third-Party Funds. 

The Council holds a number of trust funds.  The cash in respect of these funds is held in 
the Council’s bank account but transactions are separately coded.  Interest is given on 
credit balances at the bank base rate for internal balances for the year.   

Page 104



Treasury Management Practices  
27 

TMP 6  Reporting Requirements and Management  
Information Arrangements 
 

6.1  Annual programme of reporting 
 

a) Annual reporting requirements before the start of the year: - 
a. review of the organisation’s approved clauses, treasury management policy 

statement and practices 
b. strategy report on proposed treasury management activities for the year 

comprising of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment 
Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement  

c. Capital Strategy to cover the following: 
I. Give a longer term view of the capital programme and treasury 

management implications thereof beyond the three year time horizon for 
detailed planning. 

II. An overview of treasury and non-treasury investments to highlight the risks 
and returns involved in each and the balance (proportionality), between 
both types of investments. 

III. The authorities risk appetite and specific policies and arrangements for 
non-treasury investments. 

IV. Schedule of non-treasury investments 
 

b) Mid-year review  
 

c) Annual review report after the end of the year 

 
6.2 Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement 

1. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement sets out the specific expected treasury 
activities for the forthcoming financial year. This strategy will be submitted to the Cabinet 
and then to the full Council for approval before the commencement of each financial year.  

 

2. The formulation of the annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement involves 
determining the appropriate borrowing and investment decisions in the light of the 
anticipated movement in both fixed and shorter term variable interest rates.  For instance, 
the Council may decide to postpone borrowing if fixed interest rates are expected to fall, 
or borrow early if fixed interest rates are expected to rise.  

 

3. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement is concerned with the following elements: 

a) Prudential and Treasury Indicators  
b) current Treasury portfolio position 
c) borrowing requirement  
d) prospects for interest rates 
e) borrowing strategy 
f) policy on borrowing in advance of need 
g) debt rescheduling 
h) investment strategy 
i) creditworthiness policy 
j) policy on the use of external service providers 
k) any extraordinary treasury issue 
l) the MRP strategy 
 

Page 105



Treasury Management Practices  
28 

4. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement will establish the expected move in 
interest rates against alternatives (using all available information such as published 
interest rate forecasts where applicable), and highlight sensitivities to different scenarios. 

 

6.3 The Annual Investment Strategy Statement 

At the same time as the Council receives the Treasury Management Strategy Statement it will 
also receive a report on the Annual Investment Strategy which will set out the following: - 

a) The Council’s risk appetite in respect of security, liquidity and optimum performance 
b) The definition of ‘high credit quality’ to determine what are specified investments as 

distinct from non specified investments 
c) Which specified and non specified instruments the Council will use 
d) Whether they will be used by the in house team, external managers or both (if 

applicable) 
e) The Council’s policy on the use of credit ratings and other credit risk analysis 

techniques to determine creditworthy counterparties for its approved lending list 
f) Which credit rating agencies the Council will use 
g) How the Council will deal with changes in ratings, rating watches and rating outlooks 
h) Limits for individual counterparties and group limits 
i) Country limits  
j) Levels of cash balances 
k) Interest rate outlook 
l) Budget for investment earnings 
m) Policy on the use of external service providers 

 

 

6.4 The Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Statement  

This statement will set out how the Council will make revenue provision for repayment of its 
borrowing using the four options for so doing and will be submitted at the same time as the 
Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement. 

 

 

6.5 Policy on Prudential and Treasury Indicators  

1. The Council approves before the beginning of each financial year a number of treasury 
limits which are set through Prudential and Treasury Indicators. 

2. The responsible officer is responsible for incorporating these limits into the Annual 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement, and for ensuring compliance with the limits. 
Should it prove necessary to amend these limits, the responsible officer shall submit the 
changes for approval to Cabinet and then full Council. 

 
 
6.6  Mid year review 

The Council will review its treasury management activities and strategy on a six monthly  
basis.  This review will consider the following: - 
 
a) activities undertaken 
b) variations (if any) from agreed policies/practices 
c) interim performance report 
d) regular monitoring 
e) monitoring of treasury management indicators for local authorities. 
 

 Page 106



Treasury Management Practices  
29 

6.7 Annual Review Report on Treasury Management Activity 

 An annual report will be presented to the Cabinet and then to the full Council  at the earliest 
practicable meeting after the end of the financial year, but in any case by the end of 
September.  This report will include the following: -  

 
a) transactions executed and their revenue (current) effects 
b) report on risk implications of decisions taken and transactions executed 
c) compliance report on agreed policies and practices, and on statutory/regulatory 

requirements 
d) performance report 
e) report on compliance with CIPFA Code recommendations 
f) monitoring of treasury management indicators  

 
 
6.8  Management Information Reports 

Management information reports will be prepared every month by the Principal Accountant 
and will be presented to the Accounts Manager. 

 
These reports will contain the following information: - 
a) a summary of transactions executed and their revenue effect; and 
b) the effect on loan charges/investment income; and 
c) any non compliance with Prudential limits or other treasury management limits. 

 

 
6.9  Publication of Treasury Management Reports 

Reports presented to Council and Cabinet are available to view on the Council’s website 
www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk. 

 

  

Page 107



Treasury Management Practices  
30 

TMP 7  Budgeting, Accounting and Audit Arrangements 
 
7.1 Statutory/Regulatory Requirements 

The accounts are drawn up in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in Great Britain that is recognised by statute as representing proper accounting 
practices.   
The Council has also adopted in full the principles set out in CIPFA’s ‘Treasury Management 
in the Public Services - Code of  Practice’ (the ‘CIPFA Code’), together with those of its 
specific recommendations that are relevant to this Council’s treasury management activities. 
 

7.2 Sample Budgets / Accounts / Prudential and Treasury Indicators 

The Deputy Chief Executive will prepare a three year medium term financial plan with 
Prudential and Treasury Indicators for treasury management which will incorporate the 
budget for the forthcoming year and provisional estimates for the following two years. This 
will bring together all the costs involved in running the function, together with associated 
income.  The Deputy Chief Executive will exercise effective controls over this budget and 
monitoring of performance against Prudential and Treasury Indicators, and will report upon 
and recommend any changes required in accordance with TMP6.  

 
7.3 List of Information Requirements of External Auditors. 

 Reconciliation of loans outstanding in the financial ledger to Treasury Management 
records 

 Maturity analysis of loans outstanding 
 Certificates for new long term loans taken out in the year 
 Reconciliation of loan interest, discounts received and premiums paid to financial ledger 

by loan type 
 Calculation of loans fund interest and debt management expenses 
 Details of interest rates applied to internal investments 
 Calculation of interest on working balances 
 Interest accrual calculation  
 Analysis of any deferred charges 
 Calculation of loans fund creditors and debtors 
 Annual Treasury Report 
 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Prudential and Treasury Indicators 
 Review of observance of  limits set by Prudential and Treasury Indicators 
 Calculation of the Minimum Revenue Provision 
 

7.4 Monthly Budget Monitoring Report 

Monthly Budget Monitoring reports are produced for the Deputy Chief Executive, whilst a six 
monthly budget monitoring report goes to Cabinet.  The report is intended to highlight any 
variances between budgets and spend in order that the Council can assess its financial 
position.  Details of treasury management activities are included within this report.  
  

Page 108



Treasury Management Practices  
31 

TMP 8 Cash and Cash Flow Management 
 
8.1 Arrangements for Preparing/Submitting Cash Flow Statements 

Cash flow projections are prepared annually, monthly and daily. The annual and monthly 
cash flow projections are prepared from the previous years’ cash flow records, adjusted for 
known changes in levels of income and expenditure and also changes in payments and 
receipts dates. These details are supplemented on an ongoing basis by information received 
of new or revised amounts to be paid or received as and when they are known. 
  

8.2 Bank Statements Procedures 

The Council downloads daily bank statements and a monthly download of data from its bank.  
All amounts on the statement are checked to source data from Payroll, Creditors etc.   
A formal bank reconciliation is undertaken on a monthly basis by the Finance Department. 

 
8.3 Payment Scheduling and Agreed Terms of Trade With Creditors 

Our policy is to pay creditors (including sub-contractors) as per the agreed terms of trading. 
 
8.4 Arrangements for Monitoring Debtors / Creditors Levels 

The Administration Services Manager is responsible for monitoring the levels of debtors and 
creditors.  

 
8.5 Procedures for Banking of Funds 

All money received by an officer on behalf of the Council will without unreasonable delay be 
passed to the collection office to deposit in the Council’s bank accounts.  Cash and cheques 
banked the previous day will be taken into account in the daily cash flow. 

 
8.6 Practices Concerning Prepayments to Obtain Benefits 

The Council has no formal arrangement in place.  Where such opportunities arise, the 
prepayment would be sought and authorised by the responsible officer. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 109



Treasury Management Practices  
32 

TMP 9 Money Laundering 
 

9.1  Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 
Money laundering has the objective of concealing the origin of money generated through 
criminal activity. Legislation has given a higher profile to the need to report suspicions of 
money laundering. The Proceeds of Crime Act (POCA) 2002 established the main offences 
relating to money laundering. In summary, these are: 
 

 concealing, disguising, converting, transferring or removing criminal property from 
England and Wales, from Scotland or from Northern Ireland 
 

 being concerned in an arrangement which a person knows or suspects facilitates the 
acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property 
 

 acquiring, using or possessing criminal property. 
 
These apply to all persons in the UK in a personal and professional capacity. Any person 
involved in any known or suspected money-laundering activity in the UK risks a criminal 
conviction. Other offences under the POCA include: 

 failure to disclose money-laundering offences 

 tipping off a suspect, either directly or indirectly 

 doing something that might prejudice an investigation – for example, falsifying a 
document. 

 
 
 

9.2  The Terrorism Act 2000 
This act made it an offence of money laundering to become concerned in an arrangement 
relating to the retention or control of property likely to be used for the purposes of terrorism, 
or resulting from acts of terrorism. All individuals and businesses in the UK have an obligation 
to report knowledge, reasonable grounds for belief or suspicion about the proceeds from, or 
finance likely to be used for, terrorism or its laundering, where it relates to information that 
comes to them in the course of their business or employment  
 
 
 

9.3  The Money Laundering Regulations 2012, 2015 and 2017 
Organisations pursuing relevant business (especially those in the financial services industry 
regulated by the FCA) are required to do the following: 

 identify and asses the risks of money laundering and terrorist financing 

 have policies, controls and procedures to mitigate and manage effectively the risks of 
money laundering and terrorist financing identified through the risk assessments 

 appoint a nominated officer 

 implement internal reporting procedures 

 train relevant staff in the subject 

 obtain, verify and maintain evidence and records of the identity of new clients and 
transactions undertaken 

 report their suspicions 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 110



Treasury Management Practices  
33 

9.4  Local authorities 
Public service organisations and their staff are subject to the full provisions of the Terrorism 
Act 2000 and subsequent Terrorism Acts and may commit most of the principal offences 
under the POCA, but are not legally obliged to apply the provisions of the Money Laundering 
Regulations 2012, 2015 and 2017. However, as responsible public bodies, they should 
employ policies and procedures which reflect the essence of the UK’s anti-terrorist financing, 
and anti-money laundering, regimes.  Accordingly this Council will do the following: - 
 
a) evaluate the prospect of laundered monies being handled by them 
b) determine the appropriate safeguards to be put in place 
c) require every person engaged in treasury management to make themselves aware of 

their personal and legal responsibilities for money laundering awareness 
d) make all its staff aware of their responsibilities under POCA 
e) appoint a member of staff to whom they can report any suspicions.  This person is Head 

of Accounts. 
f) in order to ensure compliance is appropriately managed, this Council will require senior 

management to give appropriate oversight, analysis and assessment of the risks of 
clients and work/product types, systems for monitoring compliance with procedures and 
methods of communicating procedures and other information to personnel. 

g) The officer responsible for the creation and monitoring the implementation of a corporate 
anti money laundering policy and procedures is  Executive Director – Legal & Democratic 
Services and it shall be a requirement that all services and departments implement this 
corporate policy and procedures. 

 
 
9.5  Procedures for Establishing Identity / Authenticity Of Lenders 

It is not a requirement under POCA for local authorities to require identification from every 
person or organisation it deals with.  However, in respect of treasury management 
transactions, there is a need for due diligence and this will be effected by following the 
procedures below. 
 
The Council does not accept loans from individuals. 
 
All loans are obtained from the PWLB, other local authorities or from authorised institutions 
under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.  This register can be accessed through 

the FCA website on www.fca.gov.uk. 

 
When repaying loans, the procedures in 9.6 will be followed to check the bank details of the 
recipient. 
 

 
9.6  Methodologies for  Identifying Deposit Takers 

In the course of its Treasury activities, the Council will only lend money to or invest with 
those counterparties that are on its approved lending list.  These will be local authorities, the 
PWLB, Bank of England and authorised deposit takers under the Financial Services and 
Markets Act 2000. The FCA register can be accessed through their website on 

www.fca.gov.uk). 
 
All transactions will normally be carried out by CHAP’s or Faster Payment as appropriate for 
making deposits or repaying loans. 

 
 
 

Page 111

http://www.fca.gov.uk/
http://www.fca.gov.uk)/


Treasury Management Practices  
34 

TMP 10 Training and Qualifications 
 
The Council recognises that relevant individuals will need appropriate levels of training in 
treasury management due to its increasing complexity. There are two categories of relevant 
individuals: -  

a) Treasury management staff employed by the Council 
b) Members charged with governance of the treasury management function 

 
All treasury management staff should receive appropriate training relevant to the requirements of 
their duties at the appropriate time.  The Council operates a Personal Development Review 
system which identifies the training requirements of individual members of staff engaged on 
treasury related activities. 
 
Additionally, training may also be provided on the job and it will be the responsibility of the 
Deputy Chief Executive to ensure that all staff under his authority receives the level of training 
appropriate to their duties.  This will also apply to those staff who from time to time cover for 
absences from the treasury management team. 
 
10.1 Details of Approved Training Courses 

Treasury management staff and members attend courses provided by our treasury 
management consultants, CIPFA, money brokers etc. 
 

10.2 Records of Training Received by Treasury Staff 

The relevant line manager will update the relevant officers Personal Development Review 
with details of training received. This will be passed the Human Resources Department 
who will maintain records on all staff and the training they receive.   
 

10.3 Record of Secondment of Senior Management 

Records will be kept of senior management who are seconded into the treasury 
management section in order to gain first hand experience of treasury management 
operations. 

 
10.4 Statement of Professional Practice (SOPP) 

1. Where the Chief Financial Officer is a member of CIPFA, there is a professional need 
for the CFO to be seen to be committed to professional responsibilities through both 
personal compliance and by ensuring that relevant staff are appropriately trained.  

 
2. Other staff involved in treasury management activities who are members of CIPFA 

must also comply with the SOPP. 
 
10.6  Member training records 

Records will be kept of all training in treasury management provided to members.  
 
 
10.7  Members charged with governance 

Members charged with diligence also have a personal responsibility to ensure that they 
have the appropriate skills and training for their role. 

Page 112



Treasury Management Practices  
35 

MP 11 Use of External Service Providers 
 
11.1 Details of Contracts with Service Providers, Including Bankers, Brokers, 

Consultants, Advisers 

This Council will employ the services of other organisations to assist it in the field of 
treasury management.  In particular, it will use external consultants to provide specialist 
advice in this ever more complex area.  However, it will ensure that it fully understands 
what services are being provided and that they meet the needs of this organisation, 
especially in terms of being objective and free from conflicts of interest. 
 
It will also ensure that the skills of the in house treasury management team are maintained 
to a high enough level whereby they can provide appropriate challenge to external advice 
and can avoid undue reliance on such advice. 
 
Treasury management staff and their senior management will therefore be required to 
allocate appropriate levels of time to using the following sources of information so that 
they are able to develop suitable levels of understanding to carry out their duties, 
especially in challenge and avoiding undue reliance.  

 
 The quality financial press 

 Market data 

 Information on government support for banks and 

 The credit ratings of that government support 

 
11.1.1 Banking Services 

a) Name of supplier of service is the National Westminster Bank. 
b) Regulatory status – banking institution authorised to undertake banking 

activities by the FSA  
c) The branch address is: 

PO Box No.2 
St James Street 
Accrington 
Lancashire 
BB5 1NB 

 Tel :-   0345 835 1215 
Contract commenced 13/6/1975 and is reviewed annually. 
d) Cost of service is variable depending on schedule of tariffs and volumes 
e) Payments monthly and quarterly 

 
11.1.2  Money-Broking Services 

 The Council may use money brokers for temporary borrowing and investment and 
long term borrowing. It will seek to give an even spread of business amongst the 
approved brokers.  

 
Name of supplier of service: 

a) RP Martin Brokers (UK) Ltd 
Level 3 
1 Snowdon Street 
London 
EC2A 2DQ 
Tel: 020 7894 8698 
Regulatory Status: FCA registered counterparty 187916 
 Page 113



Treasury Management Practices  
36 

b) Tullet Prebon Europe Ltd 
 135 Bishopsgate 
 2nd Floor 
 London 
 EC2M 3TP 
 Tel: 020 7200 7042 
 Regulatory Status: FCA Authorised 146880 
 
When undertaking temporary borrowing. The brokers currently charge commission at 
0.1% of the amount borrowed for the duration of the loan.  There is no commission 
charge for undertaking investment transactions. 

 
 

11.1.3 Consultants’/Advisers’ Services 

Treasury Consultancy Services 
The Council will seek to take expert advice on interest rate forecasts, annual 
treasury management strategy, timing for borrowing and lending, debt rescheduling, 
use of various borrowing and investment instruments, how to select credit worthy 
counterparties to put on its approved lending list etc. 
The performance of consultants will be reviewed by the Deputy Chief Executive 
annually to check whether performance has met expectations.   
 
a) Name of supplier of service is Link Group. Their address is 6th Floor, 65 

Gresham Street, London, EC2V 7NQ         Tel:  0207 204 7624 
b) Regulatory status: Investment Adviser authorised by the FCA 
c) Contract commenced  2003 and is re-negotiated annually. 
d) Cost of service is currently £8,100 per year. 
e) Payments due annually 

 
  Leasing Consultancy Services 

a) The name of the supplier is Chrystal Medical Ltd. 
b) Their address is 500 Styal Road, Manchester, M22 5HQ.     
c) Tel:  0161 493 9770 
d) Fee is agreed at 0.5% of the capital cost of drawdown and at 25% of any savings 

negotiated on secondary lease rentals. 
   

 Other Consultancy services may be employed on short term contracts as and when 
required. 

 
11.1.4   Credit Rating Agency 

 The Council receives a credit rating service through its treasury management 
consultants, the costs of which is included in the consultant’s annual fee. 

 
11.2     Procedures & Frequency for Tendering Services 

 The procedure for awarding contracts will be as per the Councils contract procedure 
rules. 

Page 114



Treasury Management Practices  
37 

TMP 12 Corporate Governance 
 
12.1 List of Documents to be Made Available for Public Inspection 

 
a. The Council is committed to the principle of openness and transparency in its treasury 

management function and in all of its functions. 
 
b. It has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management and 

implemented key recommendations on developing Treasury Management Practices, 
formulating a Treasury Management Policy Statement and implementing the other 
principles of the Code. 

 
c. The following documents are available for public inspection: - 

 
Treasury Management Policy Statement 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement  
Annual Investment Strategy  
Minimum Revenue Provision policy statement 
Annual Statement of Accounts 
Annual revenue budget and capital programme 
3 Year Capital Plan 
Capital Strategy 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
          
Minutes of Council / Cabinet / committee meetings 
 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4 

 
 
 
Hyndburn Borough Council 
 
Capital Strategy 2023/24 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 117



  2 

 

Contents 
 

1. Overview 

2. Scope 

3. Capital Expenditure 

4. Capital vs. Treasury Management Investments 

5. Service and Commercial Investments 

6. Council Objectives 

7. The Capital Budget Setting Process 

7.1 Identifying the need for Capital Expenditure/Investment 

7.2 Deciding which Schemes are to be put forward 

7.3 Member Approval Process 

8. Monitoring of the Capital Programme Expenditure 

9. Multi-Year Schemes 

10. Funding Strategy and Capital Policies 

10.1 External Funding 

10.2 Capital Receipts 

10.3 Revenue Funding 

10.4 Prudential/Unsupported Borrowing 

10.5 Leasing 

11. Procurement and Value for Money 

12. Partnerships and Relationships with other Organisations 

13. Management Framework 

14. Performance Management 

15. Risk Management 

15.1 Credit Risk 

15.2 Liquidity Risk 

15.3 Interest Rate Risk 

15.4 Inflation Risk 

15.5 Legal and Regulatory Risk 

15.6 Fraud, Error and Corruption 

16. Other Considerations 

Page 118



  3 

 

1 Overview 

 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code 
requires local authorities to produce a capital strategy to demonstrate that capital 
expenditure and investment decisions are taken in line with service objectives and take 
account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and affordability. 
 
The Capital Strategy is a key document for the Council and forms part of the authority’s 
integrated revenue, capital and balance sheet planning. It provides a high level 
overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury management 
activity contribute to the provision of services. It also provides an overview of how 
associated risk is managed and the implications for future financial sustainability.  It 
includes an overview of the governance processes for approval and monitoring of 
capital expenditure. 
 

2 Scope 

 

This Capital Strategy includes all capital expenditure and capital investment decisions, 
not only as an individual local authority but also those entered into under group 
arrangements. It sets out the long term context in which decisions are made with 
reference to the life of the projects/assets. 
 
The Capital Strategy : 

 States the council’s processes for: 

o project initiation 

o deciding on the prioritisation of capital projects 

o monitoring and evaluating schemes 

 Takes account of significant revenue implications 

 Provides a framework for the management and monitoring of the capital 

programme 

 Identifies funding and provides a basis to inform bidding for additional capital 

resources (eg from the National Lottery, government initiatives) 

 Apprises the corporate review of existing properties 

 

The Capital Strategy considers all aspects of the Council’s capital expenditure and 
extends to areas where the Council is able to influence others through the use of its 
capital resources. It forms part of the Council’s integrated revenue, capital and balance 
sheet planning. 
 
 
 
 

Page 119



  4 

 

3 Capital Expenditure 

 
Capital expenditure is incurred on the acquisition or creation of assets, or expenditure 
that enhances or adds to the life or value of an existing fixed asset that is needed to 
provide services. Fixed assets are tangible or intangible assets that yield benefits to 
the Council generally for a period of more than one year, e.g. land, buildings, roads, 
vehicles. This is in contrast to revenue expenditure which is spending on the day to 
day running costs of services such as employee costs and supplies and services.  
 
The capital programme is the authority’s plan of capital works for future years, 
including details on the funding of the schemes. Included are the projects such as the 
purchase of land and buildings, the construction of new buildings, design fees and the 
acquisition of vehicles and major items of equipment. Also included could be service 
and commercial investments. 
 

4 Capital vs. Treasury Management Investments 

 

Treasury Management investment activity covers those investments which arise from 
the organisation’s cash flows and debt management activity, and ultimately represent 
balances which need to be invested until the cash is required for use in the course of 
business. 
 
For Treasury Management investments the security and liquidity of funds are placed 
ahead of the investment return. The management of associated risk is set out in the 
Treasury Management Policy and the Annual Investment Strategy.  
 
The CIPFA Treasury Management Code recognises that organisations may make 
investments for policy reasons outside of normal treasury management activity. These 
may include service and commercial investments. 
 

5 Service and Commercial Investments 

 
These are investments for policy reasons outside of normal treasury management 
activity. This may include: 
 

Service investments 

These are investments held clearly and explicitly in the course of the provision, and for 
the purposes, of operational services, including regeneration. 

 

Commercial investments 

These are investments taken for mainly financial reasons. These may include: 

Page 120



  5 

 

 investments arising as part of business structures, such as shares and loans in 
subsidiaries or other outsourcing structures such as IT providers or building 
services providers; 

 investments explicitly taken with the aim of making a financial surplus for the 
Council. 

Commercial investments also include fixed assets which are held primarily for financial 
benefit, such as investment properties.  

Due to the nature of the assets or for valid service reasons, such investments do not 
always give priority to security and liquidity over yield. In these cases, such a decision 
will be explicit, with the additional risks set out and the impact on financial sustainability 
identified and reported. 

The Deputy Chief Executive will ensure that the Council has the appropriate legal 
powers to undertake such investments. 

6 Council Objectives 

 
The Council has agreed a number of corporate aims, priorities and objectives which 
guide its work. These are set out in the Corporate Plan and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS). Capital investment projects must be in line with these overall 
objectives as well as individual service aims and objectives. The following processes 
are designed to ensure this happens. 
 

7 The Capital Budget Setting Process 

7.1 Identifying the need for Capital Expenditure 

 
The need for a capital scheme is identified by a Service Manager and a bid is 
submitted to the Autumn Capital Programme Working Group. 
 
Capital projects are subject to robust justification process, bringing together a clear 
business case with sufficient detailed costings to ensure transparent decisions can be 
taken.  
Proposals are reviewed in terms of validation arrangements and estimated figures.  
To ensure project delivery is achievable project management arrangements are 
undertaken with ownership and responsibility of projects siting in the initiating 
department. 
The capital bids are discussed and prioritised at Capital Programme Working Group. 
This report is then considered by Corporate Management Team. The 
recommendations are given to members for their discussion and input. The final report 
is then submitted to Cabinet and then Full Council. 
 
 
 

Page 121



  6 

 

7.2 Criteria used to decide which schemes are recommended. 
 

Capital projects will be assessed for: 

 Strategic fit – corporate objectives are being met by the expenditure 

 Identified need – eg vital repairs and maintenance of existing assets 

 Achievability – this may include alternatives to direct expenditure by the Council 

such  as partnerships with others, rent or buy options, alternative delivery 

vehicles 

 The scheme is deliverable by the Council within its resources, skills and legal 

constraints 

 Acceptable risk levels 

 Reduces future capital or revenue spend 

 Practicality and deliverability 

 Revenue generation  

 The scheme has a good gearing ratio 

 Maintains or enhances service provision 

 Provides value for money for the taxpayer 

 Provides long term benefits 

 Has a positive environmental and social impact. 

 
Additionally, consideration should be given to: 
 
Prudence: 

 Recognition of the capacity in the organisation to deliver such a programme; 

 The approach to treasury management and the management of risk as set out 
in the Treasury Management Strategy. 

 
Affordability: 

 Revenue impact of the proposals on the Medium Term Financial Plan; 

 The borrowing position of the Council, projections of external debt and the use 
of internal borrowing to support capital expenditure; 

 The authorised limit and operational boundary for the following year; 

 Whether schemes are profiled to the appropriate financial year. 

 
Sustainability: 

 Provision for the repayment of debt over the life of the underlying debt as set out 
in the Minimum Revenue Provision policy; 

 An overview of asset management planning including maintenance 
requirements and planned disposals. 

All bids are produced in line with the appropriate timetable with consideration for the 
financial information contained within the bid. 

Page 122



  7 

 

 
Portfolio Holders must be briefed and understand the service need and the budget 
consequences, both revenue and capital, of completing the scheme. 
 
Possible sources of funding can then be considered for each of the proposed capital 
schemes. Each project will be considered in terms of revenue funding to cover the 
operational running costs of the asset and any borrowing repayment costs, and also 
how the asset will be funded in terms of capital expenditure. 
 
The proportionality of the proposals as a whole will then be considered in respect of 
overall resources and longer term sustainability and risk. The Deputy Chief Executive 
will take an overall view on the prudence, affordability and sustainability of the overall 
borrowing level if all bids are accepted. 
 
Once the Deputy Chief Executive has taken a view of the prudence of the overall 
borrowing level, the Corporate Management Team will then consider the bids from a 
corporate priority perspective.  
 

7.3 Member Approval Process 

 

In autumn, the Deputy Chief Executive will present the agreed list of key capital 
projects to the Corporate Management Team. At this stage funding details are 
sometimes unavailable, as Government funding allocations are announced later in the 
year. The presentations inform Members of the key projects to be completed over the 
next year. 
 
Where appropriate schemes will be reported to Members based on the schemes being 
subject to external funding approval. 
 
These overall capital programme totals are then reported to Cabinet Members as part 
of the annual budget process, who then make recommendations on the overall capital 
programme. 
 
The Cabinet receives the Capital Programme in February each year and makes their 
recommendations to full Council. 
 
Members approve the overall borrowing levels at the budget meeting in February each 
year as part of the Treasury Management Report. The taking of loans then becomes 
an operational decision for the Deputy Chief Executive who will decide on the basis of 
the level of reserves and money market position whether financing should be met 
internally from the Capital Reserve/Capital Receipts or whether to enter into external 
borrowing.   
 
Once the Council has approved the capital programme, then expenditure can be 
committed against these approved schemes subject to the normal contract procedure 
rules and the terms and conditions of funding. Before expenditure commences an 
“Approval to Spend” form is completed by officers and authorised. This confirms the 

Page 123



  8 

 

profile of expenditure and confirmation that any external grant allocation has been 
obtained. 
 
Whether capital projects are funded from grant, contributions, capital allocations or 
borrowing, the revenue costs must be able to be met from existing revenue budgets or 
identified (and underwritten) savings or income streams. 

8 Monitoring of the Capital Programme Expenditure 

 

Once detailed capital programmes have been approved by members, the financial 
spend is monitored at Capital Programme Working Group on an alternate monthly 
basis. 
 
The Council will assign a Project Manager to each project to oversee planning, 
delivery, management and governance of capital projects. 

9 Multi-Year Schemes 

 

Payments for capital schemes often occur over several years, depending on the size 
and complexity of the project. Therefore, estimated payment patterns are calculated for 
each project so that the expected capital expenditure per year is known. This is called 
a cash flow projection or budget profiling. 
 
The approval of a rolling multi-year capital programme assists the Council in a number 
of ways. It assists service managers, allowing them to develop longer term capital 
plans for service delivery.  
 
It allows greater flexibility in planning workloads and more certainty for preparation 
work for future schemes. It will also allow greater integration of the revenue budget and 
capital programme. It also matches the time requirement for scheme planning and 
implementation since capital schemes have a considerable initial development phase. 
 

10 Funding Strategy and Capital Policies 
 

This section sets out the policies of the Council in relation to funding capital 
expenditure and investment. 
 
Proposals for capital projects must identify the funding requirements for the timescale 
of the project including any revenue implications. Funding must be appropriate for the 
project and will come from: 

 Reserves 

 Capital receipts – from the sale of assets or finance lease receipts 

 Government grants – such as disabled facilities grant funding 

 Third party grants and contributions 

 Revenue contributions 

 Other developer contributions 

Page 124



  9 

 

 External (prudential) borrowing 

Any restrictions on borrowing or funding of ongoing capital finance will be assessed. 
Project appraisal will consider additional or alternative funding sources, match funding 
opportunities, bidding timeframes and the likely success of being awarded a grant. 
Other funding sources may include national lottery, government grant, heritage lottery 
fund etc. 

10.1 External Funding 
 

Services must seek to maximise external funding wherever possible to support capital 
schemes. This can be in the form of grants and contributions from outside bodies 
including central government.  However, services must underwrite any cost overruns 
on externally funded schemes. If services bid for external funding for schemes and say 
at tender or during construction or procurement, costs exceed the available funding, 
then services must fund any shortfall from their existing resources (either revenue or 
capital). 
 
In respect of match funding bids then the relevant service must fully identify the 
necessary match funding resources from within existing service budgets.  If this is not 
possible then the appropriate service must raise this for consideration with the 
members of the Corporate Management Team and the relevant Portfolio Holder prior 
to submitting any bid for funding. 
 

10.2 Capital Receipts 

 

A capital receipt is an amount of money exceeding £10,000 which is received from the 
sale of an asset. This cannot be spent on revenue items.  
 

The Deputy Chief Executive will review all of the Council’s property annually. The 
general policy is that any capital receipts are then pooled and used to finance future 
capital expenditure and investment according to priorities, although they may be used 
to repay outstanding debt on assets financed from loans, as permitted by the 
regulations. 
 
 

10.3 Revenue Funding 
 

Services may use their revenue budgets to fund capital expenditure. The revenue 
reserve may also be used to finance capital expenditure as an alternative to external 
borrowing.  
 
The Head of the Service and the Deputy Chief Executive will need to take an overview 
and decide the most appropriate way of funding their service areas. 
 
 

Page 125



  10 

 

10.4 Prudential/Unsupported Borrowing 
 

Local Authorities can set their own borrowing levels based on their capital need and 
their ability to pay for the borrowing. The levels will be set by using the indicators and 
factors set out in the Prudential Code and set out in the Treasury Management 
Statement. The borrowing costs are not supported by the Government so services 
need to ensure they can fund the repayment costs. This borrowing may also be 
referred to as Prudential Borrowing.  
Capital projects that cannot be funded from any other source can be funded from 
Prudential Borrowing. Services must be able to afford the borrowing repayment and 
interest charges on the loan from existing revenue budgets or the Council must see 
this as their key priority for the budget process and to be factored into the medium term 
financial strategy accordingly.   
 
The Deputy Chief Executive will make an assessment of the overall prudence, 
affordability and sustainability of the total borrowing requested. The impact of this 
borrowing will be reported in the Treasury Management Strategy alongside the 
Prudential Indicators required by CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance. 
 
The view of the Deputy Chief Executive will be fed into the corporate bidding process 
so that, should the borrowing levels be unaffordable or not prudent, then the schemes 
will be prioritised against the available funding from borrowing. 
  
The Deputy Chief Executive will also determine whether the borrowing should be from 
internal resources such as the Revenue/Capital Reserve or whether to enter into 
external borrowing. 
 

10.5 Leasing 
 

The Deputy Chief Executive may enter into finance leasing agreements to fund capital 
expenditure on behalf of services. However, a full option appraisal and comparison of 
other funding sources must be made and the Deputy Chief Executive must be 
confident that leasing provides the best value for money method of funding the 
scheme. 
 
Under the Prudential Code finance leasing agreements are counted against the overall 
borrowing levels when looking at the prudence of the authority’s borrowing. 
 

11 Procurement and Value for Money 
 

Procurement is the purchase of goods and services, with a strategy being developed to 
assist with the definition of quality standards and securing provision of the best 
possible services for local people for a given price.  
 
 

It is essential that all procurement activities comply with EU procurement directives and 
adhere to the relevant requirements stipulated in directives. Procurement must also 

Page 126



  11 

 

comply with the Councils policies and regulations such as Contract Procedural Rules 
and Financial Regulations. 
 
The main aim is to hold ‘value for money’ as a key goal in all procurement activity to 
optimise the combination of cost and quality. 
 

12 Partnerships and Relationships with other Organisations 
 

Wherever possible and subject to the usual risk assessments services should look to 
expand the number of capital schemes which are completed on a partnership basis 
and continually look for areas where joint projects can be implemented. 
 

13 Management Framework 
 

The governance structure of the Council has the Corporate Management Team that 
takes a corporate and group view on the capital programme and investment. 

14 Performance Management 
 

Clear measurable outcomes should be developed for each capital scheme. After the 
scheme has been completed, services should check if outcomes have been achieved. 
 
Post scheme evaluation reviews should look at the effectiveness of the whole project in 
terms of service delivery outcomes, design and construction, financing etc. and identify 
good practice and lessons to be learnt in delivering future projects. 

15 Risk Management 
 

Risk is the threat that an event or action will adversely affect the Council’s ability to 
achieve its objectives and to execute its strategies successfully. 
 
Risk management is the process of identifying risks, evaluating their potential 
consequences and determining the most effective methods of managing them and/or 
responding to them. It is both a means of minimising the costs and disruption to the 
organisation caused by undesired events and of ensuring that staff understand and 
appreciate the element of risk in all their activities. 
 
The aim is to reduce the frequency of adverse risk events occurring (where possible), 
minimise the severity of their consequences if they do occur, or to consider whether 
risk can be transferred to other parties. 
 
To manage risk effectively, the risks associated with each capital project need to be 
systematically identified, analysed, influenced and monitored. 
 
It is important to identify the appetite for risk by each scheme and for the capital 
programme as a whole, especially when investing in capital assets held primarily for 
financial returns. Under the CIPFA Prudential Code these are defined as investments 

Page 127



  12 

 

and so the key principle of control of risk and optimising returns consistent with the 
level of risk applies. 
 
The Deputy Chief Executive will report on the affordability and risk associated with the 
Capital Programme. 
 
An assessment of risk should therefore be built into every capital project. 
 

15.1 Credit Risk 

 
This is the risk that the organisation with which we have invested capital monies 
becomes insolvent and cannot pay us our investment returns or complete the agreed 
contract.  
 

15.2 Liquidity Risk 

 
This is the risk that the timing of any cash inflows from a project will be delayed, for 
example if other organisations do not make their contributions when agreed. This is 
also the risk that the cash inflows will be less than expected, for example due to the 
effects of inflation, interest rates or exchange rates. Our exposure to this risk will be 
monitored via the revenue and capital budget monitoring processes.  
 

15.3 Interest Rate Risk 

 
This is the risk that interest rates will move in a way that has an adverse effect on the 
value of capital expenditure or the expected financial returns from a project. Interest 
rates will be reviewed as part of the on-going monitoring arrangements to identify such 
adverse effects. As far as possible our exposure to this risk will be mitigated via robust 
contract terms and when necessary contract re-negotiations. 
 

15.4 Inflation Risk 

 
This is the risk that rates of inflation will move in a way that has an adverse effect on 
the value of capital expenditure or the expected financial returns from a project. Rates 
of inflation will be reviewed as part of the on-going monitoring arrangements to identify 
such adverse effects. As far as possible our exposure to this risk will be mitigated via 
robust contract terms and when necessary contract re-negotiations. 
 
 
 
 

Page 128



  13 

 

15.5 Legal and Regulatory Risk 

 
This is the risk that changes in laws or regulation make a capital project more 
expensive or time consuming to complete, make it no longer cost effective or make it 
illegal or not advisable to complete. Before entering into capital expenditure or making 
capital investments, the Council will understand the powers under which the 
investment is made.  
 

15.6 Fraud, Error and Corruption 

 
This is the risk that financial losses will occur due to errors or fraudulent or corrupt 
activities. Officers involved in any of the processes around capital expenditure or 
funding are required to follow the Council’s policies and procedures. This is supported 
by the Employee Code of Conduct and detailed policies such as Anti-Fraud and 
Corruption, Anti Money Laundering, Whistle Blowing and Declaration of Interests. 
 

16 Other Considerations 
 

Capital Schemes must comply with legislation, such as the Disability Discrimination 
Act, and also Council policies, Contract Procedure Rules and Financial Regulations. 
Reference should also be made to other strategies and plans of the Council. 
 
Important Linking Documents for reference are: 
 

 Corporate Plan; 

 Corporate Asset Management Strategy; 

 Individual Service Plans; 

 Procurement Strategy; 

 Financial Regulations; 

 Contract Procedure Rules; 

 Treasury Management Strategy; 

 Minimum Revenue Provision Policy. 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy 
 

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



1 of 2 

Budget Debate, 23rd February 2023  
  
Budget 2023/24 – Procedure to be Followed / Amendment to Standing Orders 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Leader of the Council, will present the revenue and capital budget and council 

tax levels for 2023/24 and will circulate any final budget recommendations.  The 
Leader of the Opposition Group will be invited to share any papers (but these may 
be tabled at 4.1 below).    No speeches will be made at this point.. 
 

2. Resources OSC Recommendations 
 

2.1 The Chair or Deputy Chair of the Resources Overview & Scrutiny Committee, will 
present the Scrutiny Committee’s comments on the budget proposals - up to 5 
minutes.  

 
2.3. The Leader of the Council will respond (up to 5 minutes).  No other speakers at this 

stage. 
 
3. Budget Motion 
 
3.1 The Leader of the Council will move the motion to approve the revenue and 

 capital budget proposals and council tax levels for 2023/24. (up to 45 minutes) 
 
3.2 The motion will be seconded; the seconder may reserve the right to speak. 
 
4. Amendments 
 
4.1 Any formal amendments that the main Opposition Group wishes to propose should 

be tabled at this time.  The Mayor will then seek the consent of the meeting for an 
adjournment to allow time for Members to scrutinise the information provided and, if 
necessary, to seek advice from the Executive Director Resources. 

 
4.2 The amendments will be moved and seconded en bloc and all of the amendments 

will be debated together by Members in a single session.   (Mover up to 15 minutes 
- All other speakers up to 5 minutes). 

 
4.3 Leader of the Council will have a right to reply: up to 25 minutes 
 
4.4 The amendments will be voted upon individually in the order in which they were 

announced/appeared when first moved.  Any amendments will require a recorded 
vote * 

 
4.5 It there are amendments by the Conservative Group, a Minority Group or 

Independent Members, these should be taken next and the steps at 4.2 to 4.4 
above will be repeated. 
 

5. Substantive Motion (subject to any amendments agreed by the Council ) 
 

5.1 Leader of the Council: (up to 15 minutes) 
 

Page 131

Agenda Item 8.



2 of 2 

5.2 5 minutes for each subsequent speaker 
 
5.3 Leader’s summing up: (up to 5 minutes) 
 
5.4 The vote will be taken by recorded vote *. 

 
========== 

 
* N.B. 
 
It is a requirement under the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 to have a recorded vote when determining the budget, as set out in 
Council Procedure Rules 16.7 below:- 
 
Immediately after any vote is taken on a budget decision at the budget decision meeting of 
the Council, there must be recorded in the minutes of the proceedings of that meeting the 
names of the persons who cast a vote for the decision or against the decision or who 
abstained from voting.  This will include a recorded vote on any amendment proposed at 
the meeting. 

Page 132



REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 08 February 2023 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Joyce Plummer - Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Martin Dyson 

Executive Director - Resources 

TITLE OF REPORT: General Fund Revenue Budget 2023/2024 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 This report sets out proposals for the 2023/24 General Fund Revenue Budget.  It 

also provides an overview of key issues arising from the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy. 
 

1.2 The decision to set the Budget will be a key decision of the Council.  The role of the 
Cabinet is to recommend a proposed Budget to the Council. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 That Cabinet recommends the proposal to freeze Council Tax for 2023/24 at the 

same level as in 2022/2023, keeping the charge for a Band D property at £260.64.   
 
2.2 That the Budget for 2023/24 will therefore be £14,382,673 as detailed in 

Appendices 1 to 3. 
 
2.3 That Cabinet recommend approval of the changes in budget requirement including 

inflation, growth and savings identified in Appendix 3 to ensure the Council can set 
and approve a balanced budget. 

 
2.4 That Cabinet note the significant improvement made in relation to budget 

monitoring and cost reduction within the Authority over the past 19 years and 
confirms its commitment to continuing this approach in the year ahead. 

 
2.5 That Cabinet recommends during the financial year 2023/24, the Executive Director 

of Resources be delegated responsibility to amend the Budget (following 
consultation with the Leader of the Council) for technical reasons, such as the 
restructuring of cost centres, the re-apportionment and re-allocation of overheads 
etc., provided such amendments have an overall neutral impact on the Budget. 

 
2.6 That Cabinet recommends during the financial year 2023/24, the Executive Director 

of Resources be delegated responsibility to amend the Budget (following 

Page 133



consultation with the Leader of the Council) should the estimate of Business Rates 
not be sufficiently accurate, by drawing on reserves if needed or paying over 
additional contributions to reserves. 

 
2.7 That to aid future financial management planning any surpluses generated during 

2023/24 are set aside to help the Council reduce its cost base over the next three 
years, to support its long term capital programme or to strengthen its overall reserve 
position.  

 
2.8 That Cabinet recommends that the Service Grant awarded for 2023/24 is used to 

help balance the Council’s Budget. 
 
2.9 That Cabinet recommends that the New Homes Bonus and any additional funds 

from Government that are not ring-fenced funding, as well as any other surplus 
funds,  be used if required to support capital expenditure as determined by the 
Executive Director of Resources in the overall financing of capital expenditure or be 
transferred to reserves. 

 
3. SUMMARY  

 
3.1 This Report sets out the Council’s Revenue Budget for 2023/24.  This will require 

net expenditure of £14,382,673.   
 
3.2 Under these proposals, Council Tax for Hyndburn residents will not incur a rise in 

charge for Hyndburn Council provided services and the charge for a Band D 
property will remain the same as in 2022/2023 at £260.64.   

 
3.3 The recent pandemic and the impact of the war in the Ukraine has undoubtedly had 

an impact on the council’s budgets although the Council has decided to freeze its 
portion of the residents’ council tax bill. This freeze will have no detrimental impact 
on council services but will have a greater impact by minimising the financial impact 
being felt by its residents.  

 
3.4 This is the 8th year where council tax charges have been frozen for Hyndburn 

services since 2009/10 and the council continues to monitor and manage its 
budgets to minimise the impact of any increases on its residents.   

 
3.5 Lancashire County Council, the Police & Crime Commissioner and the Lancashire 

Combined Fire Authority have not yet formally taken their decisions on Council Tax 
Levels for 2023/24.  It is expected that the County Council will raise its Council Tax 
for each household by a general increase of 1.99% and a 2.0% increase to assist 
with meeting the cost of Adult Social Care which equates to a 3.99% increase 
overall.  It is expected that the Police Commissioner will increase a Band D 
Property by £15.00 and that the Lancashire Combined Fire Authority have proposed 
a £5.00 increase. 

 
3.6 Altham Parish Council has set a separate precept for its activities for the fifteenth 

time in 2023/24.  This year the Parish Council has frozen its precept.  The Band D 
charge for Altham Parish Council will therefore remain at £41.07 for the year and 
the Parish Council will precept the Collection Fund for £13,019.  Details of the 
proposed position on other Bandings for properties in Altham are shown in 
Appendix 6. 

Page 134



 
3.7 In setting the Budget for 2023/24 the Council faces continued volatility around some 

of the most significant items within its Budget.  Major reforms of local government 
finance have transferred the risk of business rate revenues and Council Tax 
benefits to the Council.  The certainty on which the Council could budget and 
manage its finances has therefore decreased since 2013 and it will be important 
going forward to plot any deviations away from the expected figures and take 
appropriate action if these should start to emerge.  The ongoing impact from COVID 
19 and the War in Ukraine is also difficult to predict at this time.  This might result in 
the need to reduce spending during the year, if revenue monitoring starts to indicate 
the amounts of funds received will fall short of the target or if we face an upsurge in 
spending. 

 
3.8 The Cabinet intends to continue the good financial stewardship of the Council’s 

affairs by continuing the successful policies introduced over the last 19 years to 
manage costs effectively and promote appropriate service investment.  This Budget 
will therefore deliver, 

 

 A continuation of our established approach of limiting enhancements on early 
retirement, continuing our rigorous approach to absence management and 
committing to minimising borrowing costs.  These actions have already 
stemmed the build-up of unproductive costs within the organisation.  In each 
of these cases we have put a stop to the costly and financially damaging 
policies of the past and created a healthier and more financially stable 
culture within the Council. 

 

 The Capital Programme for 2023/24 will continue to deliver key investment in 
council and public facilities adding another £8.37m to £38.5m the Council 
approved in 2022/2023.  

 

 A large proportion of the 2022/2023 Programme will be phased over the next 
few financial years and this includes the delivery of £24m investment in 
Accrington Town Centre with £20m coming from the Government’s Levelling 
Up Fund and a £12m investment into our Leisure Estate to modernise it and 
significantly boost the number of people making use of the facilities to keep 
fit and healthy.  

 

 The additions to the programme in 2023/2024 of £8.37m include: 
 

a) £874,000 of investment into Parks and Play areas of which the council 
has been able to attract nearly £389,000 of external grant funding to 
contribute to the improvements. 

b) £1,096,000 to provide Disabled Facility Grants this year which is fully 
funded from the better care fund. 

c) £634,000 to maintain and invest in its operational assets and vehicle 
fleet. 

d) £5,685,000 further investment in the Leisure Estate, which is conditional 
to the council being able to secure additional external funding of around 
£5m.  

e) £85,000 to improve and develop new ICT and technical equipment to 
deliver services in a more efficient way. 

 

Page 135



 Despite costs of over £85,000 to provide car parking in Hyndburn for 
residents and visitors and particularly for shoppers, we will continue to 
provide this facility free of charge and not introduce charges for parking in 
Hyndburn.  We believe this action will help bolster our town centres through 
these difficult economic times and provide an incentive for people to shop 
locally rather than drive and pay to shop elsewhere across the North-West 

 

 Further reductions in our accommodation costs, building on the success over 
the last 14 years including further rationalising our accommodation and 
looking at more ways of using our accommodation more effectively.  We will 
also continue our actions to reduce our carbon emissions and our energy 
costs and continue contributing to the improvements of our environmental 
footprint by positive action.  

 
3.9 We intend to continue to deliver all of the above and remain committed to a radical 

agenda of improvement while managing within our available resources.  This will be 
more difficult in the years to come, given our reduced resources from the 
Government.  However, there remains a firm commitment and absolute 
determination amongst Members and Officers of the Council to control the finances 
of the Council, drive forward on the efficiency agenda and continue to improve 
service delivery.  We wish to continue to push forward on the drive for delivering 
value for money as a key priority for the Council. 

 
3.10 The rewards of strong financial control remain clearly evident.  The Council has built 

itself back from experiencing major difficulties in controlling expenditure and a 
position of negative reserves in 2003/04 to a situation by March 2022, in which 
Balances are over £2.3m.  We have been able to operate within our existing 
financial resources over the last three years during the pandemic, through good 
financial management and will continue to deliver strong financial performance in 
the years to come. 

 
3.11 Within the Budget for 2023/24 there are a number of areas which are subject to our 

best estimation.  There are therefore a number of risks around the Budget, should 
these estimated costs or revenue amounts vary during the year.  We have assumed 
that extra costs from another pandemic are containable within the funds previously 
provided by Government or that additional funds will be made available if required.  

 
3.12 After the introduction of the Government reforms to Business Rates Funding of 

Local Government, the Council now carries a significant risk around the level of 
monies available, fluctuating substantially from this source.  In addition as the 
calculation of how much funds will be available is dependent on a number of factors 
including debt collection rates, the size of appeals against business rates 
assessment and the success of these appeals, new rules around levies, safety nets 
and pooling, the introduction of new rules on rates relief on retail premises and 
small businesses, as well as predicted levels of growth or decline in business 
activities and the estimation of a number of figures which will only truly emerge after 
the end of the financial year, the imprecision in these estimates is regarded as high 
and could be subject to variations of hundreds of thousands of pounds.  The 
volatility around these forecasts increased due to the impact the pandemic and the 
financial impacts of the War in Ukraine has or will have on the Business 
Community.  There has been growth in the calculation of business valuations within 

Page 136



Hyndburn that shows positive signs, although this could remain uncertain for a 
number of years.   

 
4. BACKGROUND 
 
4.1 Over the few years the Council has faced its most significant challenge since it was 

created in 1974.  It has been able to respond effectively to calls from Government to 
provide a significant amount of support to the local community, provide assistance 
to the national efforts around fighting the virus and handle a large amount of 
financial support to the local business community.  It has managed this within its 
overall financial resources, knowing that the strong financial management it has 
imbedded over the last 19 years has given it the Reserves and management ability 
to respond effectively to the crisis. 

 
4.2 The Financial Year 2021/22 ended with the Council achieving a surplus on its 

Revenue Account and it is expected that a surplus will be achieved again in 
2022/23.  The improvement has meant it has not been necessary to strengthen 
reserves from the Council’s Revenue budget in any of the last 16 years, which has 
freed up resources to go directly into service provision.  Despite the clear financial 
impact of the pandemic and War in Ukraine, the Reserves Level we currently hold 
are likely to be sufficient going forward and therefore we are again proposing that 
there is no need to direct resources away from front line services for this purpose 
during 2023/24. 

 
4.3 Cost control continues to be high on the Controlling Group’s agenda and they have 

responded with positive steps to a number of external pressures on costs and loss 
of income over the years.  These extra pressures have not only been contained 
within the overall budget, but additional savings have been successfully generated 
each year.  This has allowed the Council to face the threat from COVID 19 and the 
continuing War in Ukraine from a strong position, knowing it has the Reserves to 
meet the challenges it faces.  

 
4.4 Although it is worth noting the major improvements in financial management and 

cost control over the last 20 years, the Council needs to continue to press this home 
in the year ahead in order to continue to drive value for money across its core 
operations.  This will also ensure the Council continues to protect its Reserves to 
ensure it is in a strong position to meet any unexpected future demands.  Members 
of all parties have made it clear that this is an absolute priority for the Authority and 
have supported a rigorous approach to this issue.   

 
4.5 The Council must also deal clearly and effectively with the challenges ahead.  The 

Medium Term Financial Strategy continues to indicate major savings pressures 
over the next three years, most of which stem from the potential loss of Government 
funding for our core activities. 

 
4.6 For Hyndburn this will require a focus on and commitment to tough decisions for a 

number of years ahead.  Indications from right across local government, but 
particularly at Shire District level, suggest there is huge pressure on services due to 
the limited amount of funding available.  The Local Government Finance Settlement 
has reduced our available resources from Government by almost £5.2m since 
2010/11 and the MTFS recognises that should the Government proceed with major 

Page 137



changes to the way in which local government is financed, the Council could face 
the need to generate over £4.2m of savings in the next few years.  

Page 138



5. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 
 
5.1 The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) has been updated by the Executive 

Director of Resources ahead of the preparation of the Council’s Budget and 
submitted to the Cabinet meeting of the 8th   February 2023. It will also be 
presented to the Council on the 23rd February 2023. 

 
5.2 The Medium Term Financial Strategy indicates the Council’s fortunes are 

significantly linked to decisions taken by Central Government over the future 
funding of local government.  If the Government chooses to continue the current 
system of funding levels over the next 3 years, the Council will need to generate 
relatively small amounts of savings going forward to balance its Annual Budget.  
Given our historical ability to deliver savings at a much higher rate, balancing the 
Budget in these circumstances is well within the capabilities of the Council. 

 
5.3 If the Government, however, opts for an agenda around financial reform the Council 

could face significant reductions in the direct level of grants it received from 
Government and it could also see sizeable reduction in the revenue it retains from 
Business Rates.  The level of loss of funding from either of these sources is difficult 
to predict and could range from small to very large.  The very large option has to be 
recognised as a real possibility as the Government has indicated its intention to 
remove all direct revenue grants to District Councils for many years.  Previously, the 
Government had already substantially cut Revenue Support Grants across local 
government as part of its austerity drive that began in 2011/12 and by 2017/18 the 
consequence was that a rolling programme of removing all Revenue Support Grant 
from some Councils already existed.  With some Councils in this situation finding 
themselves facing “negative” Revenue Support Grant, a position in which having 
lost all their Revenue Support Grant the Government continued to assess they 
needed to provide further savings and Councils were notified they would be 
required to pay over funds to the Government rather than receive a grant.1  This 
process was only halted by Brexit and COVID 19 and was meant to have been 
accelerated by the proposed Fair Funding Review which was due to look at 
redistributing the allocation of funding across local government in terms of Grants 
and Business Rates. 

 
5.4 The loss of Revenue Support Grant would cost the Council £1.892m.  In addition, 

we currently have £140,000 of other direct grant funding from the Government 
supporting the Budget from a new grant introduced as a response to the pandemic. 
MLUHC have heavily indicated that local government should not assume that they 
will continue to receive this grant as permanent extra funding to the sector.  In fact, 
MLUHC clearly indicated and has removed the Lower Services Tier Grant awarded 
in 2021/22.  The removal of the two remaining grants would cost the Council £2m.  
At this level of grant reduction, the Council would need to take tough decisions 
around the future shape of its services. 

 
5.5 The other major pressures the Council faces are 
 

 The falling level of grant to support the payment of housing benefits. 

 Increases in the cost of External Audit Fees. 

 Inflationary pressures on wages and the purchase of goods and services. 
                                                      
1
 Lobbying from the LGA and others prevented the repayment option being enacted but did not stop the 

ending of Revenue Support Grants for the Councils concerned. 

Page 139



 The impact of the War in Ukraine on Energy Prices. 
 

In addition, the Council could face further financial pressure over the period of the 
MTFS if it uses up all its available capital resources and has to finance any future 
Capital spend from its Revenue Budget.  In this context the Budget for 2023/24 
needs to be a cautious one as significant turbulence to our financial well-being may 
be just a little over 12 months away. 

 
6. CONTINUATION BUDGET 
 
6.1 The basis of the revenue budgets is to continue to provide the same level of 

services as provided in 2022/2023 and therefore roll forward the budgets with the 
addition of the financial pressures that are being faced to create a new budgeted 
cost for continuation of service delivery. Our long-term Corporate Priorities are 
detailed within our Corporate Strategy with the overall objective of improving the 
local economy and the mix of housing within Hyndburn. Over the 3 years during the 
pandemic the vision set out in the Corporate Strategy has been re-enforced, as 
COVID 19 impacted most on those who have low incomes, those who have poor 
health and those who live in the poorest housing conditions and the Corporate 
Strategy seeks to overcome these factors by improving the local economy and the 
housing offer across Hyndburn.  Our in-year objective is however a continued focus 
to support the national efforts to address any continuing factors from the pandemic 
and also the impact of the War in the Ukraine in order to assist in a clear and 
speedy recovery locally.  The delivery of our key corporate objectives remains a 
significant challenge in the shadow of COVID 19, a period of reduced funding, 
uncertain global economic indicators due to the War in Ukraine and the aftermath of 
Brexit. 

 
6.2 Our current budgets are aligned to these objectives.  Service Plans are updated on 

an on-going basis as required by Managers throughout the year and Service 
Managers are invited to update their medium term running costs and changes of 
strategic or tactical direction ahead of the compilation of the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy.  Equally the existing MTFS guides managers on the likely resources 
available over the future period and gives an indication of the potential boundaries 
and challenges they may face and need to address within their Service Plans.  Cost 
pressures are initially dealt with internally within service areas, as are developments 
in new services provision with managers exercising their abilities to re-organise 
between priorities and choose between competing demands based on the guidance 
set out in the Corporate Strategy and discussions with Cabinet Members.   

 
6.3 These calculations indicate a Continuation Budget of just over £14.383m with 

£2.164m of growth and inflationary pressures and this figure has been used in 
Appendix 1 to show the level of potential spend the Council faces compared to the 
resources available and establish the savings target for the Council going into 
2023/24. 

 
7. GROWTH PRESSURES 
 
7.1 The Council also needs to adjust its Budget this year to recognise a series of cost 

pressures and declines in income streams that it now faces.  After not adjusting 
budgets last year in response to the pandemic, salary increases and the national 
wage settlement for local government workers, as well as the extra costs from the 

Page 140



Government’s changes in Employer National Insurance contributions need to be 
incorporated into the Budget for 2023/24. 

 
7.2 The negotiation of the local government pay award in 2022/2023 averaged a 6.6% 

increase in staffing costs, which was 4.6% above the budgeted increase for the 
year. The costs within 2022/2023 have been managed through staff turnover, other 
cost reductions and increased investment income from treasury activities. The 
2023/2024 budget includes a forecast for a 5% increase, although the current 
inflation levels and pay demands are currently higher than this and any additional 
costs will need to be managed within budget limits. 

 
7.3 Budget adjustments also need to be made for the continuing impact of DWP 

changes to the operation of Housing Benefit as it continues to widen the roll-out of 
Universal Credit and institute other reforms for the benefit system and the impact of 
the new Public Sector Audit Appointments procurement exercise that will have an 
impact on the charges council’s receive for their external audit fees. To start the 
budget process in a neutral position there is also the need to remove the one-off 
use of a corporate saving target for the year. 

 
7.2 The impact of the War in Ukraine has created significant pressures in the costs 

associated with the supply and usage of gas and electric across council buildings 
and the supply and provision of all services. In addressing these pressures the 
council will as always attempt to minimise the impact through budget management 
and procurement arrangements. The 2023/2024 budget therefore includes a 
significant uplift due to these pressures and this can be seen at Appendix 3. 
Although indications are that some of the gas and electric levels may reduce, there 
is still volatility in this sector and this has created a significant pressure within the 
Budget for 2023/2024.  

 
7.3 Since the pandemic the council has also encouraged and engaged more 

interactively with customers particularly utilising increased methods of payment for 
the customers to pay electronically. Although these methods have the benefit of 
increased engagement and speed up the receipt and recovery of income they come 
at a cost and the council has experienced a significant increase in both the usage 
and the Merchant Bank charges received for undertaking these transactions. It is 
therefore necessary to increase the budget for these costs although every effort will 
be made to ensure that the most competitive way of minimising these charges is 
achieved. This will include the council re-procuring these services as soon as 
possible. 

 
7.4 In addressing the Council’s commitment to Climate change there is a need to 

assess the impact of C02 emissions produced by the Council’s fleet from using 
regular diesel. It has been recommended that the council considers a move to using 
Hydro-treated Vegetable Oil (HVO) as an alternative to regular diesel which would 
reduce C02 emissions by up to 90% as well as significantly reducing NOx and 
particulate matter from the diesel fleet. This option is seen as a more affordable 
solution for the larger more polluting vehicles in the fleet although the cost per litre 
of HVO is approximately 22% more than regular diesel and there would be 
additional costs in obtaining these environmental benefits. This change will allow 
the council to further re-evaluate the transition towards electrification of the fleet to a 
point in the future when it is the most economically advantageous to the council. 

 

Page 141



7.5 To balance the Budget, it is proposed to reintroduce a Corporate Savings Target of 
£115,279 this year which is to come from staff turnover savings arising from when 
posts become vacant and to being occupied. This saving represents approximately 
1% of the full time equivalent staff employed by the council and would equate to 
having 2.5FTE’s vacant over a financial year. 

 
7.6 A number of other growth items were not able to be supported this year due to the 

overall pressures on the Budget and will be managed within current budget levels. 
 
8. AVAILABLE RESOURCES 
 
8.1 Core Government Revenue Support Grant (RSG) 
 

Revenue Support Grant for 2023/24 has been set at £1,891,686.  This is at the 
same level as 2022/223 of £1,616,289 plus an increase of £275,397 (17%). This 
increase is offset by the removal of the Lower Tier Services Grant received in 
2022/2023 of £161,518 which reduces this increase to £113,879 (6.4%). The 
revenue support grant is still expected to disappear from 2024/25 if the Government 
moves forward with its previously stated intention of reforming local government 
finances. 

 
8.2 Business Rates 
 
 Business Rates which until 2013/14 came in the form of a grant from Central 

Government is now collected and partially retained locally and is therefore a 
separate revenue source for the Council.  The Council currently shares the 
business rates collected locally with the Government who take 50% of the sums 
raised, Lancashire County Council who receive 9% and the Lancashire Combined 
Fire Authority who receive 1%.  In addition, the Government operates a system of 
Tariffs and Top-ups which sees the amount retained by Hyndburn Council reduced 
by a further £4.85m.   The Council also now has the risk around non-collection and 
the impact of late payments.   

 
 These changes add an additional degree of complexity to forecasting correctly the 

level of Business Rates the Council will receive to manage its Budget in 2023/24 
and therefore there is a recommendation to allow the Executive Director of 
Resources to draw upon reserves if this figure included in the Budget is too high 
compared to the actual level of revenue received and for the Executive Director of 
Resources to contribute any additional sums received over and above the Budgeted 
figure to reserves, or to support the Capital Programme going forward with these 
one-off sums.  For 2023/24 the estimated revenue from Business Rates is expected 
to be £6.63m. 

 
8.3 Council Tax 
 

It is expected that Council Tax will raise the equivalent of £5.72m of revenue for the 
Council in 2023/24.  After six years of council tax increase in Hyndburn, this year 
there will be a freeze on the council’s portion of the residents’ bill. This year will see 
the Band D equivalent remaining at £260.64 per household. D property.   

 
8.4 New Homes Bonus 
 

Page 142



The Council will also receive some additional resources from the New Homes 
Bonus.  This is additional funding from the Government to encourage local Councils 
to support the building of new homes.  The amount each Council receives is 
determined by the increase in homes as shown on the annual returns for house 
numbers to the Ministry of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (MLUHC).  For 
Hyndburn the expectation is that the number of new homes built will remain small 
and we will only receive £200,719 for 2023/24. 
 
As the value of the grant will be small, liable to fluctuate from year to year and will 
be difficult to determine each year in advance, the recommendation is that these 
monies are used to supplement the Capital resources of the Council.  The figure is 
expected to continue to fall in subsequent years and is expected to be abolished by 
the Government in the next year or so.  This will lessen the extent to which we can 
fund Capital Projects from this source of money in the future. 

 
8.5 Other Government Funding 
 

The Government has made 1 additional grants available to the Council in 2023/24.  
The Lower Tier Support Grant which was introduced in 2021/2022 has now been 
removed as it was originally intended to be a one-off grant to help support Councils 
in the wake of the pandemic and was extended for a further year into 2022/23.  The 
Council has also received £139,870 from a Grant called 2023/24 Services Grant.  
This grant has reduced from the 2022/2023 allocation of £248,224 as it previously 
included funding from by Government to meet the cost of the increase in employers’ 
national insurance contributions from April 2022 that was reduced in the 
governments mini budget in September 2022. The Government has also indicated 
that Councils should not assume this grant will be paid in future years and that it 
may be altered downwards, distributed in a different way or withdrawn completely at 
any point in the future. 

  
8.6 Resource Summary 
 

The Council’s estimated Resources for 2023/24 are £14,382,673.  The largest items 
of funding comes from the retention of Business rates £6.631m (46%) and Council 
Tax raised with £5.7m (40%) raised locally.  Central Government funding will 
provide just over £2.0m of direct funding this year which is 14% of our overall 
resource needs, which is a similar value to the funding received for 2022/2023. As 
indicated in the MTFS there is a strong possibility that all of this Government 
funding will potentially disappear if the Government institutes a review of local 
government finances at the end of this financial year. 

 
9. BUDGET PROPOSALS 2023/2024 
 
9.1 The Cabinet recognises that it needs to maintain services and continue to deliver on 

its key priorities.  It also has a clear duty to set a balanced financial budget for 
2023/24 and continue its financial strategy to ensure its financial stability over the 
medium term. 

 
9.2 The proposals for 2023/24 assume that savings activated to deliver previous 

budgets continue to be used and that where one-off savings were identified, Budget 
Holders bring forward equivalent amounts in 2023/24 to buttress their budgets 
ahead of any further proposed savings for 2023/24 onwards. 

Page 143



 
9.3 With expected Revenue costs of £14,497,952 for 2023/24 and estimated roll 

forward cost of operating the organisation of £12,334,452 for the year ahead plus 
£2,163,500, the Council has a saving gap for the year of £115,279 to meet it’s 
funding of £14,382,673.  The savings target for the year only equates to 0.8% of the 
predicted spend for 2023/24 year, and therefore a Corporate In-year Saving Target 
of £115,279 has been set this year. Appendix 3 which usually lists the full extent of 
all the savings proposed to balance the Budget each year, this year details the list 
of growth and pressures proposed along with the recommendation to institute a 
Corporate Savings Target of £115,279. 

 
10. BUDGET SAVING PROPOSALS  
 
10.1 With an in-built target to produce a 0.8% savings on our estimated spend during the 

year and significant savings pressures likely to be necessary in 2024/25, the 
Council needs to remain focused on maintaining good financial discipline, look to 
continue to reduce its cost base and boost income throughout the coming financial 
year. 

 
11. RESERVES 
 
11.1 The Council has recognised the need to refresh and maintain its financial reserves 

after they became dangerously low as a result of the financial difficulties, we 
experienced over a decade ago.   

 
11.2 However, after the significant improvement achieved over the last few years it has 

not been necessary to make an additional provision since 2006/07 from the 
Revenue Budget and it is possible for 2023/24 to continue with this policy.  General 
reserves are currently over £2.3m and with an expected surplus anticipated for 
2022/23, Reserve Levels should remain consistent with previous years. 

 
11.3 The strong position on Reserves therefore allows the Council to commit its entire 

available budget to service provision, further improving the delivery to the public of 
Hyndburn. 

 
11.4 Reserves while having been restored after the difficulties of a few years ago need to 

be maintained and increased when possible.  The MTFS outlines the large number 
of potential claims on our expenditure from items that are not contained within the 
Budget and a minimum provision to face these threats of £2.0m to £3.0m is 
considered appropriate.  Some of the potential calls upon the Reserves are listed 
below from the MTFS, 

 

 Continuing additional costs caused due to any further outbreaks and our 
response to COVID 19. 

 The impact of the War in Ukraine on energy supply and service costs. 

 Any further reduction in core Government Grants stemming from how the 
Government determines to manage public sector finances over the next 
few years. 

 The threat of substantial increased costs from the Government’s 
proposals to cap the amount it reimburses the Council in relation to 
Council Tax support. 

Page 144



 The increased threat of industrial action during a period of public sector 
pay restraint and job losses. 

 The Government’s stated intention to end paying Housing Benefit and the 
potential for large residual costs that may fall upon Councils in 
terminating this service. is2 

 Potential costs from challenges to Planning decisions or enforcement 
action. 

 The increased threat of settling employment disputes as a result of 
employment tribunal decisions and changes in employment law. 

 Emergency spend pressures in-year, due to one-off items of capital or 
revenue spend. 

 Risks around the conclusion of the Housing Market Renewal Programme. 

 The continuing trading difficulties experienced by Hyndburn Leisure and 
financial pressures on other partner organisations. 

 Supplier failure during an elongated period of financial constraint. 

 Environmental warranties on our land and guarantees provided to 
Hyndburn Homes over land transferred to them.  

 Legal challenges over the operation of our fees and charges   

 Continuing reductions in our income from fees and charges as the 
economy remains sluggish 

 Potential large fines under the General Data Protection Regulations 
introduced in 2022/23. 

 
11.5 This is not a fully comprehensive list of all of the potential calls that could be made 

on the Reserves, however it provides some indication of the financial risks outside 
the core Budget that the Council could face. 

 
11.6 While some events are more likely than others and they vary in their potential cost 

to the Council, the extent and monetary range of these unbudgeted challenges 
have the potential to severely damage the Council’s finances if they mature. 

 
12. RISKS AND MANAGEMENT 
 
12.1 The 2023/24 Budget is constructed on a number of estimates, because exact 

figures are not known for many future events.  There are a number of these 
estimations which are subject to uncertainty and volatility.  In order to complete the 
Budgetary exercise, it is necessary to make a series of judgements around the level 
at which certain items should be costed.  The significant areas in the Budget around 
which judgements have been applied are explained below. 

 
12.2 The Budget assumes the Council is able to manage the additional costs of COVID 

19 within the extra resources the Government has made available to it for 2023/24. 
 

                                                      
2
 The Government has announced a longer roll-out period for the introduction of Universal Credit and has 

said it will meet redundancy costs associated with the ending of Housing Benefit, however there are a 
number of caveats around this proposal and the Council may still face exit costs from terminating the service. 
 
3 
The threat of fines from Europe for the failure of councils to meet targets on climate change and 

environmental improvements has been removed given the UK’s exit from the EU.  If similar schemes are re-
introduced under other international agreements or the British Government introduced other punitive 
measures the risk will be restored. 

Page 145



12.3 In dealing with the pandemic the Council is still faced with an unprecedented 
challenge on which it has very little information to forward forecast the spending and 
income implications.  Currently it would appear that later variants are not having a 
dramatic impact on the economy or the Council’s overall financial position.  
However, further variants may occur and have a much more severe impact on our 
financial health. 

 
12.4 There is also significant estimation in the figure for Business Rates paid in the year 

and these are liable to fluctuate significantly for a wide variety of reasons and may 
be more volatile in 2023/24 than previously as a wider number of businesses 
struggle financially. 

 
12.5 There is currently no agreement over the national wage increase for local 

government workers currently, however given the current economic situation and 
recent industrial action across various public sectors it may be a risk that the 5% 
pay award budgeted does not fulfil the union wage demands and this could create a 
financial risk to the Budget of the Council.  General inflationary pressures on non-
wage expenditure have been included in the budget and it is not expected that 
these will accelerate to create an immediate threat to our Budget. 

 
12.6 The impact of the War in Ukraine has created additional economic volatility and the 

impact on the Bank Base Rate over the 2022/23 financial year. It is expected that 
this volatility will reduce although rates may remain high and this creates additional 
costs. The council has been and will continue to mitigate these additional costs 
through the maximisation of its treasury investments to ensure the best interest 
rates are achieved whilst minimising the risk and maintaining liquidity.  

 
12.7 The next 12 months therefore sees a Budget period in which the management of 

costs and the monitoring of Business Rates will be key. 
 
12.8 The normal risks around in-year pressures on spending and income will be dealt 

with via our well-developed budget reporting mechanisms, which not only displays 
how much is spent each month within the Council but requires Service Managers to 
estimate their spend to the end of the year.  We should therefore receive early 
warnings of any overspends allowing corrective action to be taken.  Reserve Levels 
are also sufficient to allow us to be protected from any immediate threat, while we 
take action to adjust our cost base to cope with any external financial pressures. 

 
13. CONSULTATION 
 
13.1 This year we are asking the public and businesses to attend a meeting of the 

Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Meeting on the Budget which takes place at 
3:00pm on 16th February 2023.  Details can be found on the Council’s website.  At 
this meeting all those who join us will get to hear the questions put to each of the 
main parties around their Budget proposals and the public as well as businesses 
representatives will be invited to put questions to the Leaders of each group and 
make any general comments.  This direct involvement with the public and 
businesses at this key meeting to debate the Cabinet’s budget proposals is seen as 
a continuing innovative way to engage the public and create a dialogue that informs 
Councillors and the public of the choices and difficulties around setting the budget. 

 

Page 146



13.2 The Council Tax due to Hyndburn Borough Council for each property by Band is 
shown at Appendix 4.  

 
 
13.3 The overall estimated Council Tax per household for 2022/23 is shown at Appendix 

5.   
 
13.4 As outlined in the Report, the public and businesses are invited to participate in a 

meeting of the Council’s Overview & Scrutiny Meeting on the 16th February at 
3:00pm to review in detail the Budget proposals of all parties, consider the 
proposals put forward and make suggestions for changes and improvements to the 
Budget plans to be submitted to Full Council on the 23rd February 2023. 

 
 
14. CONCLUSION 
 
14.1 The overall Revenue Budget 2023/24 is set out at Appendix 2.  The Budget for 

2023/24 will be £14,382,673 and will be supported by a Council Tax levy of £260.64 
for a Band D property translating into a revenue source of £5.72m to meet services 
to the local community.  The Budget has been determined in light of continuing 
upward pressure on costs, the additional costs associated with the War in Ukraine, 
previous financial difficulties that continue to overhang the Council, the available 
funding from Government and the Council’s strong desire to provide high levels of 
service to the Community in line with its priorities. 

 
15. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
15.1 The recommendations in the report provide an appropriate platform on which the 

Cabinet can recommend a Budget to the Council which meets the objectives and 
key priorities of the people of Hyndburn. 

 
16. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND THE REASONS FOR REJECTION 
 
16.1 There have been a wide number of individual proposals put forward to produce a 

Balanced Budget.  Options have been rejected on a variety of grounds including 
policy objectives, practicalities and the potential for additional costs to be incurred.  
Further options may be presented at the Council meeting. 

 
17. BUDGET IMPLICATIONS 
 
17.1 As outlined in the report. 
 
18. LINKS TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES 
 
18.1 The Budget report links to all corporate priorities in determining the funding levels 

for expenditure in the year ahead. 
 
19. EQUALITY 
 
19.1 Any detailed policy changes, changes in service provision or operational changes 

as a result of the budget proposals will have an EIA produced by the relevant 
Service Head where this is required. 

Page 147



 
  

Page 148



20. RISKS 
 
20.1 There are a number of financial risks around setting the Budget.  These are set out 

in detail in the report and cover the impact of making estimations of several large 
financial areas which contain a degree of volatility.  The Council is able to offset 
these risks by the effective management it has in place over budgets during the 
year and the ability to take early corrective action and make additional savings and 
re-prioritise spending decisions if necessary.  It can also draw upon its reserves as 
a short term measure while it takes corrective action. 

 
21. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
21.1 The Council is required to set a Balanced Budget for the Financial Year ahead and 

needs to take into consideration the Government’s rules in respect of capping and 
requirements for a budget referendum. 

 
22. LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
 
22.1 This Report should be read in conjunction with the other finance reports presented 

to the Cabinet meeting on the 9th February 2022.  The relevant reports are listed 
below and can be found by accessing the Council’s website or following the 
hyperlink below. 

 
For access to the Cabinet Agenda and Reports --please follow this link to the 
appropriate dates and reports 

 
Financial Position November 2022 Report for the Year Ending 31st March 2023 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2023/24 to 2025/26 
Prudential Indicators Monitoring & Treasury Management Strategy 2023/24 to 
2025/26 
General Revenue Budget 2023/24 
New Additions to the Capital programme Report 2023/24 

  

Page 149

https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2616&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2616&Ver=4


APPENDIX 1 
 

Initial Outline Budget 2023/2024 £'000 

  

Revenue Support Grant                     1,892  

Business Rates                      6,631  

Council Tax                     5,720  

Service Grant 2023/2024                        140  

Total Resources Available 2023/2024                   14,383  

  

Roll Forward Budget  12,334 

Growth Items & Budget Pressures 
 

2,164 

Unadjusted Predicted Spend 14,498 

  

Savings Required                         
115  

  

Savings Identified 115  

Corporate Savings Target 1% staff turnover 115  

  

Predicted Spend 2023/2024                   14,383  

  

Unfunded Spend at this time                           0    

 
  

Page 150



 
APPENDIX 2 

 

Revenue Budget 2023/2024 £'000 

  

Service Expenditure  

Environmental Services 7,159 

Culture & Leisure Services 867 

Planning & Transportation 952 

Regeneration Services 1,238 

Policy & Corporate Governance 4,582 

Non Service Related Budgets -300 

Contribution to Reserves 0 

 
Net Total Expenditure 

                  
14,498  

  

Band D Property 2022/2023 £260.64 

Band D Property 2023/2024 £260.64 

Increase on Previous Year £0.00 

% Increase on Previous Year 0% 

  

Band A Property 2022/2023 £173.76 

Band A Property 2023/2024 £173.76 

Increase on Previous Year £0.00 

% Increase on Previous Year 0% 

Page 151



 
APPENDIX 3 

 

Savings Requirement & Growth Proposals 2023/24 

Available Resources           
£14,382,673  

   

Previous Year Budget 2022/2023 £12,334,452 

   

Budget Adjustments   

External Audit Fee Increase £100,000 

Housing Benefit & Admin Subsidy £150,000 

Reversal of Corporate Savings Target £100,751 

   

Inflation Pressures   

Salary & Wages £890,233 

Utility Services £725,015 

General Inflation  £363,501 

   

Other Service Pressures   

Merchant Banking  Charges £36,000 

   

Growth    

Reducing Carbon Emissions on Vehicle Fleet £55,000 

   

Additional Income   

Increased Treasury Investment Income -£257,000 

   

Spend Total £14,497,952 

  

Savings  

Corporate Savings Target 1% staff turnover £115,279 

  

Budget Spend           14,382,673  

  

Budget Gap 0 

 

Page 152



Appendix   4 
Hyndburn Borough 

Council Tax Increase 2023/24 
by Property Band 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Valuation Band and Statutory 
ratios of Band D Council Tax 

Ratio 

Council Tax 

2022/2023 2023/2024 Annual Increase 

Band A 6/9  £                 173.76   £                 173.76   £                        -    

Band B 7/9  £                 202.72   £                 202.72   £                        -    

Band C 8/9  £                 231.68   £                 231.68   £                        -    

Band D 9/9  £                 260.64   £                 260.64   £                        -    

Band E 11/9  £                 318.56   £                 318.56   £                        -    

Band F 13/9  £                 376.48   £                 376.48   £                        -    

Band G 15/9  £                 434.40   £                 434.40   £                        -    

Band H 18/9  £                 521.28   £                 521.28   £                        -    

P
age 153



 

Appendix   5 
Overall Change in Council Tax 2023/24 (estimated) 

 
 

Council Tax 
Schedule  

2023/2024 Change Between 2022/2023 and 2023/2024 

Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H 
Band 

A 
Band 

B 
Band 

C 
Band 

D 
Band 

E 
Band 

F 
Band 

G 
Band 

H 

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Hyndburn 
Borough 
Council 

    
173.76  

    
202.72  

    
231.68  

    
260.64  

    
318.56  

    
376.48  

    
434.40  

    
521.28  

0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Lancashire 
County 
Council 

 
1,049.8

1  

 
1,224.7

7  

 
1,399.7

4  

 
1,574.7

1  

 
1,924.6

5  

 
2,274.5

8  

 
2,624.5

2  

 
3,149.4

2  

40.2
8  

46.9
9  

53.7
1  

60.4
2  

73.8
5  

87.27  
100.7

0  

    
120.8

4  

Lancashire 
Police & 
Crime 
Commission
er 

    
167.63  

    
195.57  

    
223.51  

    
251.45  

    
307.33  

    
363.21  

    
419.08  

    
502.90  

10.0
0  

11.6
7  

13.3
3  

15.0
0  

18.3
3  

21.67  25.00  
      

30.00  

Lancashire 
Fire & 
Rescue 
Authority 

      
54.85  

      
63.99  

      
73.13  

      
82.27  

    
100.55  

    
118.83  

    
137.12  

    
164.54  

3.33  3.89  4.44  5.00  6.11  7.22  8.33  
      

10.00  

Total Council 
Tax 

 
1,446.0

5  

 
1,687.0

5  

 
1,928.0

6  

 
2,169.0

7  

 
2,651.0

9  

 
3,133.1

0  

 
3,615.1

2  

 
4,338.1

4  

53.6
1  

62.5
5  

71.4
8  

80.4
2  

98.2
9  

116.1
6  

134.0
3  

    
160.8

4  

Parish 
Precepts 

                                

Altham 
Parish 
Council 

      
27.38  

      
31.94  

      
36.51  

      
41.07  

      
50.20  

      
59.32  

      
68.45  

      
82.14  

0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Altham 
Parish 
Council & 
Hyndburn 
Borough 
Council 

    
201.14  

    
234.66  

    
268.19  

    
301.71  

    
368.76  

    
435.80  

    
502.85  

    
603.42  

0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Total for         53.6 62.5 71.4 80.4 98.2 116.1 134.0     

P
age 154



Altham 
Parish 
Properties 

1,473.4
3  

1,719.0
0  

1,964.5
7  

2,210.1
4  

2,701.2
8  

3,192.4
2  

3,683.5
7  

4,420.2
8  

1  5  8  2  9  6  3  160.8
4  

 
This assumes no increase in Council Tax for a Band D property by Hyndburn Borough Council as indicated in this report.  Altham Parish Council has decided not to increase its Council Tax.  Lancashire County Council, the Police & 
Crime Commissioner and the Lancashire Combined Fire Authority have not made formal decisions as yet. The above model assumes a 3.99% increase for LCC, a £10 increase by the Police & Crime Commissioner and a £5.00 
increase by the Lancashire Combined Fire Authority.   
 

P
age 155



 

Appendix   6 
 

Altham Parish Precept 2023/24 
by Property Valuation Band 

 
 
 

Valuation Band and Statutory ratios of Band D Council Tax Ratio 

Council Tax 

2022/2023 2023/2024 Annual Increase 

Band A 6/9  £                   27.38   £                   27.38   £                        -    

Band B 7/9  £                   31.94   £                   31.94   £                        -    

Band C 8/9  £                   36.51   £                   36.51   £                        -    

Band D 9/9  £                   41.07   £                   41.07   £                        -    

Band E 11/9  £                   50.20   £                   50.20   £                        -    

Band F 13/9  £                   59.33   £                   59.33   £                        -    

Band G 15/9  £                   68.45   £                   68.45   £                        -    

Band H 18/9  £                   82.14   £                   82.14   £                        -    
 
   

 P
age 156



Page 1 of 9 

 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 8 February 2023 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Joyce Plummer - Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Martin Dyson 

Executive Director - Resources 

TITLE OF REPORT: New Scheme Additions to the Capital 
Programme in 2023/2024 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local 
Government Act 
1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of 
publication: 

 

 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

1.1 To invite Cabinet to consider the Council’s capital investment priorities 
for 2023/24. To request that Cabinet recommends new scheme 
additions to the existing capital programme to Council for approval at 
its meeting on 23 February 2023. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

I recommend that the Cabinet proposes to Council 
 
2.1 To approve the total cost of new scheme additions to the existing 

Capital Programme for 2023/24 of £8,373,522, with a cost to the 
council of £1,855,000 as set out in Appendix 1.  

 
2.2 To approve the funding of the programme by the use of newly 

anticipated direct external grants totalling £6,518,522 with the 
remaining funding of £1,855,000 to come from new investment from the 
Council’s resources. External grant funding must be secured before 
any internal funds are committed to projects that rely on external 
funding to proceed. 

 
2.3 That delegated authority is given to the Executive Director of 

Resources, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Resources to 
flex the programme in accordance with the available funding, provided 
this does not require any additional borrowing. 

 
2.4 That the  individual projects within the Capital Programme require the 

written authorisation of the Executive Director of Resources following 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Resources before 

Page 157



Page 2 of 9 

commencing and incurring expenditure and that Service Managers 
provide the Executive Director of Resources, with written details of 
estimated costs of schemes with full justification of the need and 
benefits from undertaking the capital investments before approval is 
provided and that approval to commence is delegated to the Executive 
Director of Resources, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Resources.  That where he deems it appropriate, the Executive 
Director of Resources be given authority to release funding in stages to 
ensure effective financial control can be maintained and project risk 
managed. 

 
2.5 That Projects are timed to minimise the need for borrowing and the 

Executive Director of Resources be requested to seek project start 
dates after September 2023 whenever this is practical. 

 
2.6 That in-year underspends are not made available to fund new projects 

during the year. 
 

3. SUMMARY  
 
3.1 The Report sets out the additions of new schemes to the Council’s 

Capital Programme for 2023/24.  In 2022/2023 the Council significantly 
increased its funding programme of capital investment centred on its 
leisure estate and redevelopment of Accrington town centre with a total 
of proposals for capital investment in excess of £38.5m. 

 
3.2 The significant level of investment in 2022/2023 was only possible by 

the Council obtaining financial support from external organisations and 
its own effective financial management over recent years which has 
allowed it to have the funds necessary to finance these major projects 
when other funding became available. 

 
3.3 The 2023/2024 new additions to the capital programme have reduced 

compared to the £38.5m in 2022/2023. The new additions in 2023/2024 
will total £8.38m and will include an increased investment programme 
of works on the Leisure estate that will only be possible through the 
Council gaining further financial support from external organisations. 

 
3.4 The additions to the programme in 2023/2024 will bring the overall 

remaining approved capital programme to around £46.26m including 
£37.88m forecast slippage of the unspent programme from 2022/2023. 
The forecast slippage from the programme from 2022/2023 includes 
funding of £24m for the recently successful Accrington Town Centre 
Levelling Up scheme and £12m Leisure estate that will soon be 
commencing. It is expected that all these works will be undertaken over 
the next 3 financial years over the term of the Councils Medium Term 
Financial Strategy.       

 
3.5 It is intended that the Council will continue its strong policies of financial 

management and look only to borrow what it needs to fund these major 
investment projects.  The Council will continue to rely upon securing 
external sources of funding, using capital receipts, making revenue 
contributions to capital projects and will use unspent monies to fund its 

Page 158



Page 3 of 9 

programme.  It will also apply a rigorous approach to selecting projects 
by examining all proposals against its corporate objectives and only 
selecting the most pressing and deserving projects to fund.  This is in 
accordance with the Council policy of limiting the increase in debt and 
borrowing costs, while ensuring the Council’s objectives are met. 

 
3.6 The Revenue implications of the strategy to finance the Capital 

Programme are a key element in the affordability issues on the 
Revenue Budget this year.  The programme contains a limited amount 
of risk this year.  The level of risk is up compared to previous years due 
to the size of programme compared to previous years.  However to 
further reduce the risk the Council will be looking to supplement its own 
project management and cost control capacity by the appointment of 
experienced professionals in both disciplines for its two largest 
projects. The Council’s overall resources and management systems 
are believed to be sufficiently robust to effectively monitor these risks 
and ensure appropriate action is taken if they should materialise. 

 
3.7 The Council will continue with its strategy adopted for over 10 years of 

attempting to reduce its level of debt wherever possible by restricting 
borrowing and repaying debt and will continue to work extensively with 
external funders to bring forward realistic plans for Capital investment 
in the area. 

 
4. BACKGROUND 
 
4.1 The Council fundamentally altered its capital investment strategy with 

the Capital Programme it announced in March 2004.  Up until that 
point, the Council had looked to maximise the capital investment it 
made each year.  The upper limit of investment each year was the 
Basic Credit Approval provided by the Government plus any specific 
Supplementary Credit Approvals.  This system of Capital Credit 
Approvals allowed local authorities to spend up to a maximum amount 
each year on Capital Schemes.  This figure was pre-determined by the 
Government.   

 
4.2 By taking advantage of these Credit Approvals, the Council made 

significant investments in the local infrastructure, however this came at 
the cost of steep increases in revenue costs to meet the interest 
payments in relation to these borrowings.  Further underlying problems 
were also being built-up by the use of Capital Receipts to further 
support more Capital expenditure rather than repaying existing debt.  
The issue of debt repayment was accentuated still further by the 
significant reduction in Grant Commutation which was impacting on the 
revenue costs of the Council. 

 
4.3 Work undertaken in 2004, showed the Council was moving on a course 

that would see its General Fund Debt rise from £16.3m in 2002/3 to 
£27.5m by March 2007 and would see its financing costs rise from just 
over £1m in 2002/3 to almost £2.9m by 2006/7 with a continuing 
forward trajectory of escalating costs.  This analysis predicted the 
proportion of the General Fund Revenue Account required to fund 
debt-financing would rise from around 8% in 2002/3 to almost 25% by 

Page 159



Page 4 of 9 

2006/7 and continue on an upward path in subsequent years.  At times 
of increased pressure on the General Fund from a wide variety of 
sources it was recognised that the previous strategy was unsustainable 
and a new approach was developed around limiting capital investment 
to essential projects and using capital receipts to repay debt.  This 
strategy has proved very successful and the predicted interest costs in 
2022/23 are expected to be 5% or less of general revenue expenditure.  

 
4.4 This transformation has saved the Council around £2.275m per year 

over the last 11 years, based on the current ratio of cost to total net 
expenditure.  This action, in light of the severe reduction in funding the 
Council has faced over the last 10 years, has ensured that the Council 
has been able to manage its financial position appropriately.  If the 
Council still had the levels debt it had in 2003/4 or had allowed the 
amounts borrowed to grow over the last 11 years its financial position 
would have been precarious in the present financial climate. 

 
4.5 Debt financing costs are expected to remain stable over the next 3 

years.  Our loan portfolio has interest rates that are unlikely to 
significantly alter over the period of the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS).  Interest rates, with the Bank of England Base Rate 
currently at 3.5% with expectations of a peak to 4.5% with an expected 
fall by the end of the 2023.   

 
4.6 The Council via its successful financial management of its resources 

repaid the last of its short-term loans during 2015/16 and now only has 
long term debts of just under £10m that it cannot repay for around 
another 20 years.  The loans outstanding are held as fixed term loans 
or “lender option, borrower option” (LOBO) loans.  Interest rate 
increases are not expected to change sufficiently for our LOBO lenders 
to exercise their options to “call” the loan and have it repaid, in the 
expectation that they can produce a better return on their money.  At 
some point in the future the Council should consider starting to build 
sufficient cash reserves to effectively terminate these loans when they 
are either “called” or mature.  However, the current pressure on the 
Council’s financial positon over the next few years and the remote 
likelihood of any “call” in that period suggest this would not be an 
effective strategy at the present time. 

 
4.7 The current Capital Projections for 2023/24 show that our estimated 

debt has decreased from the projected £27m in 2004 to under £10m by 
December 2022.  The debt level is likely to rise by around £5m over the 
next 12 to 18 months as we finance our investment in the Leisure 
Estate and Accrington Town Centre. 

 
4.8 The proposed programme is outlined in Appendix 1 and a summary of 

the major projects are given below. 
 

a) Parks & Play Areas 
 
The programme includes £873,650 of works to enhance and 
develop the parks and play areas within the borough. The 
council has been able to attract interest for external grant 

Page 160



Page 5 of 9 

funding of these schemes of £388,650, leaving a net capital cost 
to the council of £485,000. These schemes include the 
redevelopment and refurbishment of Memorial Park, play areas 
at Milton Close and Mercer Park and the refurbishment of the 
pavilion and pitches at King George V. 
 

b) Council Operational Assets & Leisure Estate 
 
The Council will continue to invest in its operational building and 
vehicles in line with its asset management and maintenance 
plans to ensure the sites and vehicles are fit for purpose and 
meet health and safety standards. These works will total 
£634,000 and continue the phased improvement to depot 
facilities at Accrington Cemetery and essential repairs across 
other depot facilities at Willows Lane and the vehicle 
maintenance unit. Included in the total is £55,000 that the 
council will set aside capital for the replacement of vehicles in 
accordance with its vehicle replacement policies.   
 
In addition the Council continues its investment in its Leisure 
Estate with a further £5,684,914 of works that will complement 
the larger Transformation Project. These works include the 
redevelopment of Hyndburn Leisure Centre and the commitment 
to meet the zero carbon agenda for the proposed new Leisure 
site development. These works are largely conditional on the 
Council’s ability to be able to secure an extra £5m of external 
funding. Initial funding of £134,000 has been confirmed to 
undertake pre-construction works to assess the feasibility and 
scale of the project.   
 
The total new proposed investment to be added for the Councils 
own operational assets and its Leisure Estate in 2023/2024 is 
£6,318,914. 
 

c) Disabled Facility Grants 
 
The Council will commit £1,095,958 to Disabled Facility Grants 
in 2023/24, to help those that suffer from medical conditions that 
threaten their ability to live independent lives in their own homes.  
The money will provide stairlifts, toilet and bathroom 
adaptations, access ramps and other equipment, as well as 
grants for major structural alterations where needed.  
 

d) ICT & Technical Equipment 
 
The programme also includes £85,000 of schemes to develop 
new ICT and refresh the ICT equipment used in order to deliver 
services in a more efficient way, including £10,000 for the 
replacement of Christmas decorations across the borough. 
 
 

Page 161



Page 6 of 9 

5. IMPROVING THE MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL INVESTMENTS 

 

5.1 The Council needs to continue to develop its financial control over its 
major capital investment programme.  It is critical that during 2023/24 
the Council continues to adequately manage this spend, to ensure it 
gains as much benefit from this investment as possible and effectively 
controls its costs. 

 
5.2 The outline of schemes for the 2023/24 Capital Programme can be 

seen at Appendix 1.  However, the Council needs to ensure these 
schemes can provide the positive benefits the level of spend requires.  
Following on from the successful approach introduced 12 years ago, 
each scheme is required to provide more detailed analysis, if 
requested, before final approval to spending is committed to ensure 
that the project can be delivered within the funds made available, that 
revenue costs of the schemes can be accommodated within existing 
revenue budgets and most importantly that the benefits from the 
scheme are clearly identified and delivered. 

 
5.3 The Executive Director of Resources will have the authority to release 

permission to spend in stages as he deems appropriate for larger 
projects to ensure the effective management of the overall scheme and 
the mitigation of risk.  The Executive Director of Resources will only 
release funds for capital investment once the required written detail has 
been submitted to him for approval.  Until this has been given, Service 
Managers are not allowed to commit expenditure.  Additional projects 
may be authorised by the Executive Director of Resources, in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Resources during the year if 
the projects have sufficient external funding to meet their costs or other 
funding sources can be obtained. 

 
5.4 Under the previous regime of Credit Approvals from the Government 

there was an in-built incentive to spend up to the maximum each 
year—as failure to do so, might have led to reduced credit approvals in 
the future and subsequently lost the Council flexibility in future 
spending decisions.  Therefore, if parts of the Capital Programme 
slipped, came in under budget or were cancelled, there was a strong 
tendency to seek to replace these with other projects, to maintain the 
overall spend close to the maximum Credit Approval.   

 
5.5 Under the current regime of Prudential Borrowing, there is no 

requirement to spend up to a budgeted amount.  The Council should 
determine its needs for Capital spend purely on rational grounds and 
underspends in the programme should not automatically lead to other 
projects being brought forward to soak up potentially available funds.  
Given that a rigorous process of determining the need for Capital 
spend has taken place at the start of the year and the Council’s strong 
commitment for reducing the overall level of debt, there should be a 
major predisposition to continued banking of these underspends as a 
genuine saving to the Council. 

Page 162



Page 7 of 9 

6. CONCLUSIONS 

 

6.1 Overall, the Council will be investing an additional £1.855m of its own 
resources to fund the capital programme additions in 2023/24.  There is 
a significant amount of the total resource available this year dedicated 
to parks and play areas and council operational assets along with 
utilising disabled facility funding to continue supporting people with 
disabilities to maintain independent living in their own homes plus 
additional investment in key assets and infrastructure.  

 
6.2 The details behind all these proposals remains at the outline stage only 

and further work is required to ensure that these projects provide 
positive benefits to the Community and the Council.  Each project is 
therefore required to submit further detailed plans if required in order to 
obtain final approval for expenditure to occur and to obtain final 
clearance from the Executive Director of Resources, in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder for Resources. 

 
6.3 The Capital Programme does require a degree of flexibility within it, to 

respond to sudden demands for Capital expenditure, actions to be 
taken on the receipts of monies and revisions to proposals as projects 
are not financially viable or encounter other problems such as securing 
external funding.  The Capital Programme Working Group (CPWG) will 
report back to Cabinet at frequent intervals throughout the year to 
ensure Cabinet is kept appraised of the current situation and that any 
approvals necessary for alteration are obtained. 

7. CONSULTATIONS 

 

7.1 A variety of schemes are recommended from a number of sources to 
the Council.  These are considered by the Council’s CPWG against a 
list of corporate priorities and other assessment criteria before the final 
list is determined.  Councilors and the Public as well as Businesses are 
invited to participate via a meeting of the Council’s Resources 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee on the 16th February 2023 at 3:00pm 
to review the proposals and give their views.  These views are then 
reported to the Council ahead of them making their decision on the 
Capital Budget. 

8. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

8.1 These schemes represent the best value for money and meet the 
Council’s overall corporate policy objectives, within the funding envelop 
for the year. 

9. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REASONS FOR 
REJECTION 

 

9.1 A wider programme of funding has not been considered due to the 
Council’s policy commitment to limiting Capital Expenditure to 
affordable levels and seeking to repay debt. 

Page 163



Page 8 of 9 

10. BUDGET IMPLICATIONS 

 

10.1 As outlined in the report. 
 
11. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

11.1 The main risks within the programme relate to the dangers of 
escalating costs linked to building work, as many of the buildings are 
old and potential problems can emerge once the scheduled work has 
commenced.  The Council attempts to mitigate this risk by undertaking 
survey work ahead of schemes commencing and adopting a rolling 
programme of work to allow flexibility in the scheduling of projects if 
cost overruns start to occur.  The Council will seek to supplement its 
own project management skills by the appointment of professional 
project managers and cost control experts for its larger projects. 

12. LINKS TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

 

12.1 The Council’s Corporate Objectives are delivered through its Capital 
and Revenue Budget. 

13. EQUALITY  

13.1 The report is for information and does not contain any changes to 
Council Policies which would require an equality impact assessment to 
take place. 

14. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 

14.1 Not applicable 

15. LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 

 
15.1 No specific background papers applicable, other than previous reports 

on this subject in previous years but they do not relate directly to the 
content of this report.

Page 164



Page 9 of 9 

   APPENDIX 1 
Capital Programme New Scheme Additions 2023/24 

 

Scheme Total Cost 
External 
Funding 
Available 

Cost to be 
funded by 

the 
Council 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 

Parks & Play Areas       

Memorial Park Heritage Lottery Project 338,650 (288,650) 50,000 

Milton Close Play Area Gt Harwood 160,000 (100,000) 60,000 

King George V Pavilion and Pitches 250,000   250,000 

Mercer Park Play Area CLM 125,000   125,000 

Sub-Total 873,650 (388,650) 485,000 

Council Operational Assets & Leisure Estate       

Accrington Cemetery Depot PH2 266,500   266,500 

Vehicle & Plant Replacement Programme 55,000   55,000 

CVMU Yard and Roadway Resurfacing 22,500   22,500 

Planned Asset Improvement Programme 175,000   175,000 

Accrington Crematorium Remedial Repairs 70,000   70,000 

Willows Lane - Roofing, Gutter Replacement & Boundary 
Wall 

45,000   45,000 

Hyndburn Leisure Centre - Mechanical and Electrical Plant 
Replacement Programme 

150,000   150,000 

Leisure Estate Transformation   5,534,914 (5,033,914) 501,000 

Sub-Total 6,318,914 (5,033,914) 784,000 

Disabled Facilities Grants 1,095,958 (1,095,958) 1,285,000 

ICT & Technical Equipment       

Tech Refresh Annual Replacement Programme 25,000   25,000 

Financial Systems Replacement - additional requirement 50,000   50,000 

Christmas Decorations Replacement 10,000   10,000 

Sub-Total 85,000 0 85,000 

Total New Schemes to be approved for 2023/2024 8,373,522 (6,518,522) 1,855,000 

 

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 3 
 

REPORT TO: Council 

DATE: 23 February 2023 

REPORT OF: Cllr Paddy Short, Vice Chair of the Resources 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

REPORT AUTHOR: Ben Caulfield, Scrutiny and Policy Officer 

TITLE OF REPORT: Overview and Scrutiny Consideration of the 2023/24 
Budget Proposals 

EXEMPT REPORT:  No  

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 This report informs Council of the recent consideration of the budget proposals for 

2023/24 by the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee, at its meeting held on 
Thursday 16th February, 2023. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That Council notes the following resolutions of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee: 
 

(1) That the Committee notes the content of the reports relating to; Performance 
Indicators, Treasury Management and Investment Strategy 2023/24 – 2025/26, 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2023/24 – 2025/26, General Fund Revenue Budget 
2023/24 and New Scheme Additions to the Capital Programme in 2023/24; 

 
(2) That the Committee thanks the Leader of the Council, Portfolio Holder for Resources 

and Leader of the Labour Group for their participation in the Scrutiny meeting and 
debate; 

 
(3) That the Executive Director Resources, and all other officers involved, be commended 

for their work in producing the budget.  
 

(4) That having reviewed and debated the budget submitted, the Committee supports the 
content of the revenue and capital budget reports as outlined. 

 
 
 

Page 167



Page 2 of 3 
 

3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, Part 3  -  Responsibility for Functions, 

Appendix 1  -  Terms of Reference, the main terms of reference request the Resources 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (“The Committee”) ‘to consider the Cabinet’s 
proposals to achieve a balanced budget in advance of the budget being determined by 
the Council’. 

 
3.2 The Leader of the Council and the Portfolio Holder for Resources were requested to 

submit the following reports, which were considered by the Committee: 
 

a) Medium Term Financial Strategy 2023/24 to 2025/26 
b) Performance Indicators, Treasury Management and Investment Strategy 

2023/24 to 2025/26 
 c) General Fund Revenue Budget 2023/24 
 d) New Scheme Additions to the Capital Programme in 2023/24 
 
 
3.3 The Labour Group and Green Party Group were invited to submit their own budget 

proposals to the Committee to be scrutinised. Cllr Munsif Dad, Leader of the Labour 
Group indicated that he would not be submitting amendments to the Committee, but 
intended to at Council once they had been fully costed. Cllr Paddy Short, Leader of the 
Green Party Group, indicated that he also would not be submitting amendments to the 
Committee but reserved his right to submit amendments at Council. 

 
3.4 Members of the Public were invited to submit questions to the Leader of the Council 

relating to the budget.  This was publicised on social media. Six valid questions were 
submitted. 

 
3.5 The Leader of the Council, Portfolio Holder for Resources and Executive Director for 

Resources attended the meeting to submit their reports and responded to the 
questions raised at the meeting by the Committee, other Councillors and members of 
the public. 

 
3.6 Council’s attention is drawn to the Committee’s resolutions arising from this budget 

scrutiny meeting, as detailed in paragraph 2 of this report. 
 
3.7 The recommendations in paragraph 2 were approved with 5 votes for and 1 vote 

against. 
  
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 No alternative budgets or budget suggestions were submitted to the Committee to 

consider.  
 
5. Consultations 
 

Page 168



Page 3 of 3 
 

5.1 Members of the public and all Councillors were invited to put forward their suggestions 
for the budget. The Labour Group and Green Party Group were also invited to submit 
their budget proposals. 

 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
mainstreaming) 
 

The financial implications are outlined in the 
detail in the main budget reports on the 
agenda. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

It is a Constitutional requirement of the 
Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
to consider the Cabinet’s proposals to 
achieve a balanced budget in advance of the 
budget being determined by the Council. 

Assessment of risk 
 

Not applicable to this report 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

Not applicable to this report 

 
 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Agenda, Reports and Minutes of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 

Wednesday 16th February 2022 
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=2729&Ver
=4  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 169

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=2729&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=2729&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4. Confirmation of Minutes
	5. Prudential Indicators Monitoring and Treasury Management Strategy - Update as at 30 September 2022
	6. Medium Term Financial Strategy 2023/24 to 2025/26 - February 2023 Update
	7. Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management & Investment Strategy 2023/24 - 2025/26 Including Capital Strategy
	Appendix 3 - Treasury Management Practices 2023/24
	Appendix 4 - Capital Strategy 2023/24

	8. General Fund - Revenue Budget, Council Tax Levels and Capital Programme 2023/24
	General Fund Revenue Budget 2023/24
	New Scheme Additions to the Capital Programme 2023/24
	Comments and Recommendations of Overview and Scrutiny


